

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The Eikonal Approximation and the Gravitational Dynamics of Binary Systems

Arnau Robert Koemans Collado

Supervisors

Dr Rodolfo Russo & Prof Steven Thomas

June 9, 2020

Centre for Research in String Theory School of Physics and Astronomy Queen Mary University of London This thesis is dedicated to my family and friends, without their unconditional love and support this would not have been possible. It doesn't matter how beautiful your theory is, it doesn't matter how smart you are. If it doesn't agree with experiment, it's wrong.

– Richard P. Feynman

If you don't know, ask. You will be a fool for the moment, but a wise man for the rest of your life.

– Seneca the Younger

When you are courting a nice girl an hour seems like a second. When you sit on a red-hot cinder a second seems like an hour. That's relativity.

– Albert Einstein

Abstract

In this thesis we study the conservative gravitational dynamics of binary systems using the eikonal approximation; allowing us to use scattering amplitude techniques to calculate dynamical quantities in classical gravity. This has implications for the study of binary black hole systems and their resulting gravitational waves.

In the first three chapters we introduce some of the basic concepts and results that we will use in the rest of the thesis. In the first chapter an overview of the topic is discussed and the academic context is introduced. The second chapter includes a basic discussion of gravity as a quantum field theory, the post-Newtonian (PN) and post-Minkowskian (PM) expansions and the eikonal approximation. In the third chapter we consider various Feynman integrals that are used extensively in subsequent chapters. Specifically, we give a recipe for expanding the relevant integrands in a so-called high energy expansion and then calculating the resulting integrals.

The fourth chapter involves the study of massless states scattering off of a stack of Dp-branes in N = 8 supergravity. The setup we consider provides an ideal scenario to study inelastic contributions to the scattering process and their impact on the formulation of the eikonal approximation. These results will give us a better understanding of the eikonal approximation presented in the second chapter. The fifth chapter involves studying the eikonal and corresponding dynamical quantities in a Kaluza-Klein theory of gravity providing further interesting insight into the eikonal approximation and allowing us to compare with various known results.

The sixth and seventh chapter apply the concepts developed in this thesis to the problem of binary Schwarzschild black holes in D spacetime dimensions. This allows us to apply the framework exposed in previous chapters to a physically realistic scenario giving us a better understanding of how to extract the relevant dynamical information from scattering amplitudes. The results derived in chapter six also have an impact on our understanding at higher orders in the PM expansion beyond the ones considered in this text. In the seventh chapter we present the Hamiltonian for a system of binary Schwarzschild black holes and show how to extract the Hamiltonian from other dynamical quantities calculated using the eikonal.

In the last chapter we provide some concluding remarks and a brief outlook.

Acknowledgements

It is my pleasure to thank my supervisors, Dr Rodolfo Russo and Prof Steve Thomas. Their pastoral and academic guidance has been a crucial component in getting me to where I am academically. The writing of this thesis would not have been possible without them. From good humour to complicated equations they have always been there to support me. I couldn't have asked for a better pair of supervisors. I would also like to give a very special thank you to our collaborator throughout my PhD, Paolo Di Vecchia, for his unparalleled wisdom and mathematical accuracy. Additionally I would like to thank my examiners Andreas Brandhuber and Poul H. Damgaard for hosting a fantastic viva and providing insightful corrections.

I would also like to thank my fellow PhD students at CRST. Through fantastic discussions ranging from physics to philosophy as well as great jokes and laughs, they have added the spark that has made my PhD experience wonderful. In particular Edward Hughes, Zac Kenton, Joe Hayling, Martyna Jones, Emanuele Moscato, Rodolfo Panerai, Zoltán Laczkó, Christopher Lewis–Brown, Ray Otsuki, Luigi Alfonsi, Nadia Bahjat–Abbas, Nejc Čeplak, Linfeng Li, Ricardo Stark–Muchão, Manuel Accettulli Huber, Rashid Alawadhi, Enrico Andriolo, Stefano De Angelis, Marcel Hughes, Gergely Kantor, David Peinador Veiga, Rajath Radhakrishnan, and Shun-Qing Zhang.

It has also been a great pleasure to form part of CRST and I would also like to thank the faculty members that comprise this group. Their wisdom and guidance, always on offer, has been an important part of my experience. In particular David Berman, Matt Buican, Constantinos Papageorgakis, Sanjaye Ramgoolam, Gabriele Travaglini and Christopher White.

Lastly, my family has been an incredibly important support mechanism and I would like to thank my parents and siblings for providing the environment necessary for me to thrive. My friends outside of academia have helped in making sure I didn't get too intertwined with the fabric of the cosmos and I would especially like to thank Jacob Swambo for putting up with my bad humour and incessant questioning of everything. I would also like to thank all my friends from Puente de Montañana for helping me disconnect and enjoy the Spanish countryside sunshine.

This work was supported by an STFC research studentship.

Declaration

I, Arnau Robert Koemans Collado, confirm that the research included within this thesis is my own work or that where it has been carried out in collaboration with, or supported by others, that this is duly acknowledged below and my contribution indicated. Previously published material is also acknowledged below.

I attest that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law, infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right, or contain any confidential material.

I accept that the College has the right to use plagiarism detection software to check the electronic version of the thesis.

I confirm that this thesis has not been previously submitted for the award of a degree by this or any other university.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

Signature:

Date: June 9, 2020

Details of collaboration and publications:

This thesis describes research carried out with my supervisors Rodolfo Russo and Steve Thomas, which was published in [1-3]. It also contains some unpublished material. We collaborated with Paolo Di Vecchia in [1,3]. Where other sources have been used, they are cited in the bibliography.

Contents

1	Intr	oduct	ion	9
2	Bac	kgrou	nd	17
	2.1	1 Conventions & Kinematics		
	2.2 Quantum Gravity			18
		2.2.1	Pure Gravity	19
		2.2.2	Supergravity	24
		2.2.3	Sourcing Schwarzschild Black Holes	26
		2.2.4	High-Energy Issues in Quantum Gravity	27
	2.3	The P	ost-Newtonian and Post-Minkowskian Expansion	29
	2.4 The Eikonal Approximation		Xikonal Approximation	31
		2.4.1	The Eikonal Phase & Amplitude	32
		2.4.2	The Leading Two-Body Eikonal in Pure Gravity	35
		2.4.3	Partial Wave Decomposition and the Two-Body Deflection Angle	37
		2.4.4	Post-Newtonian Expansion	43
3	Hig	h-Ene	rgy Expansion of Various Integrals	44
	3.1	Integr	als for Massive Scalar Scattering	44
		3.1.1	Scalar Box Integral	45
		3.1.2	Triangle Integrals	49
	3.2	Integr	als for D-brane Scattering	52
		3.2.1	Scalar Triangle Integral	52
		3.2.2	Bubble Integrals	54
	3.3	Impac	t Parameter Space Integral	55
4	The	e Eikor	nal in Supergravity	56
	4.1	Scatte	ering in the Born Approximation	57
		4.1.1	Kinematics	57
		4.1.2	Elastic and Inelastic Diagrams	58
	4.2	Doubl	e Exchange Scattering	59
		4.2.1	Dilaton to Dilaton Elastic Scattering	61
		4.2.2	Dilaton to RR Inelastic Scattering	67

CONTENTS

	4.3	.3 The Supergravity Eikonal	
		4.3.1 Elastic Contributions to the Eikonal	73
		4.3.2 Inelastic Contributions to the Eikonal	75
	4.4	Alternative Computation of the Leading and Subleading Eikonal	76
		4.4.1 One-point Amplitudes and the Classical Solution	77
		4.4.2 Elastic Dilaton Scattering in Extended Gravity	82
		4.4.3 Pure Einstein Gravity	84
	4.5	Discussion	87
5	The	Eikonal in Kaluza-Klein Gravity	88
	5.1	Kaluza-Klein Theory	
	5.2	Scattering on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ in the Born approximation	
	5.3	Various Kinematic Limits of the Eikonal	94
		5.3.1 The Leading Eikonal in the Ultra-Relativistic Limit	94
		5.3.2 The Leading Eikonal in the Large Kaluza-Klein Mass Limit	96
		5.3.3 $$ The Subleading Eikonal in the Large Kaluza-Klein Mass Limit $$.	98
	5.4	Discussion	100
6	The	Eikonal in Einstein Gravity	101
	6.1	Massive Scalar Scattering	101
		6.1.1 One Graviton Exchange	103
		6.1.2 Two Graviton Exchanges	104
	6.2	The Eikonal and Two-Body Deflection Angles	110
		6.2.1 Various Probe Limits in Arbitrary D	111
		6.2.2 Various Probe Limits in $D = 4$	113
	6.3	Discussion	115
7	The	Two-Body Hamiltonian in Einstein Gravity	116
	7.1	Two-Body Deflection Angle from the Hamiltonian	116
	7.2	The Two-Body Potential	119
		7.2.1 Deriving the Potential from the Deflection Angle	120
		7.2.2 PN Expansion	122
8	Con	clusions and Outlook	125
\mathbf{A}	Geo	desics in Black Hole Backgrounds	130
	A.1	Geodesics in a <i>D</i> -dimensional Schwarzschild	
		Background	130
	A.2	Null-Like Geodesics in a Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton	
		Black Hole Background	134
	A.3	Null-Like Geodesics in a Kerr Background	137

В	Auxiliary Integrals	140
С	Exponentiation of Tree Level Amplitude on $\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times S^1$	143
Bil	bliography	147

Chapter 1

Introduction

Modern theoretical physics contains two incredible yet seemingly unreconcilable theories with which it describes reality. We have Quantum Field Theory (QFT) [4–9] which is used to describe physics at small scales; at colliders and in certain condensed matter setups. We also have General Relativity (GR) [10] which details the behaviour of matter at very large scales; for black holes as well as the entire cosmos. Although the Standard Model [11–15] is a fantastically accurate theory at the scales relevant for QFT it nonetheless lacks a description and inclusion of gravity, one of the forces most well known to everyday people.

The Standard Model and QFT are not without their problems. The chief of these issues, as mentioned above, is its lack of a complementary theory of quantum gravity. Furthermore the Standard Model does not naturally incorporate neutrino masses which have been experimentally found to have non-zero mass [16–18]. The Standard Model also has no coherent description of dark matter or dark energy as well as other cosmological theories such as inflation.

General Relativity was developed by Einstein as a classical description of gravitation replacing the older Newtonian gravity. Although its successes are unmatched by any other theory of gravity it too suffers from a variety of issues. There is some overlap with the issues in QFT in the sense that a coherent understanding of quantum gravity could potentially lead to a better understanding of dark energy. GR also suffers from technical issues if one tries to naively quantize gravity in the same way as electrodynamics. This is discussed in more detail in section 2.2.4 but fundamentally the naive quantum version of Einstein's theory of gravity turns out to be non-renormalizable due to the dimensionful coupling constant.

In this thesis we will overcome these shortcomings and use both QFT and GR to describe the dynamics of binary systems with the objective of describing the dynamics of binary black holes. We know that the quantization of quantum gravity leads to a perturbatively non-renormalizable quantum field theory. This inherently limits the predictive power and usefulness that canonical quantum gravity fundamentally provides. However, as we will see throughout this thesis, in certain limits, such as two particle high energy forward scattering, it can produce useful and calculable results.

In 2015 the first observation of gravitational waves was made via the LIGO experiment [19–22]. This ushered in a new paradigm for precision measurements with which to test both GR and other theories of gravity. Originally predicted by Einstein [23,24] these observations give theoreticians a new problem to study in depth. Through this new and exciting experimental tool we expect to be able to uncover and test our understanding of cosmology, black holes and gravitation. All of which are areas of study relevant to our understanding of quantum gravity.

Remarkably, using the raw data of these observations, experimentalists can deduce a lot about the properties of the objects that are colliding; whether they be black holes, neutron stars or mixed binary systems. In order to do this they use gravitational wave templates which are usually generated from a mixture of numerical and analytical techniques. Although there has been a lot of success numerically [25–29] it has been observed that combining numerical with analytic results provides more accurate templates for experimentalists to use [30–33]. Figure 1 illustrates the various phases of a black hole merger. Analytical calculations can assist numerical computations in the inspiral and ringdown phases. The objective of this thesis will be to study the analytical component related to the inspiral phase of this problem.



Figure 1: A figure illustrating the various phases of a black hole merger. The inspiral and ringdown phases can be aided via analytical calculations whereas the merger phase is simulated using purely numerical calculations. Image taken from [34].

There are two analytical perturbative regimes in which the inspiral phase of a black hole merger is usually studied; the post-Newtonian (PN) [35–38] and post-Minkowskian (PM) regime [39–58]. As is described in more detail in section 2.3, these regimes use different parameters in their perturbative expansion. The PN regime is effectively an expansion in the relative velocity of the two black holes¹ and is therefore non-relativistic. Whilst the PM regime is an expansion in the gravitational constant G_N at all orders in

¹Note that this includes varying powers of the gravitational constant G_N due to the virial theorem.

velocity and is therefore relativistic. Although the PN regime has been studied since the time of Einstein [35,36] and is therefore more well established, the PM regime has found renewed interest due to new developments and techniques in QFT. We will focus on the PM regime in this thesis².

The PM expansion, being an expansion in the gravitational coupling G_N , at all orders in velocity, naturally leads to a fully relativistic QFT-based description. One can quite quickly come to this realization by considering the fact that at tree-level one has an amplitude proportional to G_N , at one-loop it is proportional to G_N^2 and so on. The main caveat to this is that we are trying to describe a classical process, the inspiraling phase of two black holes, but the gravitational amplitudes naturally include quantum contributions. There are various techniques that can be used to extract the relevant classical information; such as by calculating the potential using an EFT-matching based approach [50, 51, 65] or by using various other approaches which relate the amplitudes to classical observables such as the scattering angle [49, 52, 54–58, 66–72]. Of this last set of techniques there is the so called eikonal approximation which will be the main tool used here.

The eikonal approximation [66, 73–76] is a technique in quantum field theory for calculating the behaviour of high-energy scattering. This technique can be further used to describe the behaviour of high-energy classical scattering which is what we will study in order to relate the eikonal approximation to quantities relevant for the dynamics of binary systems. As we will see in section 2.4 the eikonal approximation is closely related to the Regge limit of the scattering amplitudes.

In the Regge high energy limit the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering process is dominated by the contributions of the highest spin states in the theory [77–79]. So, in a gravitational theory, this scattering is dominated at large values of the impact parameter by ladder diagrams involving the exchange of gravitons between the external states. The leading energy contributions of this class of diagrams resums into an exponential phase [66,67]; this is the so-called eikonal phase. This can also be done for high-energy potential scattering in a non-relativistic scenario [80–82]. The eikonal phase can then be directly related to classical observables such as the scattering angle or Shapiro time delay as we will see in more detail in section 2.4.

The high energy limit of scattering amplitudes in gravitational theories has been thoroughly studied as a gedanken-experiment that provides a non-trivial test of the consistency of the gravitational theory. A particularly tractable regime is the Regge limit, where both the energies and the impact parameter are large and unitarity is preserved due to a resummation of Feynman diagrams which reproduces the effect of a classical geometry [77–79, 83–85]. These early studies focused on the case of ex-

 $^{^{2}}$ We will be considering the conservative dynamics of the inspiral process, the non-conservative component can also be studied [59–64] but will not be considered in this thesis.

ternal massless states whose high energy Regge scattering matches the gravitational interaction of two well-separated shock-waves. However it is possible to generalise the same approach to the scattering of massive states [66] where the large centre of mass energy is due to both the kinetic and rest mass energy. It is then possible to interpolate between the ultra-relativistic Regge scattering mentioned above and the study of the non-relativistic large distance interaction between massive objects. This can be done both for pure General Relativity (GR) as well as for string theory, see for instance [86] for the analysis of the scattering of a perturbative massless state off a D-brane which we recall is a massive object³. The technique of deriving the relativistic interaction of two massive objects from an amplitude approach has recently attracted renewed attention [49–51,51,52,54–57,65,67,69,70,89,90] since it links directly to the post-Minkowskian approximation of the classical gravitational dynamics relevant for the inspiraling phase of binary black hole systems [30,33,47,48].

The amplitude approach to the relativistic two-body problem can be stated in the following conceptually simple way. Consider $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering where the external states have the quantum numbers necessary to describe the classical objects one is interested in (massless states describe shock-waves, massive scalars can describe Schwarzschild black holes, then spin and charge can be added to describe Kerr [91–100] and Reissner-Nordström black holes). Then the limit is taken where Newton's gravitational constant G_N is small, but all classical parameters, such as the Schwarzschild radius or the classical angular momentum, are kept finite. Since in this thesis we will generally be interested in studying the scattering of scalar states, the only classical parameter in the problem is the effective Schwarzschild radius, $R_s^{D-3} \sim G_N M^*$, where M^* is the largest mass scale in the process. We can have $M^* = \sqrt{s}$ in the ultra-relativistic/massless case or $M^* = m_1$ in the probe-limit with $m_1^2 \gg (s - m_1^2), m_2^2$. In either case the relevant kinematic regime is the Regge limit, since the centre of mass energy \sqrt{s} has to be much larger than the momentum transferred $\sqrt{|t|}$. Since G_N is small, one might think that the perturbative diagrams with graviton exchanges yield directly the effective two-body potential, but one must be careful in performing this step. In the limit mentioned above the perturbative amplitude at a fixed order in G_N is divergent thus creating tension with unitarity. These divergent terms should exponentiate when resumming the leading contributions at large energy at different orders in G_N . This exponential, called the eikonal phase⁴, is the observable that we wish to calculate and that, as we will see, contains the relevant information for the two-body potential.

While the picture described in this chapter applies to any weakly coupled gravi-

 $^{^{3}}$ See [87, 88] for the study of light/heavy scattering in standard GR including the derivation of quantum correction to the gravitational potential.

⁴In more general gravitation theories the eikonal phase can become an operator; this already happens at leading order in string theory [78,86,101,102] and also in an effective theory of gravity including higher derivative corrections [103,104].

tational theory, new features arise when one goes beyond two derivative gravity. For instance, in string theory the eikonal phase is promoted to an eikonal operator; since we are now dealing with objects that have a characteristic length, in certain regimes tidal forces [105, 106] can become important and excite the incoming state to different final states so as to produce an inelastic transition. At the leading order in the high energy, large impact parameter expansion, this stringy eikonal operator is obtained [78,86,101,102] from the standard eikonal phase, written in terms of the impact parameter b, simply via a shift $b \to b + \hat{X}$, where \hat{X} contains the bosonic string oscillation modes. A non-trivial eikonal operator also appears in the context of a gravitational effective field theory with higher derivative terms that modify the onshell 3-graviton vertex [103]. If the scale ℓ_{hd} at which the higher derivative corrections become important is much bigger than the Planck scale ℓ_P , then, by resumming the leading energy behaviour of the ladder diagrams as mentioned above, it is possible to use the effective field theory description to derive an eikonal operator also valid at scales $b \sim \ell_{hd} \gg \ell_P$. Again from this result it is possible to derive classical quantities, such as the time delay, that are now obtained from the eigenvalues of the eikonal operator. Generically when $b \sim \ell_{hd}$ the time delay for some scattering processes calculated in the effective field theory becomes negative. This causality violation most likely signals a breakdown of the effective field theory approach and in fact is absent when the same process is studied in a full string theory setup [103, 104].

Since the appearance of inelastic processes in the leading eikonal approximation is the signal of novel physical phenomena such as those mentioned above, it is interesting to see whether there are new features of this type in the *subleading* eikonal, which captures the first corrections in the large impact parameter expansion for the same $2 \rightarrow$ 2 scattering. One of the aims of chapter 2 is to provide an explicit algorithm that allows us to derive this subleading eikonal from the knowledge of the amplitudes contributing to the scattering process under consideration. In the literature there are several explicit calculations of the subleading eikonal in various gravitational field theories in the two derivative approximation, see for instance [67–69,86–88,107]. However in these studies the process was *assumed* to be elastic to start with, while in chapter 4 we wish to spell out the conditions under which this is the case. Hopefully this will also provide a step towards a full understanding of the subleading eikonal operator at the string level [60, 108]. Another goal of our analysis is to highlight that both the leading and the subleading eikonal depend on onshell data. The leading eikonal follows from the spectrum of the highest spin states and the onshell three-point functions, while in the case of the subleading eikonal some further information is necessary as new states in the spectrum may become relevant and the onshell four-point functions provide a non-trivial contribution.

For the sake of concreteness, in chapter 4 we cast our analysis in the setup of type

II supergravities focusing on the scattering of massless states off a stack of N Dpbranes [86], but the same approach can be applied in general to capture the subleading contributions of the large impact parameter scattering in any gravitational theory. In the limit where the mass (density) NT_p/κ_D of the target D*p*-branes is large and the gravitational constant κ_D is small, with $NT_p\kappa_D$ fixed, the process describes the scattering in a classical potential given by the gravitational backreaction of the target. In this case the eikonal phase is directly related (by taking its derivative with respect to the impact parameter) to the deflection angle of a geodesic in a known background. When considering the scattering of a dilaton in the maximally supersymmetric case, there is perfect agreement for the deflection angle between the classical geodesic and the amplitude calculations including the first subleading order [86]. However, in the Feynman diagram approach there are inelastic processes, where a dilaton is transformed into a Ramond-Ramond (RR) field, at the same order in energy as the elastic terms contributing to the subleading eikonal (see section 4.2.2). Thus it is natural to ask what the role of these inelastic contributions is and why they should not contribute to the classical eikonal even if they grow with the energy of the scattering process. We will see in section 4.3 that these contributions arise from the interplay of the *leading* eikonal and the inelastic part of the tree-level S-matrix. One should subtract these types of contributions from the expression for the amplitude in order to isolate the terms that exponentiate to provide the classical eikonal. In the example of the dilaton scattering off a stack of Dp-branes analysed in detail in chapter 4, this subtraction cancels completely the contribution of the inelastic processes and one recovers for the subleading eikonal the result found in [86]. At further subleading orders this procedure may be relevant for isolating the terms that are exponentiated even in the elastic channel and thus providing a precise algorithm for extracting the classical contribution (the eikonal) from a Feynman diagram calculation may assist in analysing them.

In chapter 5 we focus on the case when one of the spatial dimensions is compactified on a circle of radius R, i.e. with a background manifold, $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$. There is a choice of where to orient the S^1 with respect to the plane of scattering. Here we assume it is along one of the transverse direction, so that the transverse momentum exchange q = (q', n/R) where q and q' are continuous momenta in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-1}$ and $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2}$ respectively and n/R, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, is the quantized momenta along the S^1 . This simple Kaluza-Klein compactification produces a surprisingly rich theory in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2}$ where we find an infinite Kaluza-Klein tower of charged states emerging from the scalar and graviton in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-1}$. In particular from this lower dimensional viewpoint, $2 \to 2$ scattering of scalar particles now involves generally massive and charged (with respect to the U(1) gauge field emerging from the metric in higher dimension) Kaluza-Klein particles, involving both elastic and inelastic processes. The latter involve massive Kaluza-Klein scalars which change their species via exchange of a massive spin-2, spin-1 and spin-0 states in the Kaluza-Klein tower. By contrast elastic scattering of scalars involves only the exchange of a massless graviton, photon and dilaton.

In chapter 5 we specifically focus on the elastic scattering of Kaluza-Klein scalars and analyse the eikonal in various kinematic limits, focussing mainly on the case where we compactify from D = 5 to D = 4. In the ultra-relativistic limit, for fixed Kaluza-Klein masses m_1, m_2 namely, $s' \gg |t'|, s' \gg m_1^2, m_2^2$, we find the eikonal phase is related to a compactified version of the Aichelburg-Sexl shock wave metric, which has appeared in the previous literature in the study of shock waves in brane world scenarios [109]. In the second kinematic limit we consider elastic scattering of a massless Kaluza-Klein scalar off a heavy Kaluza-Klein scalar of mass m_2 with $m_2^2 \gg (s' - m_2^2)$. Here we find that the leading eikonal is related to the leading order contribution (in inverse powers of the impact parameter b) to the deflection angle in the background of a Schwarzschild black hole of mass m_2 . However this is not the whole story. In fact at leading order in 1/b, the same result would hold for a charged dilatonic black hole background which is a solution of Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton (EMd) theory [110]. These are precisely the black hole backgrounds we should expect to be relevant in our model because the heavy Kaluza-Klein scalars are electrically charged and also couple to the dilaton field. This becomes clear when we move on to consider the subleading contributions to the eikonal which a priori contribute terms at order $1/b^2$ to the deflection angle. These corrections involve the exchange of massless U(1) gauge fields and dilatons as well as gravitons between the two scalars. We find that because of the precise charge mass relation, Q = 2M (in appropriate units), for the Kaluza-Klein states, these subleading corrections to the eikonal vanish. In terms of the corresponding deflection angle we understand the vanishing of the subleading $1/b^2$ terms as a consequence of the extremal Q = 2M limit of the deflection angle in the background of a EMd black hole.

In chapter 6 we will focus on the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering of massive scalar particles [49, 66, 67, 69] up to order G_N^2 (i.e. 2PM level) in pure gravity. Here we keep the spacetime dimension D general, which serves as an infrared regulator, and also consider the subleading $\mathcal{O}(G_N^2)$ contributions that do not directly enter in the 2PM classical interaction but that could be relevant for the 3PM result [50, 51, 56]. Since our analysis is D-dimensional we cannot apply the standard 4D spinor-helicity description, but we construct the relevant parts of the amplitudes with one and two graviton exchanges by using an approach similar in spirit where tree-level amplitudes are glued together. Further discussion on applying unitarity methods in D > 4 can be found in [51,111,112] and the references therein. This is the same technique that is also used in chapter 4.

In chapter 6 we will carry out the approach discussed in section 2.4.1 explicitly up to the 2PM order. The *D*-dimensional case is slightly more intricate than the 4D one as we find that the contribution from the scalar box integral not only contributes to the exponentiation of the 1PM result, but also yields non-trivial subleading terms that have to be combined with the triangle contributions to obtain the full 2PM eikonal. We also see that our result smoothly interpolates between the general, the light-bending (when $m_1^2 \gg (s - m_1^2) \gg m_2^2$) and the ultra-relativistic cases (when $s \gg m_1^2, m_2^2$); this holds not just for the classical part of the 2PM eikonal phase, which is trivially zero in the massless case, but also for the quantum part [60, 63, 108]. This feature does not seem to be realised in the recent 3PM result [50, 51] and it would be interesting to understand this issue better⁵. Finally in chapter 7 we use the results in chapter 6 to derive and write down an explicit expression for the corresponding *D*-dimensional two-body potential.

This thesis is organised as follows. In chapter 2 we will give a brief overview of the various tools necessary for the rest of the thesis. Chapter 3 focuses on taking the various high-energy limits for the propagator integrals we will need in order to calculate the various scattering processes. In chapters 4, 5 and 6 we will study the eikonal and classical dynamics in different scenarios including a supergravity scenario, scattering in a Kaluza-Klein background and scattering in pure Einstein gravity respectively. In chapter 7 we will use the results in chapter 6 to derive the two-body Hamiltonian in Einstein gravity for arbitrary spacetime dimensions. Concluding remarks will be given in chapter 8.

⁵However this interpolation seems to hold in the more recent 3PM result found in [56]. This is discussed in more detail in chapter 8.

Chapter 2

Background

In this chapter we will review some of the basic concepts that we will need to develop the content in subsequent chapters. We will start with an overview of the quantum field theory produced by a massive scalar coupled to pure Einstein gravity; including a derivation of the Feynman rules and some discussion on the various problems which arise when trying to quantize gravity. This will also include a brief discussion of the setup for N = 8 supergravity which we will need for chapter 4. We will then review the eikonal approximation and apply it to the context of gravity. In doing so we will derive the full first post-Minkowskian expression for the two-body eikonal including a discussion of how to derive the two-body deflection angle. A brief overview of the post-Newtonian and post-Minkowskian expansion regimes will also be given.

2.1 Conventions & Kinematics

Throughout this thesis we will be working in D spacetime dimensions unless otherwise specified and we will use the mostly-plus metric signature,

$$\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-, +, +, \ldots) .$$
 (2.1)

We will also be working in natural units where $c = \hbar = 1$ throughout unless otherwise specified.

For the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering problems that we will be considering, the incoming momenta will be taken to be k_1, k_2 and the outgoing momenta will be taken as k_3, k_4 for the massive states with masses m_1, m_2 respectively, unless otherwise indicated. The Mandelstam variables we will be using are defined as,

$$s = -(k_1 + k_2)^2$$
; $u = -(k_1 + k_4)^2$; $t = -(k_1 + k_3)^2$. (2.2)

We also have the usual relation between Mandelstam variables,

$$s + t + u = 2(m_1^2 + m_2^2). (2.3)$$

By choosing the center of mass frame we can parametrise the momenta by,

$$k_1 = (E_1, \mathbf{p}) , \ k_2 = (E_2, -\mathbf{p}) , \ k_3 = (-E_3, \mathbf{p}') , \ k_4 = (-E_4, -\mathbf{p}') .$$
 (2.4)

From this we can find relations between the Mandelstam variables, the energy, the center of mass momenta and the scattering angle θ between two momentum variables **p** and **p**',

$$s = (E_1 + E_2)^2 = E^2$$
, (2.5a)

$$t = -2p^2(1 - \cos\theta)$$
, (2.5b)

$$u = -2p^2(1 + \cos\theta)$$
, (2.5c)

where $p = |\mathbf{p}|$. We can also calculate,

$$Ep = \sqrt{(k_1k_2)^2 - k_1^2k_2^2} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2m_2^2}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where we have denoted $k_{1\mu}k_2^{\mu} = k_1k_2$. We will define an explicit exchanged momentum between the two bodies which will generally be defined as,

$$q = k_1 + k_3, \tag{2.7}$$

such that $t = -q^2$. However in chapter 4 we have one high-energy state scattering off of a very heavy static state and so we only have two external momenta. As such the exchanged momenta between the high-energy state and the very heavy static state in chapter 4 will be given by,

$$q = k_1 + k_2, (2.8)$$

such that $s = -q^2$. In chapters 3 and 4 we will usually refer to the momentum exchange vector, q, as q_{\perp} when discussing scattering off of a stack of D-branes where q_{\perp} refers to the D - p - 2 spatial components representing the momentum transferred transverse to the stack of branes. Further details are discussed in section 4.1.1.

2.2 Quantum Gravity

In this section we will discuss the basic building blocks we will require in the rest of this chapter as well as this thesis. We will start by discussing a massive scalar theory weakly coupled to pure gravity and follow this on with a parallel discussion in the case of the bosonic sector of N = 8 supergravity. The various modifications required for the Kaluza-Klein gravity discussion in chapter 5 can be found in section 5.1.

2.2.1 Pure Gravity

We start by writing the action for a massive scalar, ϕ , of mass *m* weakly coupled to Einstein gravity in *D* spacetime dimensions,

$$S = \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2} R + \mathcal{L}_m \right) , \qquad (2.9)$$

where R is the Ricci scalar, $g = \det(g_{\mu\nu})$ and we have defined the gravitational coupling as,

$$\kappa_D = \sqrt{8\pi G_N} , \qquad (2.10)$$

where G_N is the *D*-dimensional Newton's gravitational constant. The Lagrangian for the matter sector is given by,

$$\mathcal{L}_m = -\frac{1}{2} \nabla_\mu \phi \,\nabla^\mu \phi - \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 \,. \tag{2.11}$$

We can perform a quick check that these expressions can be used to derive the Einstein field equations. The variation of the action with respect to the metric, $g_{\mu\nu}$, is given by,

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = \int d^D x \frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2} \left(\sqrt{-g} \frac{\delta R}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} + R \frac{\delta \sqrt{-g}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} + 2\kappa_D^2 \frac{\delta(\sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L}_m)}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} \right) \,. \tag{2.12}$$

We can calculate the variation of the Ricci scalar and the determinant of the metric [113],

$$\frac{\delta R}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = R_{\mu\nu} \quad ; \quad \frac{\delta\sqrt{-g}}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-g}g_{\mu\nu} \; . \tag{2.13}$$

The variation of the matter sector by definition gives us the stress-energy tensor so we have,

$$\frac{\delta(\sqrt{-g}\mathcal{L}_m)}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-g}T_{\mu\nu} . \qquad (2.14)$$

Putting this all together we therefore find,

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} = \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} \frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2} \left(R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu} - \kappa_D^2 T_{\mu\nu} \right) = 0$$

$$\implies R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu} = 8\pi G_N T_{\mu\nu} . \qquad (2.15)$$

These are the well-known Einstein field equations [10], as required.

In order to linearise this action and be able to discuss and derive the Feynman rules we will study the action in the weak-field limit [114,115] where we introduce the graviton field, $h_{\mu\nu}$, via,

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + 2\kappa_D h_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.16)$$

where $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ is the usual flat Minkowski metric. From now on we will use $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ to raise and lower indices. In order to derive the graviton propagator we need to substitute (2.16) in (2.9) and collect all the terms up to $\mathcal{O}(h^2)$. Note that we have,

$$\frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2}\sqrt{-g}R = \frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2}\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h^{\mu\nu} - \Box h\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\partial_{\alpha}h_{\mu\nu}\partial^{\alpha}h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\alpha}h\partial^{\alpha}h\right) \\ -\partial^{\alpha}\left(h_{\mu\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\alpha}h\right)\partial_{\beta}\left(h^{\mu\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\beta}h\right), \qquad (2.17)$$

where we have defined $h = h^{\mu}_{\mu}$. We also need to add a gauge fixing term in order to fix the gauge since $h_{\mu\nu}$ in (2.16) is not uniquely defined. We will choose the de Donder gauge (harmonic gauge) given by the condition,

$$\partial_{\mu}h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\nu}h = 0. \qquad (2.18)$$

Note that in de Donder gauge we have,

$$\Box = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_{\mu} (\sqrt{-g} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu}) = g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}} \partial_{\mu} (\sqrt{-g} g^{\mu\nu}) \partial_{\nu}$$
$$= g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} - \frac{2\kappa_D}{\sqrt{-g}} \left(\partial_{\mu} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} h + \mathcal{O}(h^2) \right) \partial_{\nu}$$
$$\simeq g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} . \tag{2.19}$$

The term that we need to add to the Lagrangian to fix this gauge is given by,

$$\mathcal{L}_f = \partial_\mu \left(h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} h \right) \partial^\rho \left(h_{\rho\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\rho\nu} h \right) \,. \tag{2.20}$$

Note that we will not be giving the full details of how to implement the gauge fixing condition at the level of the partition function but as with other gauge theories one would have to use the Faddeev-Popov method, details can be found here [114–116]. Putting together (2.17), (2.19) and (2.20) with the linear in h interaction part of the matter sector we have,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}(h^2)} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{\alpha} h_{\mu\nu} \partial^{\alpha} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\alpha} h \partial^{\alpha} h \right) - \kappa_D h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu} .$$
 (2.21)

We can integrate the term in the round brackets by parts yielding,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{O}(h^2)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(h_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\alpha} \partial^{\alpha} h^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} h \partial_{\alpha} \partial^{\alpha} h \right) - \kappa_D h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}h^{\alpha\beta}\left(\frac{1}{2}\eta_{\alpha\mu}\eta_{\beta\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\alpha\nu}\eta_{\beta\mu} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\mu\nu}\right)\Box h^{\mu\nu} - \kappa_D h^{\mu\nu}T_{\mu\nu} . \quad (2.22)$$

To find the propagator for the above linearised Lagrangian we can schematically write the partition function as,

$$\mathcal{Z}_{h}[T] \sim \int [\mathcal{D}h] \exp\left(i \int d^{D}x \left[\frac{1}{2}h^{\alpha\beta} \Delta_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}^{-1} h^{\mu\nu} - \kappa_{D} h^{\mu\nu} T_{\mu\nu}\right]\right) , \qquad (2.23)$$

where we have the matter sector acting as a source for the graviton field and where the Green's function is given by $\Delta_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}$. In order to find the propagator we need to invert the differential operator, $\Delta_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}^{-1}$, that appears above. The tensor structure can be found by multiplying by an ansatz,

$$a\,\eta_{\alpha\mu}\eta_{\beta\nu} + b\,\eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\mu\nu}\,,\qquad(2.24)$$

and requiring the product be equal to the identity. For the undetermined coefficients, a, b, we find,

$$a = 1$$
; $b = -\frac{1}{D-2}$. (2.25)

The inverse of the differential operator, \Box , can be found easily by first Fourier transforming into momentum space,

$$\Box G(x, y) = \delta(x - y)$$

$$\implies -p^2 G(p) = 1 , \qquad (2.26)$$

we therefore have,

$$G(x,y) = -\int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} e^{-ik(x-y)} \frac{1}{p^2 + i\epsilon} .$$
 (2.27)

Putting all this together we then find for the graviton propagator,

$$i\Delta_{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}(x-y) = -\int \frac{d^Dk}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{i}{k^2 + i\epsilon} e^{-ik(x-y)} \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta_{\alpha\mu}\eta_{\beta\nu} + \eta_{\alpha\nu}\eta_{\beta\mu} - \frac{2}{D-2}\eta_{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(2.28)

In order to find the vertices describing the interactions between the various states in our theory we need to continue expanding the action in powers of h and collect the various terms corresponding to the various interactions. We will explicitly calculate the $\phi\phi h$ vertex in momentum space but the method carries through easily (albeit cumbersomely) for the various other vertices that we will list below.

The stress-energy tensor is given by,

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\left(\partial_{\alpha}\phi\partial^{\alpha}\phi + m^{2}\phi^{2}\right) , \qquad (2.29)$$

and so from the $\phi\phi h$ -interaction component of (2.21) we have,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi\phi h} = \kappa_D \left(h^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi - \frac{1}{2} h \left(\partial_\alpha \phi \partial^\alpha \phi + m^2 \phi^2 \right) \right) \,. \tag{2.30}$$

By Fourier transforming into momentum space we have that, $\partial_{\mu} \rightarrow -ik_{\mu}$, and doing so in the equation above as well as taking the appropriate functional derivatives we have,

$$\frac{\delta^{3} \mathcal{L}_{\phi\phi h}}{\delta h_{\mu\nu} \delta \phi_{1} \delta \phi_{2}} = -\kappa_{D} \left(k_{1}^{\mu} k_{2}^{\nu} + k_{1}^{\nu} k_{2}^{\mu} - \eta^{\mu\nu} \left(k_{1} k_{2} - m^{2} \right) \right)$$

$$\implies \left[V_{\phi_{1}\phi_{2}h} \right]^{\mu\nu} = -i\kappa_{D} \left(k_{1}^{\mu} k_{2}^{\nu} + k_{1}^{\nu} k_{2}^{\mu} - \eta^{\mu\nu} \left(k_{1} k_{2} - m^{2} \right) \right) , \qquad (2.31)$$

where in the last line we have included the factor of *i* coming from the path integral. Note that we have chosen not to write the momentum conserving delta function $(2\pi)^D \delta^D (\sum_i k_i)$.

Using this method any other interaction between the various fields can be derived systematically. However one needs to include higher powers in h in the expansion of (2.9) to capture interactions such as hhh or $\phi\phi hh$ and other higher order interactions. Since the method is similar to the one shown above we will simply list these expressions below.

Feynman Rules

In this subsection we will list all the Feynman rules in momentum space for a massive scalar weakly coupled to pure gravity that we will require in the rest of the thesis. The derivation of the propagator as well as the method to derive the vertices has been discussed above. We will not be including the various momentum conserving delta functions for each vertex. These results have been checked against known results in the literature [117–119].

• For the graviton propagator we have,

$$\overset{q}{\bullet} = [G_h]^{\mu\nu;\rho\sigma} = \frac{-i}{2q^2} \left(\eta^{\mu\rho} \eta^{\nu\sigma} + \eta^{\mu\sigma} \eta^{\nu\rho} - \frac{2}{D-2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \right) .$$
(2.32)

• For the massive scalar propagator we have,

•
$$q = [G_{\phi}] = \frac{-i}{q^2 + m^2}$$
 (2.33)

• For the $\phi\phi h$ vertex we have,

• For the $\phi\phi hh$ vertex we have,

$$\frac{k_{1}}{(\rho\sigma)} \int \left(\lambda\tau\right) = [V_{\phi_{1}\phi_{2}hh}]_{\rho\sigma;\lambda\tau}$$

$$= (i\kappa_{D}^{2}) \left[(k_{1}k_{2} - m^{2}) \left(\frac{1}{2}\eta_{\rho\sigma}\eta_{\lambda\tau} - \eta_{\rho\tau}\eta_{\sigma\lambda} \right) + 4k_{1\rho}k_{2\tau}\eta_{\sigma\lambda}$$

$$-2k_{1\rho}k_{2\sigma}\eta_{\lambda\tau} \right] + \dots, \qquad (2.35)$$

where the dots stand for the symmetrisation of the various permutations of the two massive scalars and the two gravitons.

• For the three graviton *hhh* vertex we find,

$$\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
p,(\lambda\rho) \\
\end{array} \\
e \\
\end{array} \\
= \left[V_{h_{1k}h_{2p}h_{3q}}\right]_{\mu\nu;\lambda\rho;\tau\sigma} \\
\end{array} \\
= \left[V_{h_{1k}h_{2p}h_{3q}}\right]_{\mu\nu;\lambda\rho;\tau\sigma} \\
\end{array} \\
= \left[-2i\kappa_D \left(-\frac{1}{2}p_{\mu}q_{\nu}\eta_{\lambda\rho}\eta_{\tau\sigma} + 2p_{\mu}q_{\sigma}\eta_{\lambda\nu}\eta_{\tau\rho} - \eta_{\rho\sigma}p_{\mu}q_{\lambda}\eta_{\tau\nu}\right) \\
-\frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}p_{\tau}\eta_{\lambda\rho}q_{\sigma} + \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\lambda\rho}\eta_{\tau\sigma}p \cdot q - \eta_{\rho\sigma}p_{\lambda}\eta_{\mu\tau}q_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\rho\sigma}p_{\mu}\eta_{\lambda\tau}q_{\nu} \\
-\eta_{\mu\rho}\eta_{\nu\sigma}p_{\lambda}q_{\tau} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\rho\sigma}p_{\lambda}q_{\tau} + \eta_{\mu\rho}\eta_{\nu\sigma}\eta_{\lambda\tau}p \cdot q - \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\mu\nu}\eta_{\rho\sigma}\eta_{\lambda\tau}p \cdot q \\
-\eta_{\mu\sigma}\eta_{\nu\lambda}\eta_{\rho\tau}p \cdot q + \eta_{\mu\sigma}p_{\lambda}\eta_{\nu\tau}q_{\rho}\right) + \dots,
\end{array}$$

$$(2.36)$$

where the dots stand for the sum over the various permutations of the gravitons.

2.2.2 Supergravity

In order to complete the materials needed for chapter 4 we need to consider gravity extended to include the dilaton and RR gauge fields present in N = 8 supergravity. As we will consider scattering off of a stack of D*p*-branes we will also need the boundary action sourced by the branes. We will be denoting the dilaton as above with ϕ and use the relevant equations for the massive scalar in the previous section with m = 0. The RR gauge fields will be denoted by $C^{(n-1)}$, where n = p + 2 and p is the dimension of the D*p*-brane world-volume and so we can also define the field strength $F_n = dC^{(n-1)}$.

The bulk action we need to consider is given by,

$$S = \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2} R - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \,\partial^\mu \phi - \frac{1}{2n!} e^{-a(D)\sqrt{2}\kappa_D \phi} F_n^2 \right] + S_{\text{D-Brane}} , \quad (2.37)$$

where the expression for a(D) can be found in [120] and is given by⁶,

$$a^{2}(D) = 4 - \frac{2(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2} .$$
(2.38)

Note that by convention we will use the positive root of the expression above. We will use the following boundary action which is being sourced by the Dp-branes [121],

$$S_{\text{D-Brane}} = \int d^D x \ \delta^{D-p-1}(x) \left(J_h h_\alpha^{\ \alpha}(x) + J_\phi \phi(x) + \mu_p C_{01\dots p}(x) \right) \ , \tag{2.39}$$

where the quantities J_h, J_ϕ, μ_p are the couplings of the graviton, dilaton and RR to the D*p*-brane respectively. These are given by,

$$J_h = -T_p \quad ; \quad \mu_p = \sqrt{2}T_p \; ; \; J_\phi = -\frac{a(D)}{\sqrt{2}}T_p \; , \qquad (2.40)$$

where T_p is the D*p*-brane tension. As in the previous section discussing pure gravity we will be expanding the metric around the flat metric using (2.16).

Feynman Rules

Following the techniques used in section 2.2.1 we can derive the additional Feynman rules needed to calculate the various quantities in chapter 4. These are listed below and have been checked with various known results in the literature [122, 123]. Note that the Feynman rules for the interactions between the dilaton and graviton are equivalent to the Feynman rules for the massive scalar in 2.2.1 with m = 0. As before we are not writing momentum conserving delta functions at vertices.

⁶In 10D type II supergravity, $a(D = 10) = \frac{p-3}{2}$.

• The propagator for the RR fields is given by,

$${}^{q}_{\bullet \dots \dots \bullet} = [G_{C^{(n-1)}}]^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_{n-1}}_{\nu_1 \dots \nu_{n-1}} = \frac{-i}{q^2} (n-1)! \delta^{\mu_1}_{[\nu_1} \dots \delta^{\mu_{n-1}}_{\nu_{n-1}]}.$$
 (2.41)

• The $\phi C^{(n-1)}C^{(n-1)}$ vertex is given by,

$$= -\frac{ia(D)\sqrt{2}\kappa_D}{(n-1)!} (F_{1\,\mu_1\mu_2\dots\mu_n}k_2^{\mu_1}C_2^{\mu_2\dots\mu_n}), \qquad (2.42)$$

where (1) and (2) are labels of the two RR fields and $F_{i \ \mu_1 \dots \mu_n}$ is the field strength associated with the (p+1)-form gauge field $C_{i \ \mu_2 \dots \mu_n}$, $F_{i \ \mu_1 \dots \mu_n} = (\mathrm{d}C_i)_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_n}$.

• The $h C^{(n-1)}C^{(n-1)}$ vertex is given by,

$$= [V_{F_1^{(n)}F_2^{(n)}h}] = \frac{i\kappa_D}{n!} (2nF_{12}^{\mu\nu} - \eta^{\mu\nu}F_{12})h^{\mu\nu}, \quad (2.43)$$

where $F_{12}^{\mu\nu} = F_{1\,\mu_2...\mu_n}^{\mu} F_2^{\nu\mu_2...\mu_n}$ and we also have $F_{12} = F_{12}^{\mu\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu}$.

• The $\phi \phi C^{(n-1)} C^{(n-1)}$ vertex is given by,

$$k_{1} \not \qquad k_{2} = [V_{\phi\phi'F_{1}^{(n)}F_{2}^{(n)}}] = -\frac{2i\kappa_{D}^{2}}{n!}a^{2}(D)F_{12} . \quad (2.44)$$

• From (2.39) we read the D*p*-brane graviton coupling,

$$= [B_h] = -iT_p \eta_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu} \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} , \qquad (2.45)$$

where \parallel denotes the p+1 directions along the D*p*-brane and \perp denotes the D-p-1 directions transverse to the D*p*-brane.

• The boundary coupling with the dilaton is given by

$$= [B_{\phi}] = -iT_p \frac{a(D)}{\sqrt{2}} \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \,. \tag{2.46}$$

• The boundary coupling with the RR gauge potential is given by,

$$= [B_{C^{(n-1)}}] = i\mu_p C_{01\dots p} \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} .$$
(2.47)

2.2.3 Sourcing Schwarzschild Black Holes

In this section we will show schematically that the massive scalar states we have been discussing are appropriate states with which to model Schwarzschild black holes. This will be particularly important in chapter 6 when we consider the scattering of massive scalars to describe binary black holes in pure gravity. It will also be relevant in chapter 4. We will be working in D = 4 here for simplicity but the general D analogue is discussed in section 4.4.3.



Figure 2: This figure illustrates the sourcing of a Schwarzschild black hole by a massive scalar state. The thick line represents a static Schwarzschild black hole of mass M and the wavy line represents a graviton.

In order to show that we can source a Schwarzschild black hole at large distances by using the field theory described in section 2.2.1 we want to calculate the effective one-point function as illustrated in figure 2. This will give us the first contribution, in the large distance limit, to the Schwarzschild solution. Further contributions can be calculated by going to higher effective loop orders, further details can be found in section 4.4. The one-point function can be readily calculated using the Feynman rules derived above and in D = 4 we find,

$$\langle h^{\mu\nu} \rangle = -\frac{\kappa}{q^2} \left(k^{\mu} p^{\nu} + k^{\nu} p^{\mu} - M^2 \eta^{\mu\nu} \right) , \qquad (2.48)$$

where q = k + p. Since we want an effective description of a massive static heavy object with no spin we can write the external momenta as,

$$k^{\mu} = (E, \mathbf{0}) = (M, \mathbf{0}) \quad ; \quad p^{\mu} = (-E, -\mathbf{q}) \sim (-M, \mathbf{0}) , \qquad (2.49)$$

where for $M \gg |\mathbf{q}|$ we have taken $E \sim M$. Implementing this we find,

$$\langle h^{00} \rangle = -\frac{M\kappa}{2q^2} \eta^{00} \tag{2.50}$$

$$\langle h^{ij} \rangle = \frac{M\kappa}{2q^2} \eta^{ij} \tag{2.51}$$

where we have also normalised by a factor of $1/\sqrt{2E} \sim 1/\sqrt{2M}$ per scalar leg and we have split the metric into its time-like and space-like components. Note that $\eta^{00} = -1$ represents the time-like direction and $\eta^{ij} = \text{diag}(+1, +1, +1)$ represents the space-like directions.

To be able to compare this with the appropriate expansion of the Schwarzschild metric in harmonic gauge we need to convert the above from momentum into position space. Using (3.49) we can schematically write,

$$\langle 2\kappa \tilde{h}^{\mu\nu} \rangle \sim -\frac{2G_N M}{r} \left(\eta^{00} - \eta^{ij} \right)$$
 (2.52)

$$\implies ds^2 \supset \frac{2G_N M}{r} \left(dt^2 + d\mathbf{x}^2 \right) , \qquad (2.53)$$

where we have introduced the factor of 2κ as per the definition of the graviton metric in (2.16). Comparing with the first terms in the R_s/r expansion of the Schwarzschild metric in harmonic gauge found in [124] we find agreement. Note that (2.52) also agrees with (4.77) for D = 4 and p = 0.

2.2.4 High-Energy Issues in Quantum Gravity

Although we have been discussing gravity as a quantum theory in order to be able to derive the various Feynman rules in section 2.2, we know that such a construction of quantum gravity suffers from UV divergences [125–127]. We also know that it is non-renormalisable [128–130] and due to this we find that we need to include an entire series of higher order curvature terms that are allowed by the diffeomorphism invariance and we are not allowed, a-priori, to just use the Einstein-Hilbert action [131].

We can construct an effective field theory (EFT) with the allowed higher order curvature terms and appropriate couplings as,

$$S_{\rm EFT} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_D^2} \int d^D x \sqrt{-g} \left(R + c_1 R^2 + c_2 R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + c_3 R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} + \dots \right) , \quad (2.54)$$

where we have not included the matter sector as we will be restricting discussion to the gravity sector here for simplicity. From the first term in the equation above we can deduce the mass dimension of the gravitational coupling,

$$\kappa_D^2 \sim G_N = [M]^{2-D},$$
(2.55)

and so in terms of the Plank scale we have,

$$\frac{1}{\kappa_D^2} \sim \frac{1}{G_N} = (M_p)^{D-2} ,$$
 (2.56)

where M_p is the Plank mass. This tells us that for D > 2 we will have a nonrenormalisable theory and we notice that for energies $E > M_p$ we will get results which will not be useful, for example non-unitary results for scattering amplitudes.

In general the higher order curvature terms would begin to contribute at some secondary mass scale which we can call M_c with $M_c < M_p$ and so we would have,

$$c_{1,2,3} \sim \frac{1}{M_c^2}$$
 (2.57)

For example in string theory this scale would be $M_c \sim 1/l_s$ where l_s is the length of the string and so we would have $c_{1,2,3} \sim l_s^2 = \alpha'$, these curvature corrections in string theory are usually referred to as stringy corrections [132–135]. In principle we would then proceed as we did in section 2.2.1 and calculate all the Feynman rules with the action defined in (2.54).

Since we are ultimately interested in the classical dynamics of binary systems the quantum corrections to various quantities, such as scattering amplitudes, will not be particularly important and will be dropped. However for consistency with the discussion above we would, in principle, need to include the contributions from the curvature corrections. We can do a quick schematic analysis following [116, 131] to show that this is unnecessary. For simplicity we will set $c_n = 0$ with n > 2 in (2.54). The corresponding equations of motion is schematically given by,

$$\Box h + c_1 \Box \Box h = 8\pi G_N T . \tag{2.58}$$

The Green's function for this wave equation has the form,

$$G(x) \sim \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{e^{ikx}}{k^2 + c_1 k^4} = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} e^{ikx} \left(\frac{1}{k^2} - c_1 + \dots\right) , \qquad (2.59)$$

where in the last step we have used $c_1 \ll 1$. Calculating the static potential between

two masses using this we find,

$$V(r) \sim \int d^{D-1}\mathbf{k} \ e^{i\mathbf{k}\mathbf{r}} \left(\frac{1}{\mathbf{k}^2} - c_1 + \ldots\right) \sim \frac{1}{r^{D-3}} - c_1 \delta^{D-1}(r) + \dots$$
 (2.60)

From this we can see that the classical effects of the higher order curvature corrections will be local.

As we will study in more detail in section 2.4 we are interested in the high-energy classical dynamics when trying to describe heavy objects such as black holes. This can be intuited from the fact that heavy objects are inherently high-energy objects since they are very massive. Classical physics starts to become relevant when the particle separation is larger than the de-Broglie wavelength. The separation for a scattering problem can be taken to be the impact parameter and so we have [51],

$$b \gg \lambda \sim \frac{1}{p}$$
, (2.61)

where b is the impact parameter and p is some momentum scale of the scattering problem. We therefore realise that the classical dynamics is described by physics at large distance scales. As such we can ignore the effects of curvature corrections as they will be suppressed by the fact that we are interested in large distances. This means that the framework built up in section 2.2.1 can be used without concerning ourselves with the UV complete description of the full quantum gravity theory.

2.3 The Post-Newtonian and Post-Minkowskian Expansion

There are two well-known perturbative regimes in which general relativity is studied; the post-Newtonian (PN) regime [35–38] and the post-Minkowskian (PM) regime [39– 49]. In this subsection we will describe these two perturbative regimes and specifically discuss what the perturbation parameters are.

In the post-Newtonian regime we expand the two-body interaction potential or other quantities describing the dynamics of the two bodies for small velocities and hence in powers of,

$$\left(\frac{v}{c}\right)^2 \sim \frac{G_N m}{|\mathbf{r}|c^2} \ll 1 , \qquad (2.62)$$

where the second expression is due to the virial theorem. In the expression above, v is the relative velocity between the two bodies, m is the total mass and $|\mathbf{r}|$ is their separation. This regime has been well studied [37, 38, 136, 137] but will not generally be used in this thesis except to compare results calculated here with known results in the literature.

In the post-Minkowskian regime the two-body interaction potential is instead expanded in terms of Newton's gravitational constant G_N but includes all orders in velocities. Since the PM regime includes all orders in velocities it is effectively the relativistic analogue to the PN non-relativistic (i.e. small velocities) expansion. Since the PM result is valid to all orders in velocity it naturally includes the relevant PN result at each matching order in G_N , this is illustrated in figure 3.

	0PN 1PN 2PN 3PN	
1PM	$1 + v^2 + v^4 + v^6 + \dots$	G^1
2PM	$1 + v^2 + v^4 + \dots$	G^2
3PM	$1 + v^2 + \dots$	G^3
:	·	:

Figure 3: A figure illustrating the connection between the post-Newtonian and post-Minkowskian regimes.

As we will see in more detail in section 2.4.1 and in chapters 6 and 7 we can relate the classical pieces of quantum scattering amplitudes directly to the PM expansion and it is therefore a particularly tractable and interesting regime to study. In this thesis we will mainly focus on PM results.

In order to compare our PM results with known PN results in the literature we need to define a method to get from PM results to PN results. From equations (28) and (32) in [37] we can write,

$$v_{\infty}^2 = 2 \frac{E - (m_1 + m_2)}{\mu} \implies \gamma = -\frac{k_1 k_2}{m_1 m_2} = (1 + v_{\infty}^2)^{1/2}$$
 (2.63)

where v_{∞} is the relative velocity between the two bodies at infinity for unbounded motion as discussed in [37]. Notice that this velocity variable is different to the standard definition given by $\gamma = (1 - v^2)^{-1/2}$, although they coincide at lowest order in the nonrelativistic limit. This can be related directly to the energy via,

$$\gamma = \frac{E^2 - m_1^2 - m_2^2}{2m_1m_2} \implies E^2 = 2m_1m_2\sqrt{1 + v_\infty^2} + m_1^2 + m_2^2 \,. \tag{2.64}$$

In subsequent sections we will sometimes want to perform a velocity expansion (PN expansion) of the various PM results. As we will see in section 2.4.2, our PM results are usually written in terms of the total angular momentum J. However in order to perform the PN expansion it is useful to write our results in terms of a rescaled angular

momentum variable defined as,

$$j = \frac{J}{G_N m_1 m_2} \,. \tag{2.65}$$

We can do dimensional analysis on this quantity and find,

$$j = \frac{[L^2 T^{-1} M]}{[L^3 M^{-1} T^{-2} M^2]} = [L^{-1} T], \qquad (2.66)$$

and so we note that j has the dimensions of inverse velocity and so to make this dimensionless (reinstating c and noting that quantities such as the angle should be dimensionless) we must treat $j \sim jc$. Similarly in order to make v_{∞} dimensionless we must treat it as $v_{\infty} \sim v_{\infty}/c$. The order of the PN expansion can then be thought of as an expansion in powers of $1/c^2$ [37]. In general we can write,

$$\frac{v_{\infty}^m}{j^n} \to \frac{v_{\infty}^m}{j^n c^{(m+n)}} \implies \frac{1}{2}(m+n)\text{-PN}.$$
(2.67)

This expression is used in section 2.4.4 and chapter 7 to identify the PN order of various terms.

2.4 The Eikonal Approximation

Following on from the arguments presented in section 2.2.4 we know that the nonrenormalisability of quantum gravity as described in section 2.2 does not prevent us from using the theory to describe the high-energy classical dynamics of a binary system. In this section we will describe how to extract the classical dynamics, in the form of a two-body deflection angle, from scattering amplitudes.

As we have previously discussed, we are interested in the high-energy dynamics because ultimately we want to describe the dynamics of heavy massive objects such as black holes. For a $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering problem with incoming momenta k_1, k_2 and outgoing momenta k_3, k_4 we can use the Mandelstam variable s, defined in (2.2), as a proxy for the energy and t as a proxy for the exchanged momenta, notice that $s = E^2$ and $t = -q^2$ where q is the momentum exchanged between the two scattering objects. As we have stated in section 2.2.4 classical dynamics is associated with large distances where, $b \gg G_N M^*$. Since the momentum exchanged is the conjugate variable to the impact parameter for a scattering problem we can similarly state that,

$$b \sim \frac{1}{q} \gg G_N M^* , \qquad (2.68)$$

which implies that the exchanged momenta are small. Since we are interested in the high-energy limit we are also want to take E to be large. Putting all this together we

see that what we are describing is a scattering process in the Regge limit,

$$s \to \infty$$
 with $\frac{t}{s}$ small. (2.69)

It is worth mentioning a few more scaling observations that we can draw. Since we are taking $b \gg G_N M^*$ as well as a high-energy limit we notice that the center of mass momentum, p, is therefore also large. From this we can therefore also write,

$$J \sim pb \gg 1 . \tag{2.70}$$

We can also notice from (2.69) that we are taking $s \to \infty$ with $t = -q^2 \to 0$ to keep the ratio small but fixed and this implies that,

$$p, m_1, m_2 \gg q$$
 . (2.71)

A well known high-energy approximation in potential scattering called the eikonal approximation [80–82] can be used in this context to describe the dynamics that we are interested in. It has been shown that this approximation can be used to describe the high-energy (Regge) limit of scattering amplitudes in a relativistic field theory context [73–76] and was used in [66] to show equivalence with high-energy semi-classical calculations in quantum gravity [77]. This will be the framework we will use to derive and discuss the dynamics of high-energy $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering. Furthermore the calculation of the eikonal has been shown to be related to the sum of an infinite class of Feynman diagrams [74,138], in the case of gravity dominated by graviton exchanges [77–79]. We will use these facts extensively in the discussion below.

2.4.1 The Eikonal Phase & Amplitude

In general any $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitude with incoming momenta k_1, k_2 and outgoing momenta k_3, k_4 can be written as,

$$\langle k_1 k_2 | T | k_3 k_4 \rangle = (2\pi)^D \delta^D (k_1 + k_2 + k_3 + k_4) \mathcal{A}(k_1 k_2 \to k_3 k_4) ,$$
 (2.72)

where T represents the non-trivial component of the scattering S-matrix, i.e. S = 1 + iT, and the $|k_i k_j\rangle$ are two-particle states. To simplify the notation and using the redundancy offered by the conservation of momentum we will drop the momentum conserving δ functions and write the amplitudes as,

$$\mathcal{A}(k_1k_2 \to k_3k_4) = \mathcal{A}(s, m_i, q) , \qquad (2.73)$$

where the m_i represent the masses of the two scattering particles. We can further represent scattering amplitudes of this sort, with n graviton exchanges between the two scattering particles, by dressing the RHS above with a subscript n.

As is standard in the discussion of the eikonal approximation, we introduce an auxiliary (D-2)-dimensional vector \mathbf{q} such that $\mathbf{q}^2 = -t$ and then take the Fourier transform to rewrite the result in terms of the conjugate variable \mathbf{b} (the impact parameter). We can now define the corresponding amplitudes in impact parameter space which are defined via,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_n(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = \frac{1}{4Ep} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{D-2}\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^{D-2}} e^{i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{b}} \mathcal{A}_n(s, m_i, q) , \qquad (2.74)$$

where $E = E_1 + E_2$ is the total energy, $p = |\mathbf{p}|$ is the absolute value of the space-like momentum in the center of mass frame of the two scattering particles and we have written $q = |\mathbf{q}|$. The normalisation is a non-relativistic normalisation factor that we have introduced to make the definition of the eikonal phase below more straightforward. We recall that the Ep factor can be written in terms of the Mandelstam variables or incoming momenta as per (2.6).

We can generally write the gravitational S-matrix in impact parameter space as [139, 140],

$$S(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = 1 + i \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_n(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) , \qquad (2.75)$$

where $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_n(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})$ is the full amplitude with *n* graviton exchanges in impact parameter space including the appropriate normalisation as defined in (2.74).

In general, amplitudes in gravity describing graviton exchange between two bodies are divergent in the Regge limit. This will be made more explicit in the following subsections. However since we need to preserve the unitarity of the S-matrix, we notice that this can only be done if the resummation of these divergent diagrams resums into a phase. It has been extensively shown that this resummation and exponentiation does indeed happen [49, 66, 67, 74, 75, 138, 141] and is made particularly explicit in impact parameter space. In order to preserve the unitarity we can express the gravitational S-matrix in terms of phases,

$$S(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = (1 + iT(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})) \exp\left[i(\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) + \delta^{(2)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) + \dots)\right],$$
(2.76)

where $\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})$ and $\delta^{(2)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})$ are the leading eikonal and subleading eikonal respectively and will be defined further below. The parameter used to define the expansion in (2.76) is $(R_s/\mathbf{b})^{D-3}$ (see (6.34) for the numerical factors in the definition of R_s). The symbol $T(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})$ corresponds to all the non-divergent (in energy or mass) contributions to the amplitudes with any number of graviton exchanges. We have implicitly assumed that the eikonals behave as phases instead of operators since we are dealing with a purely elastic scenario in this chapter. For a more general form of the equation above see (4.51).

By using (2.75) and (2.76) as well as observations from amplitude calculations [67, 139] we note that we can write the sum of leading divergent contributions to the amplitudes with n graviton exchanges as,

$$i\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{n}^{(1)}(s, m_{i}, \mathbf{b}) = i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{1}^{(1)}(s, m_{i}, \mathbf{b}) + i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{(1)}(s, m_{i}, \mathbf{b}) + \dots$$
$$= i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{1}^{(1)}(s, m_{i}, \mathbf{b}) + \frac{1}{2} \left(i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{1}^{(1)}(s, m_{i}, \mathbf{b})\right)^{2} + \dots$$
$$= e^{i\delta^{(1)}(s, m_{i}, \mathbf{b})} - 1, \qquad (2.77)$$

where $\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1^{(1)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})$ is the leading eikonal. Note that we refer to the leading contribution to each amplitude, with different numbers of graviton exchanges, via the superscript label (1), each subleading order is then referred to by increasing the number in the superscript. As per the description of (2.76) we note that only the contributions which are divergent in energy or mass exponentiate.

Expanding (2.76) and collecting all the possible contributions at 2PM (i.e. at $\mathcal{O}(G_N^2)$) we can write an explicit expression for the first subleading eikonal,

$$i\delta^{(2)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2^{(2)} - i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1^{(1)}i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1^{(2)} = i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2^{(2)} , \qquad (2.78)$$

where in the second step we have used that in Einstein gravity we have $\mathcal{A}_1^{(2)} = 0$ as we will see from the results in the next subsection. Note that in other theories this may not be the case. For example, in the supergravity case we will discuss in chapter 4 we find a contribution of the form $\mathcal{A}_1^{(2)}$ coming from the tree-level diagram with one RR field exchange between the scalar field and the stack of D-branes as you can see from (4.66).

Notice that for each eikonal we have,

$$i\delta^{(k)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) \sim i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_k^{(k)} \sim \mathcal{O}(G_N^k) ,$$
 (2.79)

where G_N is the usual Newton's constant. This relates the discussion presented here with the so called post-Minkowskian approximation discussed in section 2.3. We will see in more detail in chapter 6 that the leading eikonal corresponds to the 1PM order in the post-Minkowskian expansion, the subleading eikonal corresponds to the 2PM order and so on.

For sake of completeness, we can collect the various contributions of the form (2.77)

at each order in G_N and write the complete eikonal amplitude in momentum space,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{eik}}(s, m_i, q) = 4Ep \int d^2 \mathbf{b} \, e^{-i\mathbf{q} \cdot \mathbf{b}} \left(\exp\left(i\sum_i \delta^{(i)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b})\right) - 1 \right) \,. \tag{2.80}$$

From this discussion we can see that to calculate the eikonal we need to be able to categorise and collect the various leading, subleading and further contributions of each of the amplitudes with n = 1, 2, 3, ... number of graviton exchanges. In general the amplitudes we will calculate will include pieces which are either not relevant classically or are superclassical⁷ and we will need an algorithm to be able to distinguish these. The scaling limit required to categorise the various contributions and identify the relevant new information at each order in G_N can be spelled out as follows:

- We take G_N small by keeping $G_N M^*$ fixed and we are interested in the nonanalytic contributions as $t \to 0$ since they determine the large distance interaction
- The ratios m_i^2/s , where $m_{1,2}$ are the masses of the external scalars, can be arbitrary; when they are fixed, one is describing the scattering of two Schwarzschild black holes, but it is possible to smoothly take them to be small or large and make contact with different relativistic regimes
- At each order in G_N^n the terms that grow faster than E_1 or E_2 (at large E_i and fixed $G_N M^*$) should not provide new data, but just exponentiate the energy divergent contributions at lower perturbative orders
- The terms that grow as E_i provide a new contribution to the eikonal phase at order G_N^n from which one can derive the contribution to the classical two-body deflection angle and from it the relevant information on the *n*PM effective twobody potential

We can summarise this mathematically as,

$$16\pi G_N = 2\kappa_D^2 \to 0$$
, $s \gg q^2 = |t|$, with $\frac{G_N M^*}{b} \ll 1$. (2.81)

Recall that M^* was defined in chapter 1 as the largest mass scale in the process under consideration.

2.4.2 The Leading Two-Body Eikonal in Pure Gravity

In this and subsequent subsections we will give a thorough analysis for the leading twobody eikonal in pure gravity. As the discussion in section 2.4.1 implies, to calculate the

⁷These are contributions which are already taken into account by the exponential series of a process at a lower order in G_N .
leading eikonal we first need to calculate the tree-level amplitude between two scalars exchanging a single graviton. As specified before, we will take the two massive scalars with masses m_1, m_2 to have incoming momenta k_1, k_2 and outgoing momenta k_3, k_4 respectively. This scattering process is illustrated in figure 4. Using the Feynman rules



Figure 4: A figure illustrating the scattering between two massive scalars exchange a single graviton. The solid lines represent massive scalars and the wavy lines represent gravitons.

derived in section 2.2.1 we easily find the result,

$$i\mathcal{A}_1 = 2i\kappa_D^2 \frac{1}{q^2} \left(\frac{1}{2}(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{2}{D-2}m_1^2m_2^2 + \frac{1}{2}(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)t \right) .$$
(2.82)

The procedure at the end of section 2.4.1 specifies that we ignore the non-analytic terms in the amplitudes as these will only yield local contributions in impact parameter space and can be safely ignored in the large impact parameter limit. This means that we can ignore the last term in the big round brackets above.

For the rest of this section as well as the subsequent subsections we will explicitly work in D = 4 spacetime dimensions. We do this for two reasons; to compare with widely known results in the literature and to avoid needing to take small-angle approximations when performing the partial wave decomposition in section 2.4.3. As such we can write the above amplitude in a more compact form as,

$$i\mathcal{A}_1 = i\frac{16\pi G_N}{q^2} \left(2(k_1k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2\right) .$$
(2.83)

We can now also calculate the impact-parameter analogue of this expression which following the observations in (2.77) will serve as the expression for the leading twobody eikonal,

$$\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, b) = \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1^{(1)}(s, m_i, b) = -4G_N \frac{2(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}{\sqrt{(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}} \log(b)$$

= $-\delta_1(s, m_i) \log(b)$, (2.84)

where $b = |\mathbf{b}|$ and in the second line we have defined the quantity,

$$\delta_1(s, m_i) = 4G_N \frac{2(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}{\sqrt{(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}} .$$
(2.85)

We will revisit the results found in this subsection in chapter 6 where we will also take various limits of the resulting expressions to compare with a wide variety of known results.

2.4.3 Partial Wave Decomposition and the Two-Body Deflection Angle

In this subsection we will perform a standard partial wave decomposition to the leading eikonal amplitude given by (2.80) with only $\delta^{(1)}$ non-zero. We can write the leading eikonal amplitude as,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{eik}}^{(1)}(s, m_i, q) = 4Ep \int d^2 \mathbf{b} \, e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{b}} \left(\exp\left(i\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, b)\right) - 1 \right)$$
$$= 4Ep \int d^2 \mathbf{b} \, e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{b}} \left(b^{-i\delta_1(s, m_i)} - 1 \right) \,.$$
(2.86)

where we have used the expression for $\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, b)$ calculated in (2.84).

The scattering amplitude can be expanded in partial waves as follows,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{eik}}^{(1)}(s, m_i, q) = \sum_{J=0}^{\infty} (2J+1) a_J(s, m_i) P_J(x) \quad ; \quad x \equiv \cos \theta \;, \tag{2.87}$$

where P_J are Legendre polynomials and the partial wave coefficients are given by,

$$a_J(s,m_i) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{+1} dx \,\mathcal{A}_{eik}^{(1)}(s,m_i,q) P_J(x) \;. \tag{2.88}$$

The Legendre polynomials are normalized as,

$$\int_{-1}^{+1} dx \, P_J(x) P_L(x) = \frac{2}{2J+1} \delta_{JL} \; ; \; P_J(1) = 1 \; ; \; P_J(x) = \frac{(-1)^J}{2^J J!} \frac{d^J}{\partial x^J} (1-x^2)^J \; . \; (2.89)$$

Notice that the variable $x \equiv \cos \theta$ is related to the Mandelstam variable t as described by the equations in (2.5), from these we also have the relation,

$$q = 2p\sin\frac{\theta}{2} . \tag{2.90}$$

By using the expansion,

$$e^{-iqb\cos\phi} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} i^n J_n(qb) e^{-in\phi} , \qquad (2.91)$$

where $J_n(x)$ are Bessel functions, we can simplify (2.86) and write it as,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{eik}}^{(1)}(s, m_i, q) = 8\pi E p \int_0^\infty db \, b J_0(qb) \left(b^{-i\delta_1(s, m_i)} - 1 \right) \,. \tag{2.92}$$

Using (2.88) we can write the partial wave coefficients as,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} = \pi \int_0^\pi d\theta \,\sin(\theta) P_J(\cos(\theta)) \left\{ \int_0^\infty db \, b J_0(qb) \left(b^{-i\delta_1(s,m_i)} - 1 \right) \right\} \,. \tag{2.93}$$

Using the equation between the exchanged momenta and scattering angle, (2.90), and using the equation (7.253) in [142], which reads,

$$\int_0^{\pi/2} dx \sin(2x) P_n(\cos(2x)) J_0(a\sin(x)) = a^{-1} J_{2n+1}(a) , \qquad (2.94)$$

we find that we can express a_J as,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} = \frac{\pi}{p} \int_0^\infty db \, J_{2J+1}(2pb) \left(b^{-i\delta_1(s,m_i)} - 1 \right) \,. \tag{2.95}$$

This integral can be performed and we finally find,

$$a_J(s, m_i) = \frac{2E\pi}{p} \left(p^{i\delta_1} \frac{\Gamma\left(J - \frac{i\delta_1(s, m_i)}{2} + 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(J + \frac{i\delta_1(s, m_i)}{2} + 1\right)} - 1 \right) .$$
(2.96)

This expression is equivalent to known results in the literature [108].

Using the expressions in the discussion above we want to be able to derive the deflection angle as this will effectively translate the amplitude into the dynamics describing the interaction between the two heavy objects⁸. In chapters 6 and 7 we will revisit this idea in greater detail and include the subleading corrections to the leading eikonal. Following Landau and Lifshitz [143] we can relate the partial waves to the scattering angle by noticing that the asymptotic form of the Legendre polynomial for large J is,

$$P_J(\cos\theta) \approx \frac{-i}{\sqrt{2\pi J \sin\theta}} \left(e^{i(J+1/2)\theta + i\pi/4} - e^{-i(J+1/2)\theta - i\pi/4} \right) .$$
(2.97)

⁸In this case we are describing two Schwarzschild black holes.

Substituting this into (2.87) we find,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{eik}}^{(1)}(s, m_i, q) \simeq -i \sum_{J=0}^{\infty} a_J(s, m_i) \sqrt{\frac{J}{2\pi \sin \theta}} \left(e^{i(J+1/2)\theta + i\pi/4} - e^{-i(J+1/2)\theta - i\pi/4} \right) .$$
(2.98)

Since the exponential factors are dominated by large J the value of the sum in the equation above is determined by the appropriate saddle point. The saddle point is given by,

$$i\theta_J = -\frac{\partial}{\partial J}\log(a_J(s, m_i))$$
, (2.99)

where we have chosen the positive θ by convention and written θ as θ_J . We can now use this equation to find the deflection angle from (2.96),

$$\theta_{J} = i \frac{\partial}{\partial J} \log(a_{J}(s, m_{i}))$$

$$= i \frac{\partial}{\partial J} \log\left[\frac{2E\pi}{p} \left(p^{i\delta_{1}} \frac{\Gamma\left(J - \frac{i\delta_{1}(s, m_{i})}{2} + 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(J + \frac{i\delta_{1}(s, m_{i})}{2} + 1\right)} - 1\right)\right]$$

$$\approx \frac{\delta_{1}(s, m_{i})}{J} - \frac{\delta_{1}^{3}(s, m_{i})}{12J^{3}} + \dots, \qquad (2.100)$$

where in the last line we have expanded for large J and kept only terms that contribute in the high-energy limit. In the next subsection we will give an explicit closed form expression for this series.

Saddle Point Approximation

In this subsection we will perform a saddle point approximation in order to evaluate the integral given in (2.95). We start by recognising that we can write the Bessel function which appears, in an integral form by using [144],

$$J_n(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} dt \, e^{i(x \sin t - nt)} \,, \qquad (2.101)$$

and using this allows us to write,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} = \frac{1}{2p} \int_0^\infty db \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \, \left(b^{-i\delta_1(s,m_i)} - 1 \right) e^{i(2pb\sin\phi - (2J+1)\phi)} \,. \tag{2.102}$$

Defining the variable x = pb/J we can rewrite this as,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} = \frac{J}{2p^2} \int_0^\infty dx \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \left(\left(\frac{Jx}{p}\right)^{-i\delta_1(s,m_i)} - 1 \right) e^{i(2xJ\sin\phi - (2J+1)\phi)}$$

$$\approx \frac{J}{2p^2} \left(\frac{J}{p}\right)^{-i\delta_1(s,m_i)} \int_0^\infty dx \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \, x^{-i\tilde{\delta}_1(s,m_i)J} e^{i(2xJ\sin\phi - (2J+1)\phi)} ,$$
(2.103)

where in the second line we have dropped the -1 as this is not kinematically relevant in the large J limit and we have defined the quantity,

$$\tilde{\delta}_1(s, m_i) = \frac{\delta_1(s, m_i)}{J} .$$
(2.104)

Collecting all the terms in the exponent that are large in the large J limit we see that we need to perform a saddle-point approximation on the two-variable function given by,

$$f(x,\phi) = -\tilde{\delta}_1(s,m_i)\log(x) + 2x\sin\phi - 2\phi , \qquad (2.105)$$

where we note the exponent is then $iJf(x, \phi)$. When performing a saddle-point approximation in 2 variables we know that,

$$\int dx \, d\phi \, e^{iJf(x,\phi)} \approx \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-\det(iJS''(x_0,\phi_0))}} e^{iJf(x_0,\phi_0)} \,, \tag{2.106}$$

where $S''(x_0, y_0)$ is the Hessian evaluated at the saddle-point and we have taken into account relevant factors of i and J.

To find the saddle-point we need to solve the following set of simultaneous equations,

$$\frac{\partial f(x,\phi)}{\partial x} = -\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1(s,m_i)}{x} + 2\sin\phi = 0, \qquad (2.107)$$

$$\frac{\partial f(x,\phi)}{\partial \phi} = 2x \cos \phi - 2 = 0. \qquad (2.108)$$

We can easily express x in terms of $\cos \phi$ from the second equation and substituting this back into the first equation gives us an expression for ϕ in terms of $\tilde{\delta}_1(s, m_i)$ and so we find,

$$x_0 = \frac{1}{\cos \phi_0} \; ; \; \phi_0 = \arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1(s, m_i)}{2}\right) \; .$$
 (2.109)

Substituting these results back into our original function (2.105) we get,

$$\frac{-i}{J}f(x_0,\phi_0) = -\tilde{\delta}_1 \log\left(\sqrt{\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1^2}{4}} + 1\right) + \tilde{\delta}_1 - 2\arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1}{2}\right) .$$
(2.110)

Putting (2.103), (2.106) and (2.110) together allows us to write the partial wave coef-

ficients in a saddle approximation,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} \approx \frac{J}{2p^2} \left(\frac{J}{p}\right)^{-i\delta_1} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-\det(iJS''(x_0,\phi_0))}} \\ \times \exp\left[iJ\left(-\tilde{\delta}_1 \log\left(\sqrt{\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1^2}{4}+1}\right) + \tilde{\delta}_1 - 2\arctan\left(\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1}{2}\right)\right)\right] , \quad (2.111)$$

where we have not explicitly written the Hessian as it is not relevant when calculating the deflection angle as we will see below.

Using (2.99) we can now calculate the deflection angle. Note that we need to use $\tilde{\delta}_1 = \delta_1/J$ in equation (2.111) above. We will be explicit here as it is instructive,

$$\begin{aligned}
\theta_J &= i \frac{\partial}{\partial J} \log(a_J) \\
&\simeq i \frac{\partial}{\partial J} \left[-i\delta_1 \log J - i\delta_1 \log \left(\sqrt{\frac{\delta_1^2}{4J^2} + 1} \right) + i\delta_1 - 2iJ \arctan\left(\frac{\delta_1}{2J}\right) \right] \\
&= - \left[-\frac{\delta_1}{J} + \frac{\delta_1^3}{J(\delta_1^2 + 4J^2)} - 2 \arctan\left(\frac{\delta_1}{2J}\right) + \frac{4\delta_1 J}{\delta_1^2 + 4J^2} \right] \\
&\approx 2 \arctan\left(\frac{\delta_1(s, m_i)}{2J}\right),
\end{aligned}$$
(2.112)

where in the second line we have only kept terms in the exponent of (2.111) as well as the $J^{-i\delta_1}$ term because the rest are not relevant in the high-energy, large J limit and in the third line we note that the combination of the first, second and fourth terms sum to 0. We note that the large J expansion of the last line is equivalent to (2.100) as required.

Saddle Point Approximation to Derive Linear in Eikonal Contributions to the Deflection Angle

In this subsection we will be performing a saddle point approximation as in the previous subsection but we will include all the corrections to the eikonal, not just the leading eikonal. In order to be able to compute this we will have to make certain approximations which will give a partially complete result. This will prove to be sufficient for the analysis up to 2PM discussed in chapters 4, 5 and 6.

To study this we modify (2.86) and write,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{eik}}^{(1)}(s, m_i, q) = 4Ep \int d^2 \mathbf{b} \, e^{-i\mathbf{q}\cdot\mathbf{b}} \left(\exp\left(i\sum_k \delta^{(k)}(s, m_i, b)\right) - 1 \right) \,, \qquad (2.113)$$

where we have included all the corrections to the eikonal. From this we can then modify

the expression for a_J in (2.103) to read,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} \approx \frac{J}{2p^2} \left(\frac{J}{p}\right)^{-i\delta_1} \int_0^\infty dx \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \\ \times \left(x^{-i\tilde{\delta}_1 J} \exp\left(\sum_{k=1}^\infty \frac{i\tilde{\delta}_{k+1}}{x^k} J\right)\right) e^{i(2xJ\sin\phi - (2J+1)\phi)}, \quad (2.114)$$

where we have used (2.84) for $\delta^{(1)}$ and we have defined,

$$\delta^{(k)}(s, m_i, b) = \frac{\delta_k(s, m_i)}{b^k} \text{ for } k > 1 , \qquad (2.115)$$

as well as,

$$\tilde{\delta}_k = \frac{\delta_k}{J^k} p^{k-1} \quad \text{for} \quad k > 1 \;. \tag{2.116}$$

Note that $\delta_k(s, m_i)$ is of order $\mathcal{O}(G_N^k)$. We then see, by collecting all the terms that are large in the large J limit as we have done before, that the function for which we need to find the saddle point is given by,

$$f(x,\phi) = -\tilde{\delta}_1 \log(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\tilde{\delta}_{k+1}}{x^k} + 2x \sin \phi - 2\phi .$$
 (2.117)

We can now write the equations which we must solve to find the saddle point,

$$\frac{\partial f(x,\phi)}{\partial x} = -\frac{\tilde{\delta}_1}{x} - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k\tilde{\delta}_{k+1}}{x^{k+1}} + 2\sin\phi = 0$$
(2.118)

$$\frac{\partial f(x,\phi)}{\partial \phi} = 2x \cos \phi - 2 = 0. \qquad (2.119)$$

Since we are now including all the corrections to the eikonal we have significantly complicated the set of equations we must solve. In order to make this problem tractable we will linearise these equations in ϕ . Doing so we find the saddle point,

$$x_0 = 1$$
; $\phi_0 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\tilde{\delta}_1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \tilde{\delta}_{k+1} \right)$. (2.120)

Employing the exact same method as before we then find for the partial wave coefficients,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} \approx \frac{J}{2p^2} \left(\frac{J}{p}\right)^{-i\delta_1} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-\det(iJS''(x_0,\phi_0))}} \exp\left[iJ\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k\tilde{\delta}_{k+1}\right] .$$
(2.121)

Using this result along with equations (2.99), (2.116) we can then find the resulting

expression for the angle,

$$\theta_J \approx \frac{\delta_1}{J} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k p^k \delta_{k+1}}{J^{k+1}} . \qquad (2.122)$$

The equivalent expression in impact parameter space can be found by using the fact that at the saddle $x_0 = 1$ we have J = pb,

$$\theta_b \approx \frac{1}{p} \left(\frac{\delta_1}{b} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k \delta_{k+1}}{b^{k+1}} \right) = -\frac{1}{p} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \delta^{(k)}(s, m_i, b) , \qquad (2.123)$$

which we notice is the usual expression used to derive the angle from the eikonal [49, 60, 67]. In the second step above we are using the full eikonal expressions and not just the coefficients. For sake of completeness we can take the massless probe limit of this equation which will be used in chapter 4. Using (2.6) we see that the momentum factor in the massless probe limit is given to leading order by, $p \approx E$ and so we have,

$$\theta_b \approx -\frac{1}{E} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \delta^{(k)}(E, b) ,$$
(2.124)

2.4.4 Post-Newtonian Expansion

As a final remark in this section we will look at the post-Newtonian (PN) expansion of the leading two-body deflection angle we have calculated above and compare this with known results. We will briefly revisit the PN expansion when discussing the two-body Hamiltonian in chapter 7.

Using (2.85) we can write the leading contribution to the deflection angle (2.112) fully as,

$$\theta_J^{(1)} = \frac{4G_N}{J} \frac{2(k_1k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}{\sqrt{(k_1k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}} \,. \tag{2.125}$$

Using (??) we can expand this in terms of the relative velocity between the two bodies,

$$\theta_J^{(1)} = \frac{1}{jv_\infty} + \frac{2v_\infty}{j} , \qquad (2.126)$$

where j is defined in (2.65). We notice, using (2.67), that the first term in this equation is a 0PN contribution since it goes as $(1/c^2)^0$ and the second term is a 1PN contribution since it goes as $(1/c^2)^1$. These are equivalent to the first and second terms of the 0PN and 1PN results for the deflection angle respectively which we quote below [37],

$$\theta_{0\rm PN} = \arctan\left(\frac{1}{jv_{\infty}}\right) = \frac{1}{jv_{\infty}} - \frac{1}{3j^3 v_{\infty}^3} + \dots , \qquad (2.127)$$

$$\theta_{1\text{PN}} = \frac{2v_{\infty}}{j} + \frac{3\pi}{2j^2} + \frac{4}{j^3 v_{\infty}} + \dots$$
(2.128)

Chapter 3

High-Energy Expansion of Various Integrals

In this chapter we are going to discuss the solutions to various integrals that we will need in subsequent chapters. It is based off of the papers [1] and [3]. We will discuss the integrals needed for massive scalar scattering as well as the integrals needed for scattering massless states off of D-branes. Since we are interested in the high-energy limits of these integrals we will be using various techniques which allow us to expand the integrands in the high-energy limit and find perturbative solutions.

3.1 Integrals for Massive Scalar Scattering

In the classical regime the centre of mass energy \sqrt{s} and the masses m_i^2 are much larger than the momentum exchanged q. In this limit the integrals appearing in the amplitudes discussed in detail in chapter 6 can be performed so as to extract the leading and the subleading contributions (we also calculate the subsubleading contribution to the scalar box integral). Our approach is the following: we first write our starting point in terms of Schwinger parameters t_i , then we perform the integrals over the t's parametrising the scalar propagators by using a saddle point approximation, finally the integrals over the graviton propagators reduce to those of an effective two-point function. In the following subsection we give a detailed analysis of the so called scalar box integral, showing that for a general spacetime dimension D it provides a classical contribution proportional to (D-4). We will also give results for the triangle integrals which are necessary to evaluate the full classical contribution at one-loop.

3.1.1 Scalar Box Integral

In this subsection we will discuss the scalar box integral. To start we will be evaluating,

$$\mathcal{I}_4(s,t) = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(k+k_1)^2 + m_1^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k_2-k)^2 + m_2^2} .$$
 (3.1)

After a Wick rotation and introducing Schwinger parameters the integral over the loop momentum k is Gaussian and can be readily performed. After evaluating this we find,

$$\mathcal{I}_4(s,t) = i \int_0^\infty \prod_{i=1}^4 dt_i \frac{T^{-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \exp\left[-\frac{2k_1k_2t_2t_4 + q^2t_1t_3 + t_2^2m_1^2 + t_4^2m_2^2}{T}\right], \quad (3.2)$$

where $q \equiv k_1 + k_3$ is the momentum exchanged and we have defined $T = \sum_i t_i$. The form of the equation above is suggestive because we are interested in the limit where $|k_1k_2|, m_i^2 \gg q^2$, this means that the integral over t_2, t_4 can be performed with a saddle point approximation around $t_2 = t_4 = 0$.

What makes this integral awkward is that its region of integration is just the positive quadrant in t_2, t_4 . In order to circumvent this problem it is convenient to sum the contribution of the crossed box integral. In terms of Schwinger parameters this is given by

$$\mathcal{I}_4(u,t) = i \int_0^\infty \prod_{i=1}^4 dt_i \frac{T^{-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \exp\left[-\frac{2k_2k_3t_2t_4 + q^2t_1t_3 + t_2^2m_1^2 + t_4^2m_2^2}{T}\right] .$$
(3.3)

Notice that $\mathcal{I}_4(u,t)$ can be obtained from $\mathcal{I}_4(s,t)$ by swapping $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_3$. In order to combine $\mathcal{I}_4(s,t)$ and $\mathcal{I}_4(u,t)$, it is convenient to define,

$$\tilde{k}^2 = k_1 k_2 + \frac{q^2}{4} = -k_2 k_3 - \frac{q^2}{4} .$$
(3.4)

Then we can rewrite,

$$\mathcal{I}_4(s,t) = i \int_0^\infty \prod_{i=1}^4 dt_i f(\tilde{k}^2, t_i) , \quad \mathcal{I}_4(u,t) = i \int_0^\infty \prod_{i=1}^4 dt_i f(-\tilde{k}^2, t_i) , \quad (3.5)$$

where,

$$f(\tilde{k}^2, t_i) = \frac{e^{-q^2 \frac{t_1 t_3}{T}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_2 t_4)}{T} \begin{pmatrix} m_1^2 & \tilde{k}^2\\ \tilde{k}^2 & m_2^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_2\\ t_4 \end{pmatrix}\right] e^{\frac{q^2}{2T}|t_2 t_4|} .$$
(3.6)

As previously mentioned we are interested in performing these integrals in the limit where $|k_1k_2|, m_i^2, 1/t_2, 1/t_4$ are all of the same order and much bigger than q^2 . We can therefore Taylor expand the integrands for small t_2 and t_4 and at the leading order we simply obtain the function (3.6) where T reduces to $t_1 + t_3$ and the last exponential can be neglected. It is therefore convenient to define,

$$T_0 = t_1 + t_3 . (3.7)$$

By expressing the two integrals in this way, we can see that they are equivalent under the change $t_2 \to -t_2$ or $t_4 \to -t_4$. We note that, $I_4(t_2, -t_4) = J_4(t_2, t_4)$, $I_4(-t_2, t_4) = J_4(t_2, t_4)$, $I_4(-t_2, -t_4) = I_4(t_2, t_4)$ where I_4 and J_4 are the integrands of $\mathcal{I}_4(s, t)$ and $\mathcal{I}_4(u, t)$ respectively. We can therefore write the combination of box and crossed box integrals as,

$$\mathcal{I}_{4}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_{4}(u,t) = \frac{i}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{1} dt_{3} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} \frac{e^{-q^{2} \frac{t_{1} t_{3}}{T}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}} T^{\frac{D}{2}}} \\ \times \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] e^{\frac{q^{2}}{2T}|t_{2}t_{4}|}, \quad (3.8)$$

where T is now explicitly defined as $T = T_0 + |t_2| + |t_4|$. Note that we have written some quantities as $|t_2|, |t_4|$ since the original domain of integration is for $t_{2,4} \ge 0$.

Expanding (3.8) around $(t_2, t_4) = (0, 0)$ the leading contribution (i.e. the one that eikonalises the tree-level amplitude, see comments below (6.29)), which we denote as $\mathcal{I}_4^{(1)}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_4^{(1)}(u,t)$, can be written as a Gaussian integral,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(1)}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(1)}(u,t) &= i \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \, \frac{T_{0}^{1-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{1} \, \exp\left[-q^{2}x_{1}(1-x_{1})T_{0}\right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} \, dt_{4} \, \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} \, t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \,, (3.9) \end{aligned}$$

where $x_1 = t_1/T_0$. The quadrants with $t_2, t_4 > 0$ and $t_2, t_4 < 0$ yield the same contribution corresponding $\mathcal{I}_4^{(1)}(s,t)$, while those with $t_2 > 0 > t_4$ and $t_4 > 0 > t_2$ are again identical and correspond to $\mathcal{I}_4^{(1)}(u,t)$.

We should also recall that \tilde{k}^2 is not a kinematic variable directly relevant to the amplitude calculations. In the expression resulting from performing the Gaussian integral over t_2, t_4 in (3.9) above we need to be careful and also substitute for,

$$\tilde{k}^2 = k_1 k_2 + \frac{q^2}{4} = k_1 k_2 \left(1 + \frac{q^2}{4k_1 k_2} \right) , \qquad (3.10)$$

whilst taking into account that we are interested in the limit where $|k_1k_2|, m_i^2 \gg q^2$. The remaining two integrals over T_0 and x_1 can be decoupled and, by collecting everything

together, we find

$$\mathcal{I}_{4}^{(1)}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(1)}(u,t) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\pi}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{-1}{\sqrt{(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{6-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^2)^{\frac{D-6}{2}} .$$
(3.11)

Since we will look at the resulting amplitudes in impact parameter space it is worth calculating the expressions above in impact parameter space. Using (2.74) and (3.49) we find that (3.11) becomes⁹,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{4}^{(1)}(s,t) + \tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{4}^{(1)}(u,t) = \frac{-1}{128\pi^{D-2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(k_1k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}} \Gamma^2 \left(\frac{D}{2} - 2\right) \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-8}} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

We can see that in D = 4 the result is IR divergent and dimensional regularisation can be used to extract the log \mathbf{b}^2 term we are interested in. In order to implement this we would use the substitution,

$$\frac{\Gamma(\frac{D-4}{2})}{4\pi^{\frac{D-2}{2}}\mathbf{b}^{D-4}} \Longrightarrow -\frac{1}{2\pi}\log\mathbf{b} .$$
(3.13)

Note that if we were to directly integrate over one of the quadrants in order to calculate the result for just one of the scalar box diagrams we find at leading order,

$$\mathcal{I}_{4}^{(1)}(u,t) = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{\ln\left[\left(\frac{\sqrt{k_{2}k_{3}+m_{1}m_{2}}+\sqrt{k_{2}k_{3}-m_{1}m_{2}}}{\sqrt{2m_{1}m_{2}}}\right)^{2}\right]}{2\sqrt{(k_{2}k_{3})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{6-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-6}{2}} \\ \approx \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{\arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{6-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-6}{2}}, \quad (3.14)$$

where we have used $-k_2k_3 = k_1k_2 + q^2/2$ in the second line to express this in terms of k_1k_2 and we have defined the quantity $\sigma = \frac{-k_1k_2}{m_1m_2}$. Note that to find the equivalent expression for $\mathcal{I}_4^{(1)}(s,t)$ we switch $k_3 \leftrightarrow k_1$ in the first line above.

Continuing with the saddle point approximation and expanding (3.8) further we find the following subleading contribution,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(2)}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(2)}(u,t) &= i \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \frac{T_{0}^{1-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{1} \exp\left[-q^{2}x_{1}(1-x_{1})T_{0}\right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\ &\times \frac{|t_{2}| + |t_{4}|}{T_{0}^{2}} \left(2k_{1}k_{2}t_{2}t_{4} + m_{1}^{2}t_{2}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}t_{4}^{2}\right) \end{aligned}$$

⁹Note that in this chapter we are not including the normalisation factor, 1/4Ep, found in (2.74).

$$+q^{2}T_{0}^{2}x_{1}(1-x_{1}) - \frac{D}{2}T_{0}\bigg)$$

$$= \frac{i\sqrt{\pi}}{2(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{m_{1}+m_{2}}{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{5-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-5}{2}},$$
(3.15)

where we have also taken into account the fact that we need to substitute for \tilde{k}^2 using (3.10) and find the leading contribution in $|k_1k_2|, m_i^2 \gg q^2$ after performing the substitution. It is worth looking at the impact parameter space expression of the above result. In impact parameter space we have,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{4}^{(2)}(s,t) + \tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{4}^{(2)}(u,t) = \frac{i}{32\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{m_1 + m_2}{(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2} \Gamma\left(\frac{2D-7}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} \frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^2)^{D-\frac{7}{2}}},$$
(3.16)

which we see vanishes for D = 4.

The subsubleading integral is slightly more nuanced. In this case not only do we need to resolve the third term in the expansion of (3.8) but we also need to take into account the contribution coming from the expansion of \tilde{k}^2 in the result for (3.9). The extra contribution from (3.9) is given by,

$$\frac{i}{2} \frac{\pi}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{k_1 k_2}{4[m_1^2 m_2^2 - (k_1 k_2)^2]^{3/2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{6-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^2)^{\frac{D-4}{2}}.$$
(3.17)

From the expansion of (3.8) to subsubleading order we find,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(3)}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(3)}(u,t) &= i \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \frac{T_{0}^{1-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{1} \exp\left[-q^{2}x_{1}(1-x_{1})T_{0}\right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\ &\times \frac{1}{8T_{0}^{4}} \left\{ (|t_{2}| + |t_{4}|)^{2} \left[-4DT_{0} \left(t_{4} \left(2\tilde{k}^{2}t_{2} + m_{2}^{2}t_{4}\right) + m_{1}^{2}t_{2}^{2} + q^{2}t_{1}t_{3}\right) + (D+2)DT_{0}^{2} + 4 \left(t_{4} \left(2\tilde{k}^{2}t_{2} + m_{2}^{2}t_{4}\right) + m_{1}^{2}t_{2}^{2} + q^{2}t_{1}t_{3}\right) \left(2\tilde{k}^{2}t_{2}t_{4} + m_{1}^{2}t_{2}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}t_{4}^{2} + q^{2}t_{1}t_{3} - 2T_{0}\right) \right] \\ &+ 4T_{0}^{3}q^{2}|t_{2}||t_{4}| \right\}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.18)$$

where to solve the various resulting integrals in the Gaussian integration over t_2, t_4 we refer to the building blocks computed in appendix B. Taking into account the contribution (3.17) and again substituting as per (3.10) we find for the final result,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(3)}(s,t) + \mathcal{I}_{4}^{(3)}(u,t) &= \frac{i}{8(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{4-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-4}{2}} \frac{1}{D-4} \\ \times \left[\frac{4(5-D)}{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{2k_{1}k_{2}}{[(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}]^{1/2}} \operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)\right) \\ + i \frac{\pi(D-4)(k_{1}+k_{2})^{2}}{[(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}]^{3/2}}\right], \end{aligned}$$
(3.19)

where as before we have used the definition, $\sigma = \frac{-k_1k_2}{m_1m_2}$. A curious feature of the expression above is that it is purely imaginary for D = 4 since the last line representing the real component vanishes. This expression has been checked against known result in D = 4 found in [145]. In impact parameter space the above expression reads,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{4}^{(3)}(s,t) + \tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{4}^{(3)}(u,t) = \frac{i}{128\pi^{D-1}}\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)\frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-3}} \\
\times \left[\frac{4(5-D)}{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}\left(1 + \frac{2k_{1}k_{2}}{[(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}]^{1/2}}\operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)\right) \\
+ i\frac{\pi(D-4)(k_{1}+k_{2})^{2}}{[(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}]^{3/2}}\right].$$
(3.20)

3.1.2 Triangle Integrals

In this subsection we will derive results for the integrals relevant for the triangle amplitudes. The first integral we need to calculate is,

$$\mathcal{I}_3(m_i) = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k+k_i)^2 + m_i^2} .$$
(3.21)

As in the previous subsection we can write this integral in terms of Schwinger parameters and perform the Gaussian integral over the loop momenta. This yields,

$$\mathcal{I}_3 = i \int_0^\infty \prod_{i=1}^3 dt_i \frac{T^{-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \exp\left[-\frac{m_i^2 t_3^2 + q^2 t_1 t_2}{T}\right] , \qquad (3.22)$$

where $q \equiv k_1 + k_3$ is the momentum exchanged and $T = \sum_i t_i$. We have written this integral in a suggestive way because we are interested in the limit where $m_i^2 \gg q^2$, this means that the integral over t_3 can be performed with a saddle point approximation around $t_3 = 0$. To make it easier to perform the relevant expansion we write $T = T_0 + |t_3|$ where $T_0 = t_1 + t_2$. Performing the saddle point approximation, we find at leading order,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{(1)}(m_{i}) = i \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \frac{T_{0}^{-\frac{D}{2}+1}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{2} \exp\left[-q^{2}T_{0}x_{2}(1-x_{2})\right] \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{3} \exp\left[-\frac{m_{i}^{2}t_{3}^{2}}{T_{0}}\right]$$
$$= \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2m_{i}} \Gamma\left(\frac{5-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}(\frac{D-3}{2})}{\Gamma(D-3)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-5}{2}}, \qquad (3.23)$$

where we have written $x_2 = t_2/T_0$. Expanding (3.22) further we find for the subleading contribution,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{(2)}(m_{i}) = i \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \frac{T_{0}^{-\frac{D}{2}+1}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{2} \exp\left[-q^{2}T_{0}x_{2}(1-x_{2})\right] \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{3} \exp\left[-\frac{m_{i}^{2}t_{3}^{2}}{T_{0}}\right] \\
\times \frac{1}{2T_{0}^{2}} |t_{3}| \left(2q^{2}t_{1}t_{2} - DT_{0} + 2m_{i}^{2}t_{3}^{2}\right) \\
= -\frac{i}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{1}{2m_{i}^{2}} \Gamma\left(\frac{4-D}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-3)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-4}{2}}.$$
(3.24)

The equations above in impact parameter space read,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3}^{(1)}(m_{i}) = \frac{i}{(\pi)^{D-\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{64m_{i}} \Gamma\left(\frac{2D-7}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-3)} \frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-\frac{7}{2}}}, \quad (3.25)$$

and,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3}^{(2)}(m_{i}) = -\frac{i}{\pi^{D-1}} \frac{1}{32m_{i}^{2}} \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right) \frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-3}}.$$
(3.26)

We also want to consider the tensor triangle integral given by,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{\mu\nu}(m_{i}) = \int \frac{d^{D}k}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{1}{k^{2}} \frac{1}{(q+k)^{2}} \frac{1}{(k_{i}+k)^{2} + m_{i}^{2}} k^{\mu} k^{\nu} .$$
(3.27)

Employing Schwinger parameters as before we find that,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3} = i \int_{0}^{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{3} dt_{i} \frac{T^{-\frac{D}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \exp\left[-\frac{m_{i}^{2}t_{3}^{2} + q^{2}t_{1}t_{2}}{T}\right] \\ \times \left(\frac{1}{2T}\eta^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{T^{2}}(qt_{2} + k_{i}t_{3})^{\mu}(qt_{2} + k_{i}t_{3})^{\nu}\right) , \qquad (3.28)$$

where the various symbols have been defined previously. Employing the same method as for the previous two integrals we find the following result at leading order,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{(1)\,\mu\nu}(m_{i}) = \frac{i}{4m_{i}} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \left[(q^{2})^{\frac{D-3}{2}} \sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-1)} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} + \frac{k_{i}^{\mu}k_{i}^{\nu}}{m_{i}^{2}} \right) \right]$$

$$-(D-1)\frac{q^{\mu}q^{\nu}}{q^{2}} + 2(q^{2})^{\frac{D-4}{2}}\frac{\Gamma(\frac{4-D}{2})\Gamma(\frac{D-2}{2})\Gamma(\frac{D}{2})}{\Gamma(D-1)}\frac{q^{(\mu}k_{i}^{\nu)}}{m_{i}} \right].$$
(3.29)

Although this is the result at leading order in the expansion around the saddle point $t_3 = 0$ we can identify the second line as subleading contributions to the integral in the limit given by (2.81). We can see this by looking at how a contraction between q and an external momentum behaves,

$$k_1^{\mu}q_{\mu} = k_1^{\mu}(k_{1\mu} + k_{3\mu}) = \frac{1}{2}(k_1 + k_3)^2 = \frac{1}{2}q^2$$
(3.30)

where we have used the fact that $k_1^2 = k_3^2$. Power counting with the above relation identifies the last line of (3.29) as subleading. This type of argument extends to contractions between any external momenta and q since we can always write $q = k_1 + k_3 = -k_2 - k_4$.

For the next order in the expansion around the saddle point we have,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{(2)\,\mu\nu}(m_{i}) = \frac{-i}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{1}{4m_{i}^{2}} \left[(q^{2})^{\frac{D-2}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2-D}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-1)} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} + \frac{2k_{i}^{\mu}k_{i}^{\nu}}{m_{i}^{2}} -D\frac{q^{\mu}q^{\nu}}{q^{2}} \right) + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}(D-1)}{2} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-1)} \frac{q^{(\mu}k_{i}^{\nu)}}{m_{i}} \right].$$
(3.31)

We note that as with (3.29), the second line above is kinematically subleading with respect to the first line. Note that although we will not be evaluating the equivalent vector triangle integral \mathcal{I}_{3}^{μ} , since we will not need it in the subsequent chapters, the calculation follows straightforwardly from the method outlined above. A parallel discussion in the case of bubble integrals is given in section 3.2.2.

We can write the above expressions in impact parameter space as we have done with previous results. To make these expressions clear we will write them after we have contracted with external momenta. So we have,

$$k_{j\,\mu}k_{j\,\nu}\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3}^{(1)\,\mu\nu}(m_{i}) = \frac{i}{32m_{i}}\frac{1}{\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}}} \left[\frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-\frac{5}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-5}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-1)} \times \left(-m_{j}^{2} + \frac{(k_{i}k_{j})^{2}}{m_{i}^{2}} - (D-1)\frac{-2D^{2} + 7D + 5}{4\mathbf{b}^{2}}\right) + (-1)^{j+1}\frac{k_{i}k_{j}}{m_{i}}\frac{2}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-2}}\frac{\csc\left(\frac{\pi D}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{4-D}{2}\right)}\right], \quad (3.32)$$

and for the subleading expression,

$$k_{j\,\mu}k_{j\,\nu}\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3}^{(2)\,\mu\nu}(m_{i}) = \frac{-i}{16m_{i}^{2}}\frac{1}{\pi^{D-1}} \left[\frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-2}} \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D}{2}\right)}{D-2} \left(-m_{j}^{2} + \frac{2(k_{i}k_{j})^{2}}{m_{i}^{2}} + \frac{D^{2}(D-2)}{2\mathbf{b}^{2}} \right) - (-1)^{j+1}\frac{k_{i}k_{j}}{m_{i}} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{3}{2}}}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-3}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{D+1}{2}\right)\sec\left(\frac{\pi D}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-1)\Gamma\left(\frac{1-D}{2}\right)} \right].$$
(3.33)

3.2 Integrals for D-brane Scattering

In this section we will work out the high-energy limits of the integrals needed in chapter 4. The discussion will heavily parallel the discussion in section 3.1 and so some of the details are neglected. Note that we define the symbol, $\perp = D - p - 1$, which will be used extensively below.

3.2.1 Scalar Triangle Integral

For the scalar triangle integral, relevant when discussing the scattering of a massless state off of a stack of D-branes, we have,

$$\mathcal{I}_3(E,q_{\perp}) = \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k^2(k_1-k)^2_{\perp}(k+k_2)^2_{\perp}}, \qquad (3.34)$$

where the \perp subscript refers to taking only the components in the space perpendicular to the D-branes and we have $k^2 = k_{\perp}^2 - E^2$. As in the previous subsection we can write this integral in terms of Schwinger parameters and perform the Gaussian integral over the loop momenta. This yields,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}(E,q_{\perp}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{3} dt_{i} \frac{T^{-\frac{D-p-1}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \exp\left[\frac{E^{2}t_{1}^{2} - q_{\perp}^{2}t_{2}t_{3}}{T}\right] , \qquad (3.35)$$

where $q \equiv k_1 + k_2$ is the momentum exchanged and $T = \sum_i t_i$. Note that we have used some of the kinematic relations given in section 4.1.1. We have again written this integral in a suggestive way because we are interested in the limit where $E^2 \gg q^2$, this means that the integral over t_1 can be performed with a saddle point approximation around $t_1 = 0$. To make it easier to perform the relevant expansion we write $T = T_0 + |t_1|$ where $T_0 = t_2 + t_3$. Doing so we find at leading order,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{(1)}(E,q_{\perp}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \frac{T_{0}^{-\frac{D-p-1}{2}+1}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{3} \exp\left[-q_{\perp}^{2} T_{0} x_{3}(1-x_{3})\right] \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{1} \exp\left[\frac{E^{2} t_{1}^{2}}{T_{0}}\right]$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-6}{2}} \frac{i}{2E} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{6-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} , \qquad (3.36)$$

where we have written $x_3 = t_3/T_0$. Expanding (3.35) further we find for the subleading contribution,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{(2)}(E,q_{\perp}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dT_{0} \frac{T_{0}^{-\frac{D-p-1}{2}+1}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \int_{0}^{1} dx_{2} \exp\left[-q_{\perp}^{2}T_{0}x_{2}(1-x_{2})\right] \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{1} \exp\left[\frac{E^{2}t_{3}^{2}}{T_{0}}\right] \frac{1}{2T_{0}^{2}} |t_{1}| \left(2q_{\perp}^{2}t_{2}t_{3}-(D-p-1)T_{0}-2E^{2}t_{1}^{2}\right) \\ = -\frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} (q_{\perp}^{2})^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} \frac{1}{2E^{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-p-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} .$$
(3.37)

As we have done for the integrals relevant to the massive scalar process, we can find the corresponding expressions in impact parameter space. Using (4.46) and (3.49) we find,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3}^{(1)}(E,\mathbf{b}) = \frac{i}{64\pi^{D-p-2}E}\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)\frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-2p-8}}$$
(3.38)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3}^{(2)}(E,\mathbf{b}) = -\frac{1}{32\pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}}E^{2}} \frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-p-3}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-2p-7}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(D-p-4\right)} \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-2p-7}}.$$
 (3.39)

Removing a Propagator

We briefly review what happens to \mathcal{I}_3 when we remove the $k+k_2$ propagator in (3.34) to explicitly recognise that these contributions are localised on the D-branes when working in impact parameter space. We find after introducing Schwinger parameters,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3,3} = \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k^2(k_1 - k)_{\perp}^2} = \int dt_1 dt_2 \left(\frac{\pi}{T}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \exp\left[\frac{t_2^2 k_{1\perp}^2}{T} + t_1^2 E^2 - t_2 k_{1\perp}^2\right] , \quad (3.40)$$

where $\mathcal{I}_{3,3}$ refers to the fact that we've killed the third propagator in the integral given by (3.34) and $T = t_1 + t_2$ where t_1 , t_2 are the Schwinger parameters. From this we can see that $\mathcal{I}_{3,3} = f(E)$ which means that the result is not a function of the momentum exchanged, q_{\perp} . If we calculate the impact parameter space expression for this integral we find that $\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{3,3} = f(E)\delta^{\perp-1}(\mathbf{b})$, which as described before suggests that these types of terms can only produce contributions which are localised on the D-branes. Note that the same happens when you remove the second propagator $k_1 - k$. However if one removes the propagator k we find that $\mathcal{I}_{3,1} = \mathcal{I}_2$ as expected.

3.2.2 Bubble Integrals

For the scalar bubble integrals relevant when discussing the scattering of a massless state off of a stack of D-branes, we have,

$$\mathcal{I}_2(q_{\perp}) = \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_{\perp}^2 (k-q)_{\perp}^2} , \qquad (3.41)$$

where as in the previous subsection the \perp subscript refer to the components in the directions perpendicular to the D-branes. Continuing in the same way as we have done before we can rewrite this in terms of Schwinger parameters and perform the Gaussian integral over the loop momenta, yielding,

$$\mathcal{I}_{2}(q_{\perp}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{2} dt_{i} \frac{T^{-\frac{D-p-1}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \exp\left[q_{\perp}^{2} t_{2}\left(\frac{t_{2}}{T}-1\right)\right], \qquad (3.42)$$

This can be solved exactly and we find,

$$\mathcal{I}_{2}(q_{\perp}) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} (q_{\perp}^{2})^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right) \Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (-2(D-p-2)) . (3.43)$$

We can perform an equivalent procedure for the vector bubble integral,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu}(q_{\perp}) &= \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{k^{\mu}}{k_{\perp}^{2}(k-q)_{\perp}^{2}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{2} dt_{i} \frac{T^{-\frac{D-p-1}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{q_{\perp}^{\mu}t_{2}}{T} \exp\left[q_{\perp}^{2}t_{2}\left(\frac{t_{2}}{T}-1\right)\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} (q_{\perp}^{2})^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} q_{\perp}^{\mu} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{D-p-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-2)} . \quad (3.44) \end{aligned}$$

Similarly for the tensor bubble integral,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu\nu}(q_{\perp}) &= \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{k^{\mu}k^{\nu}}{k_{\perp}^{2}(k-q)_{\perp}^{2}} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \prod_{i=1}^{2} dt_{i} \frac{T^{-\frac{D-p-1}{2}}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \left(\frac{1}{2T}\eta_{\perp}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{t_{2}^{2}}{T^{2}}q_{\perp}^{\mu}q_{\perp}^{\nu}\right) \exp\left[q_{\perp}^{2}t_{2}\left(\frac{t_{2}}{T}-1\right)\right] \\ &= \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} (q_{\perp}^{2})^{\frac{D-p-3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma(D-p-1)} \\ &\times \left(\eta_{\perp}^{\mu\nu} - (D-p-1)\frac{q_{\perp}^{\mu}q_{\perp}^{\nu}}{q_{\perp}^{2}}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.45)

The corresponding impact parameter space expressions are found to be,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{2}(\mathbf{b}) = \frac{1}{8\pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-2p-7}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} \frac{2(p-D+2)}{3-D+p} \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-2p-7}} .$$
 (3.46)

We neglect to write the impact parameter expressions for the vector and tensor bubble integrals because they are only meaningful when their exact form is calculated and this depends on what object the integrals are contracting with.

3.3 Impact Parameter Space Integral

In this section we will discuss the result for the integral needed to calculate the impact parameter space expressions discussed above and in chapters 4, 5 and 6. We are interested in solving the integral,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm IPS} = \int \frac{d^d \mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^d} e^{i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{b}} (q^2)^{\nu} . \qquad (3.47)$$

To evaluate this integral we introduce hyper spherical coordinates [146] where we let the angle between **q** and **b** be denoted by θ_{d-1} and the magnitude of **q** be denoted by q. We can then write,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{IPS}} = \int \frac{d^{d}\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^{d}} e^{iqb\cos\theta_{d-1}} (q^{2})^{\nu} \\
= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})} \int_{0}^{\infty} dq \, q^{2\nu} q^{d-1} \int_{0}^{\pi} d\theta_{d-1} \sin^{d-2}(\theta_{d-1}) e^{iqb\cos\theta_{d-1}} \\
= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} b^{1-\frac{d}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dq \, q^{2\nu} q^{\frac{d}{2}} J_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(qb) ,$$
(3.48)

where in the second line we have evaluated the angular integral excluding the θ_{d-1} integral and in the last line we have evaluated the θ_{d-1} integral. The $J_n(x)$ is a Bessel function of the first kind. Evaluating the final line above yields,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm IPS} = \int \frac{d^d \mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^d} e^{i\mathbf{q}\mathbf{b}} (q^2)^{\nu} = \frac{2^{2\nu}}{\pi^{d/2}} \frac{\Gamma(\nu + \frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(-\nu)} \frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^2)^{\nu + \frac{d}{2}}} \,. \tag{3.49}$$

Chapter 4

The Eikonal in Supergravity

This chapter is based on the paper [1] where we discuss the probe-limit eikonal in supergravity. The specific scenario we study is the scattering of massless scalar states off of a heavy stack of Dp-branes. Through studying this we are able to derive some properties of the inelastic contributions to the eikonal which generalises some of the ideas presented in chapter 2.

The chapter is structured as follows. In section 4.1 we briefly review the kinematics of the process under study and provide the results for the tree-level amplitudes describing the elastic dilaton to dilaton and the inelastic dilaton to RR scatterings. In section 4.2 we study the one-loop diagrams that contribute to the same processes. We perform the calculation in two ways; one is the traditional approach of using Feynman rules, while in a second approach we provide a prescription for treating onshell bulk amplitudes as effective vertices and gluing them to the Dp-branes. We check that these two approaches provide the same classical eikonal since they agree at the level of the amplitudes except for possible contributions that are localised on the Dp-branes (i.e. terms that are proportional to a delta function in the impact parameter space). In section 4.3 we study the Regge high energy limit of the amplitudes we derived and, as mentioned above, provide a prescription to extract the classical eikonal at subleading orders from the amplitude. In section 4.4 we rederive the same diagrams analysed in section 4.2 in a slightly different way, which allows us to extract the classical solution representing the gravitational backreaction of the target Dp-branes. In this section we also compare the eikonal with the appropriate classical deflection angle. In all our calculations the contributions of the different fields are separated, thus it is straightforward to focus just on the graviton exchanges and obtain both the metric and the deflection angle for pure Einstein gravity which agrees with the results in the literature [67, 69, 88]as well as the more general discussion for pure Einstein gravity presented in chapter 6.

4.1 Scattering in the Born Approximation

In the Born approximation the interaction between a perturbative state and a stack of Dp-branes is described by a tree-level diagram with two external states [147–149]. In the limit where the distance between the Dp-branes and the external states is large, this interaction is captured by a tree-level Feynman diagram with the exchange of a single massless state between the Dp-branes and a bulk three-point vertex. In this section, we briefly summarise the kinematics of this interaction and then discuss its large energy behaviour. The leading term in this limit is dominated by the exchange of the particles with the highest spin; here we focus mainly on the field-theory limit of the full string setup and so the highest spin state is the graviton. This leading term is elastic and universal, *i.e.* the polarisation of the in and the out states are identical and, the result depends only on the momentum exchanged and the energy density of the Dp-brane target.

In this section we are also interested in the first subleading correction in the large energy limit. As expected, this contribution depends on the exchange of lower spin states, such as the Ramond-Ramond forms in supergravity. This means that the result depends on other features (besides the energy density) of the target Dp-brane, such as its charge density or its angular momentum. In general at this order, the transition is not elastic and so displays a non-trivial Lorentz structure. As mentioned in the introduction, this result will be important in defining the eikonal limit beyond the leading order in the large distance limit.

4.1.1 Kinematics

We can write the momenta of the two massless external particles scattering off a stack of Dp-branes as follows,

$$k_1 = (E, \dots, E)$$
 $k_2 = (-E, \dots, \mathbf{q}, -E + q_{D-1})$, (4.1)

where the dots are over the p spatial components along the Dp-brane in k_2 , \mathbf{q} denotes the D - p - 2 spatial components transverse to the direction of the incoming particle of the momentum exchange vector $q = k_1 + k_2$ and q_{D-1} is the last component of q. Note that in the Regge limit

$$q^2 \ll E^2, \tag{4.2}$$

and q_{D-1} is of order E^{-1} . Writing out the explicit kinematics as above we can see that $(k_1)_{\parallel}^2 = (k_2)_{\parallel}^2 = -E^2$ and $(k_1 \cdot k_2)_{\parallel} = E^2$.

4.1.2 Elastic and Inelastic Diagrams

The elastic scattering of a dilaton with a graviton being exchanged with the D-branes can easily be calculated in supergravity by using the Feynman rules in the relevant subsections of 2.2

$$A_1^{\rm dd} = i(2\pi)^{p+1} \delta^{p+1}(k_1 + k_2) \ \mathcal{A}_1^{\rm dd} , \quad \text{where} \quad \mathcal{A}_1^{\rm dd} = \frac{2NT_p \kappa_D E^2}{q^2} , \qquad (4.3)$$

where N is the number of D-branes in the stack. Notice that the result does not depend on the dimensionality p of the D-branes. In the limit (4.2), the leading energy contribution of any elastic scattering is still described by (4.3) multiplied by a kinematic factor forcing the polarisation of the ingoing and outgoing polarisation to be the same (for instance, $\epsilon_{1\mu}^{\ \nu} \epsilon_{2\nu}^{\ \mu}$ in the graviton-graviton case). For general states there are subleading energy corrections to this formula, but they start at order E^0 .

In the inelastic case, in contrast, it is possible to have order E contributions. As an example, let us start from the amplitude where the incoming particle is a dilaton and the outgoing one is an RR state. Again the first amplitude contributing to this process can be derived by using the Feynman rules in the relevant subsections of 2.2

$$A_1^{\mathrm{dR}} = i(2\pi)^{p+1} \delta^{p+1}(k_1 + k_2) \quad \mathcal{A}_1^{\mathrm{dR}}, \quad \text{where} \quad \mathcal{A}_1^{\mathrm{dR}} = \frac{2a(D)NT_p\kappa_D E \, q^\mu C_{\mu 1\dots p}}{q^2} \,, \quad (4.4)$$

where $C_{\mu_1...\mu_{p+1}}$ is the polarisation of the RR potential describing the second external state and a(D) is defined in (2.38); in 10D type II supergravity we find $a(D = 10) = \frac{p-3}{2}$.

Notice that it is possible to derive the same results by using a different approach that uses only on onshell data. The idea is simply to start from an onshell 3-particle vertex in the bulk¹⁰ instead of using the full Feynman rules. As an example, consider the vertex with two dilatons and one graviton (2.34): on shell we can ignore the term proportional to $k_1 \cdot k_2 = (k_1 + k_2)^2/2 = q^2/2$, where q is the momentum of the graviton. When this effective vertex is used in a diagram, we exploit the condition $q^2 = 0$ to simplify the numerator of the momentum space amplitude. Terms proportional to q^2 appearing in the standard Feynman diagram calculation would produce contributions localised on the D-branes as they cancel the pole of the massless propagator $1/q^2$, so we can ignore them for our purposes. Indeed, by using the onshell two dilatons and one graviton vertex, the standard propagator (2.41), multiplying by $-T_p \eta_{\parallel}^{\rho\sigma}$ for the boundary coupling and imposing the onshell conditions in the numerator obtained in this way, one can easily reproduce (4.3) up to terms that do not depend on q and so are

¹⁰Strictly speaking the onshell vertices between three massless states often vanish in Minkowski space; as usual, one can define a non-trivial three-point vertex by analytic continuation on the momenta or equivalently by thinking of changing the spacetime signature.

localised on the D-branes in the impact parameter space (after performing the Fourier transform (4.46)).

We conclude this section by mentioning that it is possible to write the amplitudes above including all string theory corrections simply by implementing the following change to the expression \mathcal{A}_1 above

$$T_{p}\kappa_{D} \rightarrow T_{p}\kappa_{D} \frac{\Gamma\left(1-\alpha'E^{2}\right)\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\alpha'q^{2}}{4}\right)}{\Gamma\left(1-\alpha'E^{2}+\frac{\alpha'q^{2}}{4}\right)}$$
$$\sim T_{p}\kappa_{D}\Gamma\left(1+\frac{\alpha'q^{2}}{4}\right)e^{i\pi\frac{\alpha'q^{2}}{4}}(\alpha'E^{2})^{1-\frac{\alpha'q^{2}}{4}}, \qquad (4.5)$$

where in the final step we have written the result explicitly in the Regge limit.

4.2 Double Exchange Scattering

In this section we use the onshell approach mentioned in the previous section to calculate the amplitudes with a double exchange of particles between the probe and the D-branes. As before we are interested in the classical limit where the gravitational constant is small; $\kappa_D \rightarrow 0$, with $NT_p\kappa_D$ fixed. The general idea is that we can use the bulk four-point amplitudes \mathcal{A}_{bulk} as effective vertices and sew them with the relevant propagator to the D-branes, so as to construct diagrams such as the one sketched schematically in figure 5.



Figure 5: A schematic diagram showing our procedure for calculating effective one-loop amplitudes. The circular blob represents the four-point effective vertex and the two oval blobs represent the D-branes. The four-point vertex is sewed with the D-branes by using the appropriate propagator and boundary coupling.

Again this procedure requires an offshell extension of the bulk four-point vertex, but, as we argue below, the ambiguity related to this step is irrelevant for the large distance (small q) scattering. Thus after sewing the D-brane boundary couplings to the relevant external legs of the onshell effective vertex, schematically, we can write the double exchange amplitude as,

$$\mathcal{A}_{2} = \int \frac{d^{\perp}k_{i}}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{d^{\perp}k_{j}}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \left(\frac{1}{2} [B_{i}] \frac{[G_{i}]}{k_{i}^{2}} [B_{j}] \frac{[G_{j}]}{k_{j}^{2}} \delta^{\perp}(k_{i} + k_{j} - q) \mathcal{A}_{bulk}(k_{1}, \dots, k_{4}) \right) , \quad (4.6)$$

where $\perp = D - p - 1$ is the number of directions transverse to the D-branes and the overall factor of 1/2 is a symmetry factor due to the two identical sources. Here we have "attached" the i^{th} and j^{th} external leg by using the boundary couplings $[B_i]$ and the standard propagators $[G_i]$, see the relevant subsections of 2.2. Terms proportional to k_i^2 or k_j^2 in \mathcal{A}_{bulk} are absent in the onshell result and would kill one of the propagators attached to the D-branes. We then have a variation of the cancelled propagator argument discussed after (4.4); terms without one of the propagators attached to the D-branes either yield integrals without scale and so can be set to zero in dimensional regularisation or can only produce contributions that are independent of q and so are localised on the D-branes.

In section 3.2 we have calculated the integrals that are relevant for the amplitude in figure 5. For instance the 3-propagator integral (3.34), relevant for the diagrams in figure 6a and figure 10a, is

$$\mathcal{I}_3(q_\perp) = \int \frac{d^\perp k}{(2\pi)^\perp} \frac{1}{k^2 (k_1 - k)_\perp^2 (k + k_2)_\perp^2} \,. \tag{4.7}$$

We can see that, when one of the perpendicular propagators is cancelled, the integral can only depend on the quantities k_1 (or k_2), $\eta_{\mu\nu}$ and $\eta_{\parallel\mu\nu}$. Since these terms do not depend on the exchanged momentum $q = k_1 + k_2$, we find that in impact parameter space their contributions are delta functions. The presence of factors proportional to q in the numerator (arising from the vertices) does not spoil the argument, as in this case the impact parameter result is proportional to derivatives of the delta function and so is still localised on the D-branes. Notice that this cancelled propagator argument generalises to the ladder type diagrams with any number of propagators. Another type of integral appearing in the explicit evaluation of (4.6) is (see section 3.2.2)

$$\mathcal{I}_2(q_{\perp}) = \int \frac{d^{\perp}k}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_{\perp}^2 (k-q)_{\perp}^2} \,. \tag{4.8}$$

In this case, if one of the two propagators in the integrand is cancelled, one obtains an integral without a scale and so again the ambiguities related to the offshell extension of the four-point bulk amplitudes are irrelevant for the calculation we are interested in.

In order to complete the argument and show that using the bulk four-point amplitude in (4.6) is sufficient for our purposes, one should consider also the transverse conditions that are enforced on the onshell vector and graviton fields, such as $k_i^{\mu} \epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{(i)} = 0$ for the case of a graviton. This same issue does not arise when attaching RR fields as we will see in subsection 4.2.1. We will discuss this point in more detail in the following subsections where we calculate (4.6) explicitly for the elastic dilaton-brane scattering amplitudes when the interaction is mediated by RR fields, gravitons and dilatons.

4.2.1 Dilaton to Dilaton Elastic Scattering

We first apply the approach sketched above to the elastic dilaton-brane scattering deriving the full subleading amplitude. From a diagrammatic point of view there are three types of contributions due to the exchange of RR, graviton and dilaton fields between the external particles and the D-branes. We will also compare these results with those obtained from using the supergravity Feynman rules outlined in the relevant subsections of 2.2.

RR Sources

We start by analysing the RR exchange. By using the four-point two NS-NS (with these states taken to be dilatons), two RR closed string amplitude found in [123] we obtain, in the field theory limit, the following onshell vertex

$$i\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{\text{ddRR}} = \frac{i\kappa_D^2}{2} \frac{1}{n!} \frac{2}{stu} \Big[a(D) \, stuF_{34} + nF_{34}^{\alpha\mu} \Big(a(D) \, stk_{2\alpha}k_{3\mu} \\ + a(D) \, suk_{2\mu}k_{4\alpha} + (2a^2(D) \, s^2 - 8tu)k_{2\alpha}k_{2\mu} \Big) \Big] \\ = \frac{i\kappa_D^2}{n!} \Big[a(D) \, F_{34} + nF_{34}^{\alpha\mu} \Big(a(D) \, \frac{1}{u}k_{2\alpha}k_{3\mu} \\ + a(D) \, \frac{1}{t}k_{2\mu}k_{4\alpha} + \Big(2a^2(D) \, \left(-\frac{1}{t} - \frac{1}{u} \right) - \frac{8}{s} \Big) \, k_{2\alpha}k_{2\mu} \Big) \Big] , \quad (4.9)$$

where the various symbols are defined in the relevant subsections of 2.2 and n = p + 2. In order to properly attach the D-branes to $\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{\mathrm{ddRR}}$ we need to express $F_{34}^{\alpha\mu}$ as,

$$F_{34}^{\mu\nu} = F_{3}^{\mu\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n-1}}F_{4\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n-1}}^{\nu}$$

$$= \left(k_{3}^{\mu}C^{(3)\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n-1}} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{3}^{\mu_{1}}C^{(3)\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{n-1}\mu} + \dots\right)$$

$$\times \left(k_{4}^{\nu}C_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n-1}}^{(4)} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{4\mu_{1}}C_{\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{n-1}}^{(4)}\nu + \dots\right)$$

$$= k_{3}^{\mu}k_{4}^{\nu}C^{(3)\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n-1}}C_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{n-1}}^{(4)} + (n-1)k_{3}\cdot k_{4}C^{(3)\mu\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{n-1}}C_{\mu_{2}\dots\mu_{n-1}}^{(4)\nu},$$

$$(4.10)$$

where we have used the facts that k_3 and k_4 only have components perpendicular to the D-branes and $C^{(3)}$ and $C^{(4)}$ only have components parallel to the D-branes, which therefore implies that $k_i \cdot C^{(j)} = 0$. We now take derivatives with respect to the gauge fields to make this an effective vertex to use when we attach the D-branes to the RR fields. We need to also take into account the different sets of labels that the C fields can carry, i.e. $\mu_1\mu_2\ldots\mu_{n-1}=01\ldots p$ or $\mu_1\mu_2\ldots\mu_{n-1}=12\ldots p0$, etc., for which we note there are (n-1)! sets of possible labels for $C^{(3)\mu_1\ldots\mu_{n-1}}C^{(4)}_{\mu_1\ldots\mu_{n-1}}$, as there are (n-1)contracted indices, and (n-2)! for $C^{(3)\mu\mu_2\ldots\mu_{n-1}}C^{(4)\nu}_{\mu_2\ldots\mu_{n-1}}$. Putting this together allows us to write,

$$F_{34}^{\mu\nu} = (n-1)!k_3^{\mu}k_4^{\nu} + (n-1)(n-2)!k_3 \cdot k_4 \eta_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu}$$

= $(n-1)!(k_3^{\mu}k_4^{\nu} + k_3 \cdot k_4 \eta_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu})$. (4.11)

From the last line above we can also deduce that $F_{34} = n!k_3 \cdot k_4$. Note that these expressions only hold when both RR fields are attached to the D-branes. We can now use (4.11) as well as $(k_2)_{\parallel}^2 = -E^2$ and $(k_2 \cdot k_3)_{\parallel} = (k_2 \cdot k_4)_{\parallel} = 0$ to rewrite the contribution to (4.6) due to the onshell vertex (4.9) when the RR fields are attached to the D-branes. In this case the integrand of (4.6) then reads

$$\frac{i(N\mu_p\kappa_D)^2}{2}\frac{1}{n!}\frac{(n-1)!}{k_3^2k_4^2}\left[2a^2(D)n\left(\frac{s}{4}+\frac{s^2}{2tu}E^2\right)+n\left(-\frac{2tu}{s}-4E^2\right)\right],\qquad(4.12)$$

where N has been inserted to take into account the N D-branes in the stack. We can write the full answer in terms of the momentum integrals defined in section 3.2,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\text{ddRR}} = i(NT_{p}\kappa_{D})^{2} \left[2a^{2}(D) \left(\frac{s}{4}\mathcal{I}_{2} + sE^{2}\mathcal{I}_{3} \right) - \left(\frac{s}{s}k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu\nu} + 4E^{2}\mathcal{I}_{2} \right) \right].$$
(4.13)

We want to compare (4.13) with the equivalent result arising from performing the same calculation using Feynman diagrams. We can calculate all the relevant onshell Feynman diagrams for this process. The four contributions to the full amplitude are given by,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\text{FT},t}^{\text{ddRR}} = [V_{\phi_1 F_3^{(n)} C^{(n-1)}}]_{\mu_2 \dots \mu_n} [V_{\phi_2 F_4^{(n)} C^{(n-1)}}]^{\mu_2 \dots \mu_n} [G_{C^{(n-1)}}]$$

$$= \frac{i\kappa_D^2}{(n-1)!} \frac{2a^2(D)}{(k_1+k_3)^2} F_{34}^{\mu\nu} (k_1+k_3)_{\mu} (k_1+k_3)_{\nu}$$
(4.14)

$$i\mathcal{A}_{FT,u}^{ddRR} = [V_{\phi_2 F_3^{(n)} C^{(n-1)}}]_{\mu_2 \dots \mu_n} [V_{\phi_1 F_4^{(n)} C^{(n-1)}}]^{\mu_2 \dots \mu_n} [G_{C^{(n-1)}}]$$

$$= \frac{i\kappa_D^2}{(n-1)!} \frac{2a^2(D)}{(k_1 + k_4)^2} F_{34}^{\mu\nu} (k_1 + k_4)_{\mu} (k_1 + k_4)_{\nu}$$
(4.15)

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\text{FT},s}^{\text{ddRR}} = [V_{\phi_1\phi_2h}]_{\mu\nu}[G_h]^{\mu\nu;\rho\sigma}[V_{F_3^{(n)}F_4^{(n)}h}]_{\rho\sigma}$$

= $-\frac{2i\kappa_D^2}{n!}\frac{1}{(k_1+k_2)^2}(nF_{34}^{\mu\nu}(k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}+k_{2\mu}k_{1\nu})-k_1\cdot k_2F_{34})$ (4.16)

$$i\mathcal{A}_{FT,c}^{\text{ddRR}} = [V_{\phi_1\phi_2F_3^{(n)}F_4^{(n)}}] \\ = -\frac{2i\kappa_D^2}{n!}a^2(D)F_{34} , \qquad (4.17)$$

where we have neglected to write the various momentum conserving delta functions. For simplicity we have written the expressions above without including the boundary vertex corresponding to the D-branes. In order to obtain the amplitudes with the Dbranes attached one needs to multiply the amplitudes above by $[G_{C^{(n-1)}}][B_{C^{(n-1)}}]$ for every D-brane that is attached.



Figure 6: The various topologies of diagrams that contribute to $\mathcal{A}^{\text{ddRR}}$. In 6a we have the t- and u-channels, in 6b we have the s-channel diagram and finally in 6c we have the contact diagram. The solid lines represent dilatons, wavy lines represent gravitons and the dashed lines represent RR fields.

We now need to sum (4.14)-(4.17) and include the factors of $[G_{C^{(n-1)}}][B_{C^{(n-1)}}]$ we excluded earlier. We also need to use expressions such as, $F_{34}^{\mu\nu}(k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}+k_{2\mu}k_{1\nu}) = -2F_{34}^{\mu\nu}k_{2\mu}k_{2\nu} + \frac{k_{3}\cdot k_4}{n}F_{34}$, $F_{34}^{\alpha\mu}k_{2\alpha}k_{3\mu} = -\frac{u}{2n}F_{34}$ and $F_{34}^{\alpha\mu}k_{4\alpha}k_{2\mu} = -\frac{t}{2n}F_{34}$, which are straightforward to derive using (4.11) as a reference. We find that the full amplitude is given by,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\rm FT}^{\rm ddRR} = -(iN\mu_p)^2 \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^{\perp}k_3}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{d^{\perp}k_4}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_3^2} \frac{1}{k_4^2} \delta^{\perp}(k_3 + k_4 - q) \\ \times \frac{i\kappa_D^2}{2} \frac{2}{(n-1)!} \left(2a^2(D) \frac{s}{tu} - \frac{8}{s} \right) F_{34}^{\mu\nu} k_{2\mu} k_{2\nu} .$$
(4.18)

Using equation (4.11) we find,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\rm FT}^{\rm ddRR} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 \Big[2a^2(D) \left(\frac{s}{4}\mathcal{I}_2 + sE^2\mathcal{I}_3\right) - \left(\frac{8}{s}k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}\mathcal{I}_2^{\mu\nu} + 4E^2\mathcal{I}_2\right) \Big] .$$
(4.19)

Comparing (4.19) with (4.13) we find that we have been able to reproduce the same results we produced using our "effective bulk vertex" prescription by using traditional supergravity Feynman rules.

Graviton Sources

As we have done in the previous subsection for RR fields, we want to derive the full field theory amplitude for graviton exchange by using the four-point NS-NS closed string amplitude (with two external states taken to be dilatons and two taken to be gravitons) as the effective four-point vertex. When attaching a D-brane sourcing a graviton one replaces the polarisation of the relevant external graviton in $\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{ddgg}$ as follows,

$$\epsilon^{\mu\nu} \to [G_h]^{\mu\nu;\rho\sigma} [B_h]_{\rho\sigma} = -NT_p \left(\eta_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{p+1}{D-2}\eta^{\mu\nu}\right) , \qquad (4.20)$$

which is effectively the combination one needs to use in (4.6) alongside the bulk vertex in order to obtain the amplitude with the D-branes attached.

In the case when we sew D-branes that are sourcing gravitons we have the added complication that, as one can see from (4.20), the polarisations of the legs we attach the D-branes are neither transverse nor traceless. However the bulk four-point amplitudes we will use as effective four-point vertices in this subsection assume that the external graviton polarisations are traceless and transverse. This implies that by using momentum conservation and the onshell conditions, it is easy to write equivalent onshell vertices that in general yield different results¹¹ when sewn to the D-branes. Thus we need to add a prescription on what additional properties the effective vertex should have before sewing it to the D-branes. The onshell vertex vanishes for any longitudinal polarisation of any massless particle, i.e. in the case of gravitons it is zero when we substitute $\epsilon_i^{\mu\nu} = \zeta_i^{\mu} k_i^{\nu} + \zeta_i^{\nu} k_i^{\mu}$. Of course when checking this property one needs in general to use momentum conservation and the onshell properties of the remaining external states. However, the momenta of the gravitons glued to the D-branes will appear as integrated variables in the final expression and at that stage it is not always possible to use momentum conservation to write them in terms of the external momenta. Thus we require a further constraint on the onshell bulk effective vertex that can be used to derive a loop diagram: when one of the gravitons that will be glued to the D-branes is longitudinal, the bulk amplitude must vanish whilst not explicitly using momentum conservation in the products $k_i \epsilon_i$ and $\zeta_i k_j$, but only doing so on products between momenta $k_i k_j$ (i.e. only using s + t + u = 0 in our analysis). In the case of a four-point bulk onshell amplitude, as long as it includes both momenta of the external legs that will be attached to the D-branes in its "momentum set" (i.e. the three independent momenta with which the amplitude is expressed), then the condition mentioned above is met.

We start by recalling the field theory limit of the four-point two dilaton, two graviton

¹¹For instance by using directly the expression (4.21) one does not obtain (4.22), as discussed below.

amplitude [132] which we can write as,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{ddgg} = \frac{i\kappa_D^2}{2} \frac{2}{stu} \left(u^2 t^2 \,\epsilon_3^{\mu\nu} \epsilon_{4\mu\nu} + 4t^2 \,k_1^{\mu} k_1^{\nu} k_2^{\rho} k_2^{\sigma} \epsilon_{3\rho\sigma} \epsilon_{4\mu\nu} - 4ut^2 \,k_1^{\mu} k_2^{\nu} \epsilon_{3\nu}^{\rho} \epsilon_{4\mu\rho} - 4u^2 t \,k_1^{\mu} k_2^{\nu} \epsilon_{3\mu}^{\rho} \epsilon_{4\nu\rho} + 8ut \,k_1^{\mu} k_1^{\nu} k_2^{\rho} k_2^{\sigma} \epsilon_{3\mu\rho} \epsilon_{4\nu\sigma} + 4u^2 \,k_1^{\mu} k_1^{\nu} k_2^{\rho} k_2^{\sigma} \epsilon_{3\mu\nu} \epsilon_{4\rho\sigma} \right) .$$
(4.21)

In this form the bulk vertex does not satisfy the requirement mentioned above for the two gravitons, but if we take this equation and use momentum conservation to express it using (k_1, k_3, k_4) or (k_2, k_3, k_4) , we obtain an expression that can be glued to the D-branes simply by replacing the graviton polarisations with (4.20). Then we find for the integrand of (4.6),

$$\frac{i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2}{4}\frac{1}{k_3^2k_4^2}\frac{2}{stu}\left(4E^4s^2 + 4E^2stu + \frac{(D-p-3)(1+p)}{D-2}u^2t^2\right) ,\qquad (4.22)$$

where we have also used the relevant kinematics mentioned in section 4.1.1. By including the appropriate integrals one obtains,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\text{ddgg}} = i(NT_{p}\kappa_{D})^{2} \left(4E^{4}\mathcal{I}_{3} + \frac{(D-p-3)(1+p)}{D-2}\frac{2}{s}k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu\nu} + 2E^{2}\mathcal{I}_{2} \right) . \quad (4.23)$$



Figure 7: The various topologies of diagrams that contribute to \mathcal{A}^{ddgg} . In 10a we have the t- and u-channels, in 10b we have the s-channel diagram and finally in 10c we have the contact diagrams. The solid lines represent dilatons and the wavy lines represent gravitons.

We want to compare (4.23) with the equivalent result arising from using Feynman diagrams as we have done in the RR case. We first calculate the relevant Feynman diagrams for this process. Note that since we will be attaching the D-branes to the graviton external legs we will not be imposing $k_i \cdot \epsilon_i = 0$ or $\text{Tr}(\epsilon_i) = 0$, i.e. we will keep the gravitons offshell. The four contributions to the full amplitude are given by the following diagrams,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{FT},u}^{\mathrm{ddgg}} = \epsilon_{3\mu\nu}\epsilon_{4\rho\sigma}[V_{\phi_1\phi_2h}]^{\mu\nu}[V_{\phi_1\phi_2h}]^{\rho\sigma}[G_{\phi}]$$

$$(4.24)$$

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{FT},t}^{\mathrm{ddgg}} = \epsilon_{3\rho\sigma}\epsilon_{4\mu\nu}[V_{\phi_1\phi_2h}]^{\mu\nu}[V_{\phi_1\phi_2h}]^{\rho\sigma}[G_{\phi}]$$

$$(4.25)$$

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{FT},s}^{\mathrm{ddgg}} = \epsilon_{3\rho\sigma}\epsilon_{4\lambda\tau} [V_{\phi_1\phi_2h}]^{\gamma\delta} [G_h]_{\mu\nu;\gamma\delta} \left(T^{\mu\nu;\rho\sigma;\lambda\tau}(q,k_3,k_4) + T^{\rho\sigma;\mu\nu;\lambda\tau}(k_3,q,k_4) + T^{\mu\nu;\lambda\tau;\rho\sigma}(q,k_4,k_3) + T^{\rho\sigma;\lambda\tau;\mu\nu}(k_3,k_4,q) + T^{\lambda\tau;\mu\nu;\rho\sigma}(k_4,q,k_3) + T^{\lambda\tau;\rho\sigma;\mu\nu}(k_4,k_3,q) \right)$$

$$(4.26)$$

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{FT},c}^{\mathrm{ddgg}} = \epsilon_{3\rho\sigma}\epsilon_{4\lambda\tau} [V_{\phi\phi'hh'}]^{\rho\sigma\lambda\tau} , \qquad (4.27)$$

where we have not explicitly written the resulting Lorentz structure for brevity and ϵ_3 , ϵ_4 are the graviton polarisations which need to be replaced with $[G_h]^{\mu\nu;\rho\sigma}[B_h]_{\rho\sigma}$. Doing so and using the kinematics outlined in section 4.1.1 we have for the t-channel,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\rm FT,t}^{\rm ddgg} = -(-i)(-i\kappa_D)^2 (NT_p)^2 4E^4 \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^\perp k_3}{(2\pi)^\perp} \frac{d^\perp k_4}{(2\pi)^\perp} \frac{1}{k_3^2} \frac{1}{k_4^2} \delta^\perp (k_3 + k_4 - q) \frac{1}{t}$$

= $i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 2E^4 \mathcal{I}_3$, (4.28)

with an equivalent contribution for the u-channel. These two diagrams are the only ones that contribute to leading order in energy, $\mathcal{O}(E^3)$, in the full amplitude as we have seen with the result derived from using our effective bulk vertex method. We can now look at the two remaining diagrams which contribute to subleading order in energy, $\mathcal{O}(E^2)$. The s-channel diagram gives,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{FT,s}^{ddgg} = -(-i\kappa_D)(-2i\kappa_D) \left(-\frac{i}{2}\right) (NT_p)^2 \frac{1}{2} \\ \times \int \frac{d^{\perp}k_3}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{d^{\perp}k_4}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_3^2} \frac{1}{k_4^2} \delta^{\perp}(k_3 + k_4 - q) \left[4E^2 \frac{(D - 2p - 4)}{D - 2} \right] \\ + \frac{(D - p - 3)(1 + p)}{D - 2} \left(\frac{4}{s} (k_2 \cdot k_3) (k_2 \cdot k_3) + 2(k_1 \cdot k_3) \right) \right].$$
(4.29)

We also have for the contact diagram,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{FT,c}^{ddgg} = \left(\frac{i\kappa_D^2}{2}\right)(NT_p)^2 \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^{\perp}k_3}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{d^{\perp}k_4}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_3^2} \frac{1}{k_4^2} \delta^{\perp}(k_3 + k_4 - q) \left(\frac{16E^2(D - p - 3)}{D - 2} + \frac{4(1 + p)(D - p - 3)}{D - 2}(k_1 \cdot k_2)\right).$$

$$(4.30)$$

Summing the above two contributions yields

$$i\mathcal{A}_{FT,c}^{ddgg} + i\mathcal{A}_{FT,s}^{ddgg} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 \int \frac{d^{\perp}k_3}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{d^{\perp}k_4}{(2\pi)^{\perp}} \frac{1}{k_3^2} \frac{1}{k_4^2} \delta^{\perp}(k_3 + k_4 - q) \\ \times \left(4E^2 + \frac{(D - p - 3)(1 + p)}{D - 2}(k_1 \cdot k_3)(k_2 \cdot k_3)\right). \quad (4.31)$$

We can easily see by summing (4.28) and (4.31) that we are able to reproduce (4.23) using the supergravity Feynman rules.

Dilaton Sources

Here we calculate the amplitude for elastic dilaton-brane scattering with dilaton exchange by using the four-point dilaton string amplitude as the effective vertex. We have in the field theory limit of the string theory amplitude [122],

$$i\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{\text{dddd}} = i\kappa_D^2 \left(\frac{st}{u} + \frac{su}{t} + \frac{ut}{s}\right) \ . \tag{4.32}$$

As before, using our prescription, we include the relevant integrals arising from (4.6). When attaching dilatons the relevant factor, arising from $[G_{\phi}][B_{\phi}]$, is $-(iNT_p \frac{a(D)}{\sqrt{2}})^2$. Using this we have,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{\text{dddd}} = -i\left(NT_{p}\kappa_{D}\frac{a(D)}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^{2}\left(sk_{2\mu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu} + sk_{1\mu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu} + \frac{2}{s}k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu\nu}\right) . \quad (4.33)$$

It is trivial to compare these results with those found using supergravity Feynman rules and so we will not be comparing them explicitly here.

4.2.2 Dilaton to RR Inelastic Scattering

As with the elastic dilaton scattering case that we have considered in the previous subsection we can use the relevant equation in [123] for the four-point two NS-NS (with one state taken to be a dilaton and the other a graviton), two RR closed string amplitude as an effective vertex for calculating the amplitude for an inelastic transition from a dilaton to an RR field via the exchange of a graviton and an RR field with the D-branes. The bulk vertex needed is given by,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{dRgR} = -\frac{i\kappa_D^2}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{16a(D)}{n!} \Big[F_{24}\epsilon_3^{\mu\nu} \left(s^2 k_{2\mu} k_{2\nu} + uk_{4\mu} \left(uk_{4\nu} - 2sk_{2\nu} \right) \right) + nt \\ \times \left((n-1)tF_{24}^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}\epsilon_{3\beta\nu}k_{3\alpha}k_{3\mu} - F_{24}^{\alpha\mu} \left(uk_4^{\nu} - sk_2^{\nu} \right) \left(\epsilon_{3\mu\nu}k_{3\alpha} - \epsilon_{3\alpha\nu}k_{3\mu} \right) \right) \Big] ,$$

$$(4.34)$$

where the labels here correspond as follows; label 1 is associated with the external dilaton, label 2 is associated with the external RR field, label 3 is associated with the internal graviton and label 4 is associated with the internal RR field as shown in figure 8. After using our prescription and expressing (4.34) with momentum set (k_1, k_3, k_4) we find that the expression satisfies the condition described at the beginning of section 4.2 as required.



Figure 8: A schematic diagram showing our procedure for calculating the effective oneloop amplitude for dilaton to RR inelastic scattering. The circular blob represents the four-point effective vertex $\mathcal{A}_{bulk}^{dRgR}$ and the two oval blobs represent the D-branes. As before the solid lines correspond to dilatons, the wavy lines correspond to gravitons and the dashed lines correspond to RR fields.

By following the same approach discussed in the previous subsection, we find that after attaching the graviton to the D-branes, the integrand of (4.6) reads

$$\frac{16iN^2T_p\mu_p\kappa_D^2}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{1}{k_3^2}\frac{1}{k_4^2}\frac{a(D)}{n!}\left[\frac{s}{ut}F_{24}E^2 + F_{24}\frac{1+p}{D-2}\frac{s}{u} + nF_{24}^{\alpha\beta}\left\{\frac{1}{u}\left(\eta_{\parallel\beta\nu}k_1^{\nu}k_{3\alpha}\right) - \eta_{\parallel\alpha\nu}k_1^{\nu}k_{3\beta}\right) + \frac{1+p}{D-2}\left(\frac{1}{u}\left(k_{1\alpha}k_{3\beta} - k_{1\beta}k_{3\alpha}\right) + \frac{t}{us}\left((n-1)k_{3\alpha}k_{3\beta} - k_{4\alpha}k_{3\beta}\right)\right)\right\} - \frac{t}{us}F_{24}^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}\eta_{\parallel\beta\nu}k_{3\alpha}k_{3\mu}\right],$$
(4.35)

where the first term has been identified in advance as the term with the possible features needed to contribute to the leading energy behaviour of the amplitude.

In order to attach an RR leg to the D-branes, we need to rewrite the field strengths in terms of the potentials. We can explicitly calculate all the necessary combinations of field strengths that arise in (4.35) and rewrite them in terms of the potentials. It is important to recall that in these expressions one of the RR fields is attached to the D-branes (with label 4) and one is an external state (with label 2). We will first focus on the term that is relevant for the leading energy contribution and subsequently look at all other combinations. We have,

$$E^{2}F_{24} = E^{2} \left(k_{2}^{\mu_{1}} C^{(2)\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} + (-1)^{n-1} k_{2}^{\mu_{2}} C^{(2)\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}\mu_{1}} + ... \right)$$

$$\times \left[k_{4\mu_{1}} C^{(4)}_{\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} + (-1)^{n-1} k_{4\mu_{2}} C^{(4)}_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}\mu_{1}} + ... \right)$$

$$= E^{2} \left(n(k_{2} \cdot k_{4}) C^{(2)\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} C^{(4)}_{\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} + (-1)^{n-1} n(n-1) k_{2}^{\mu_{1}} C^{(2)\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} k_{4\mu_{2}} C^{(4)}_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}\mu_{1}} \right],$$

$$(4.36)$$

where we have identified the two terms in the last line above to be the only two distinct types of terms that arise, with the associated counting taken into account. The indices on $C^{(4)}$ have to lie in the space parallel to the D-brane world volume so $\mu_3 \dots \mu_n = 1 \dots p$ and we note that there are (n-2)! ways to do this. Furthermore $(k_2^{\mu_1})_{\parallel}$ only has a non-zero component for $\mu_1 = 0$ (μ_1 has to also lie along the D-branes as it is one of the indices on $C^{(4)}$) and so we have to all orders in E,

$$E^{2}F_{24} = E^{3}n!(k_{4} \cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}C^{(4)}_{0...p} + E^{2}n!(k_{2} \cdot k_{4})C^{(2)0...p}C^{(4)}_{0...p}, \qquad (4.38)$$

where we have used $(k_2)^0 = -E$ and $(-1)^{n-1}C_{1\dots p0}^{(4)} = -C_{0\dots p}^{(4)}$.

We now look at types of terms which contribute to the subleading energy behaviour of (4.35),

$$F_{24}^{\alpha\mu}\eta_{\parallel\alpha\nu}k_{1}^{\nu}k_{3\mu} = F_{24}^{0\mu}(k_{1})_{0}k_{3\mu}$$

$$= \left((k_{2})^{0}C^{(2)\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{2}^{\mu_{2}}C^{(2)\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}0} + ...\right)$$

$$\times \left(k_{4}^{\mu}C_{\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{4\mu_{2}}C_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)} + ...\right)(k_{1})_{0}k_{3\mu}$$

$$= \left((k_{2})^{0}C^{(2)\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{2}^{\mu_{2}}C^{(2)\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}0} + ...\right)$$

$$\times \left(k_{4}^{\mu}C_{\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)}\right)(k_{1})_{0}k_{3\mu}$$

$$= (n-1)!\left((k_{2})^{0}C^{(2)0...p} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{2}^{0}C^{(2)1...p0}\right)$$

$$\times \left((k_{3}\cdot k_{4})C_{0...p}^{(4)}\right)(k_{1})_{0}$$

$$= 0, \qquad (4.39)$$

where we have used the fact that the μ index has to be along the D-branes but $(k_3)_{\parallel} = 0$ in the third line and in the last line we have again used the fact that $(-1)^{n-1}C_{1\dots p0}^{(2)} = -C_{0\dots p}^{(2)}$. We also need,

$$F_{24}^{\alpha\beta}\eta_{\parallel\beta\mu}k_{1}^{\mu} = F_{2}^{\alpha\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}}\left(k_{4}^{\beta}C_{\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{4\mu_{2}}C_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)}\beta + ...\right)\eta_{\parallel\beta\mu}k_{1}^{\mu}$$

$$= -(n-1)!F_{2}^{\alpha\mu_{2}1...p}k_{4\mu_{2}}(k_{1})^{0}C_{0...p}^{(4)}$$

$$= -(n-1)!E\left[(k_{4}\cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}k_{2}^{\alpha} - (k_{2}\cdot k_{4})C^{(2)\alpha1...p}\right]C_{0...p}^{(4)}, \quad (4.40)$$

where in the second line we have used the fact that $(k_1 \cdot k_4)_{\parallel} = 0$. We also require,

$$F_{24}^{\alpha\beta}k_{1\beta} = F_{2}^{\alpha\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}} \left(k_{4}^{\beta}C_{\mu_{2}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{4\mu_{2}}C_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}}^{(4)}{}^{\beta} + ...\right)k_{1\beta}$$

$$= (n-1)! \left((k_{1} \cdot k_{4})F_{2}^{\alpha0...p}C_{0...p}^{(4)} - k_{4\mu_{2}}(k_{1})^{0}F_{2}^{\alpha\mu_{2}1...p}C_{0...p}^{(4)} + ...\right)$$

$$= (n-1)! \left[(k_{1} \cdot k_{4}) \left(k_{2}^{\alpha}C^{(2)0...p} + EC^{(2)\alpha1...p}\right) - E(k_{4} \cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}k_{2}^{\alpha} + E(k_{2} \cdot k_{4})C^{(2)\alpha1...p}\right]C_{0...p}^{(4)}, \qquad (4.41)$$

where we have used the properties of the gauge potentials outlined previously. We can

also have,

$$F_{24}^{\alpha\beta}k_{3\beta} = F_2^{\alpha\mu_2\dots\mu_n} \left(k_4^{\beta} C_{\mu_2\dots\mu_n}^{(4)} + (-1)^{n-1} k_{4\mu_2} C_{\mu_3\dots\mu_n}^{(4)}{}^{\beta} + \dots \right) k_{3\beta}$$

$$= (n-1)! \left((k_3 \cdot k_4) F_2^{\alpha0\dots p} C_{0\dots p}^{(4)} \right)$$

$$= (n-1)! (k_3 \cdot k_4) \left(k_2^{\alpha} C^{(2)0\dots p} + EC^{(2)\alpha1\dots p} \right) C_{0\dots p}^{(4)}, \qquad (4.42)$$

where in the second line we have again used the fact that the index β must lie parallel to the D-branes but $(k_3)_{\parallel} = 0$. Finally we have,

$$F_{24}^{\alpha\beta\mu\nu}\eta_{\parallel\beta\nu}k_{3\alpha}k_{3\mu} = F_{2}^{\alpha\beta\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}}\left(k_{4}^{\mu}C^{(4)\nu}{}_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{4}^{\nu}C^{(4)}{}_{\mu_{3}...\mu_{n}}{}^{\mu} + (-1)^{n-1}k_{4\mu_{3}}C^{(4)}{}_{\mu_{4}...\mu_{n}}{}^{\mu\nu} + ...\right)\eta_{\parallel\beta\nu}k_{3\alpha}k_{3\mu}$$

$$= (n-2)!\left(F_{2}^{\alpha0...p}k_{4}^{\mu}C^{(4)}_{0...p} + (-1)^{n-1}F_{2}^{\alpha\beta\mu_{3}2...p}k_{4\mu_{3}}C^{(4)}_{2...p}{}^{\mu\nu}\eta_{\parallel\beta\nu}\right)k_{3\alpha}k_{3\mu}$$

$$= (n-2)!(k_{3}\cdot k_{4})\left((k_{2}\cdot k_{3})C^{(2)0...p} + E(k_{3}\cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}\right)C^{(4)}_{0...p},$$

$$(4.43)$$

where in the third line we have again used the fact that the index μ must lie parallel to the D-branes but $(k_3)_{\parallel} = 0$.

Using these expressions we can write the integrand in (4.6) relevant to the inelastic dilaton to RR amplitude,

$$-i(N^{2}T_{p}\mu_{p}\kappa_{D}^{2})\frac{16a(D)}{\sqrt{2}}\frac{1}{k_{3}^{2}k_{4}^{2}}\left[\frac{s}{ut}\left(-E^{3}(k_{4}\cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}-E^{2}(k_{2}\cdot k_{4})C^{(2)0...p}\right)\right.\\\left.-\frac{t}{4}C^{(2)0...p}+\frac{E}{2}(k_{4}\cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}+\frac{1+p}{D-2}\left\{C^{(2)0...p}\left(\frac{s}{2u}E^{2}+\frac{(3+n)t}{4}+\frac{t^{2}}{4u}\right)\right.\\\left.+\frac{s}{2u}E(k_{4}\cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}+(k_{3}\cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}E\left(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{t}{2u}n\right)\right\}\right].$$

$$(4.44)$$

Inserting the integrals as per our prescription we obtain,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{dRgR} = -i(N^{2}T_{p}\mu_{p}\kappa_{D}^{2})\frac{8a(D)}{\sqrt{2}} \left[-(q \cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}E^{3}\mathcal{I}_{3} -(q \cdot k_{2})C^{(2)0...p}E^{2}\mathcal{I}_{3} + \frac{1}{2}k_{1\mu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu}C^{(2)0...p} + \frac{1}{2}EC_{\mu}^{(2)1...p}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu} + \frac{1+p}{D-2} \left\{ C^{(2)0...p} \left(-\frac{s}{2}E^{2}\mathcal{I}_{3} - \frac{(2+n)}{2}k_{1\mu}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu} + \frac{s}{4}\mathcal{I}_{2} - \frac{s^{2}}{4}\mathcal{I}_{3} \right) - \frac{s}{4}E(q \cdot C^{(2)})^{1...p}\mathcal{I}_{3} + \frac{1}{2}EC_{\mu}^{(2)1...p}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu} + EC_{\mu}^{(2)1...p} \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{I}_{2}^{\mu} - \frac{s}{4}q^{\mu}\mathcal{I}_{3} \right) \right\} \right],$$

$$(4.45)$$

where $q = k_1 + k_2$ is the momentum exchanged.

4.3 The Supergravity Eikonal

In this section we will focus on and derive explicit expressions for the leading and subleading high-energy behaviour of the various amplitudes we considered in section 4.2 and analyse their behaviour in the context of the eikonal approximation.

We can transform any of the amplitudes we have considered into impact parameter space by using,

$$\mathcal{A}_h(E, \mathbf{b}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{D-p-2}\mathbf{q}}{(2\pi)^{D-p-2}} e^{i\mathbf{b}\cdot\mathbf{q}} \mathcal{A}_h(E, q) , \qquad (4.46)$$

where h refers to the number of boundaries of the amplitude (i.e. the number of exchanges with the D-branes). The notation here is slightly different from chapter 2 to emphasise the difference between the scattering off D-branes we have here and the scattering of massive scalars we had there. We have also normalised the impact parameter transform differently and moved the normalisation to the definition of the eikonal below. We start by focusing on the elastic case where the leading energy behaviour of the tree-level amplitude, one-loop amplitude and amplitudes with a higher number of boundaries is universal and so does not display any non-trivial Lorentz structure. As we saw in chapter 2 by summing these contributions, we find that the S-matrix approximates to,

$$S_l(E, \mathbf{b}) \approx 1 + \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} \frac{\mathcal{A}_h^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b})}{2E} = e^{i\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b})} ,$$
 (4.47)

where $\mathcal{A}_{h}^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b})$ is the leading energy contribution of the amplitude with h boundaries and $\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b}) = \mathcal{A}_{h=1}^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b})/(2E)$ is called the leading eikonal. Note that $S_{l}(E, \mathbf{b})$ captures all the information in the leading energy term of all amplitudes. We can write something similar for the subleading energy contribution by starting from h = 2 and summing all the subleading contributions of the amplitudes at each number of boundaries. In this case we have the subleading eikonal given by $\delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b}) = \mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b})/(2E)$ where $\mathcal{A}_{h}^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b})$ is the subleading contribution to the amplitude with h boundaries.

In the following we want to emphasise the construction of the S-matrix in the eikonal approximation discussed in chapter 2 to include more general situations as for instance the presence of inelastic processes. Traditionally, for elastic processes, we write, including all contributions to all orders,

$$S(E, \mathbf{b}) \approx \exp\left(i\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b}) + i\delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b}) + \dots\right) , \qquad (4.48)$$

where $\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b})$ is the leading eikonal and $\delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b})$ is the subleading eikonal mentioned above. In subsection 4.3.1 we show that this statement holds in the case of
elastic dilaton scattering that we have already studied. In order to study this let us write the tree-level (h = 1) and one-loop (h = 2) amplitudes as,

$$\frac{i\mathcal{A}_1(E,\mathbf{b})}{2E} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)(A_{h=1}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b})E + A_{h=1}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})E^0 + \dots)$$
(4.49)

$$\frac{i\mathcal{A}_2(E,\mathbf{b})}{2E} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 (A_{h=2}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b})E^2 + A_{h=2}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})E + A_{h=2}^{(3)}(\mathbf{b})E^0 + \dots) , (4.50)$$

where we have divided by $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2E}}$ for each of the two external particles involved and where the *A* symbols correspond to $\mathcal{A}/2E$ where the dependence on energy has been factored out¹². Note here that in order to express the leading contributions as an exponential of the leading eikonal we have $iA_{h=2}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b}) = -\frac{1}{2}(A_{h=1}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b}))^2$.

In equations (4.49) and (4.50) we have also allowed for terms of order E^0 that, as we will see, are not present in the elastic dilaton scattering, but appear in the inelastic dilaton to RR scattering. We would like to extend the construction of the S-matrix in the eikonal approximation when these extra terms are present. Our proposal is that, in this more general case, (4.48) is written as follows,

$$S(E, \mathbf{b}) = \exp\left[\frac{i}{2}(\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b}) + \delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b}) + \ldots)\right] (1 + iT(E, \mathbf{b})) \times \\ \exp\left[\frac{i}{2}(\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b}) + \delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b}) + \ldots)\right], \qquad (4.51)$$

where $\delta^{(1)}(E, \mathbf{b})$ and $\delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b})$ are the leading eikonal and subleading eikonal respectively. The symbol $T(E, \mathbf{b})$ corresponds to all the non-diverging contributions to the amplitudes with any number of boundaries. For example the first contribution to $T(E, \mathbf{b})$ is $A_{h=1}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})$; the first contribution to the tree-level dilaton to dilaton scattering process that does not grow with E. We have written (4.51) in this way to account for when the eikonal and subleading eikonal behave as operators instead of phases. As can be seen from [106], in string theory eikonal operators become important and it could therefore be useful for future considerations to be aware of this fact. In the cases considered in this chapter the eikonal operators behave as phases and one can therefore recombine the exponentials. From the definitions above we see that to properly define the subleading eikonal we need,

$$i\frac{\delta^{(2)}(E,\mathbf{b})}{(NT_p\kappa_D)^2} = iA_{h=2}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})E - \left(\frac{1}{2}iA_{h=1}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})iA_{h=1}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b})E + \frac{1}{2}iA_{h=1}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b})iA_{h=1}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})E\right),\tag{4.52}$$

where all the symbols have been defined above and we note that $A_{h=2}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})$ represents the full subleading energy contribution derived from the one-loop amplitude in (4.50). Note that we have written (4.52) in the most general way possible accounting for the

¹²We also note here that we are using the amplitudes once stripped of factors of $i(2\pi)^{p+1}\delta^{p+1}(k_1+k_2)$.

possibility that $iA_{h=1}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b})$ is an operator instead of a phase. In the cases we consider in this chapter the eikonal operators become phases and the equation above reads $i\delta^{(2)}(E, \mathbf{b}) = (NT_p\kappa_D)^2 \left(iA_{h=2}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})E - iA_{h=1}^{(2)}(\mathbf{b})iA_{h=1}^{(1)}(\mathbf{b})E\right).$

4.3.1 Elastic Contributions to the Eikonal

We will calculate and discuss some explicit results in the high-energy limit for the interactions discussed in section 4.2 for elastic dilaton scattering and show how this relates to the elastic eikonal scattering amplitude framework discussed at the start of this section. All the results for the integrals used below can be found in chapter 3.2.

RR Sources

The first and second terms of (4.13) do not contribute to the high-energy limit. The first term is trivially E^0 as can be seen from the explicit expression for \mathcal{I}_2 in section 3.2.2. The second term is more subtle but is also not of $\mathcal{O}(E^2)$ due to the extra propagator present in the integrals (the 1/u and 1/t) which brings down a factor of 1/E after performing the integral, \mathcal{I}_3 . The remaining terms we have are,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(2)} \approx -i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 \left(\frac{4}{s}k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}\mathcal{I}_2^{\mu\nu} + 2E^2\mathcal{I}_2\right) .$$
 (4.53)

Substituting the results for the various integrals,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(2)} \approx i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E^2 \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} \times (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} (4(D-p-2)-2) .$$
(4.54)

Note that here and throughout this and the following section the \approx signifies that we have dropped some terms that are subleading in energy which arise from performing the integrals.

Graviton Sources

We can now substitute the relevant results for the integrals in (4.23) and identify which terms contribute to each power of energy. We have for the leading contribution,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(1)} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 4E^4\mathcal{I}_3^{(1)}$$

$$\approx -(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E^3 \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{6-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-6}{2}} . (4.55)$$

Note that in the last line we have used the solution for the leading energy contribution of \mathcal{I}_3 in section 3.2 which we have denoted as $\mathcal{I}_3^{(1)}$. This is the only contribution at leading order in energy. The u- and t-channel diagrams which produce this leading contribution also have subleading contributions arising from the subleading term in \mathcal{I}_3 ,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(2)} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 4E^4 \mathcal{I}_3^{(2)}$$

= $-i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E^2 \frac{2}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}}, (4.56)$

where $\mathcal{I}_3^{(2)}$ the subleading energy contribution to \mathcal{I}_3 . The other subleading contributions that arise from the second and third terms in (4.23) are,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(2)} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 \left(-\frac{2(D-2p-4)}{D-2} E^2 \mathcal{I}_2 + \frac{2(D-p-3)(1+p)}{D-2} \frac{1}{s} k_{1\mu} k_{2\nu} \mathcal{I}_2^{\mu\nu} \right)$$

$$\approx i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E^2 \left(\frac{4(D-2p-4)(D-p-2)}{D-2} + \frac{(D-p-3)(1+p)}{D-2} \right)$$

$$\times \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}}, \qquad (4.57)$$

and,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(2)} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E^2 \frac{4(D-p-3)}{D-2} \mathcal{I}_2$$

$$= -i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E^2 \frac{8(D-p-3)(D-p-2)}{D-2} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}}$$

$$\times \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}}, \qquad (4.58)$$

where we have separated the second and third terms of (4.23) into (4.57) and (4.58) purposefully in order to be able to more easily compare with the results obtained in section 4.4.

Dilaton Sources

The only term contributing to the leading energy behaviour in this case is,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dd}\,(2)} = -2i\kappa_D^2 \left(NT_p\frac{a(D)}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^2 \frac{1}{s}k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu}\mathcal{I}_2^{\mu\nu}$$

$$\approx i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 \left(\frac{a(D)}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^2 E^2 \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}},$$
(4.59)

where we have used the kinematics outlined in section 4.1.1.

Eikonal Scattering

We can use the results derived above to explicitly show that (4.47) holds for the elastic scattering of dilatons from D-branes. Note that we drop the vector notation for the impact parameter as only the magnitude, $b = |\mathbf{b}|$ appears below. Writing the leading energy behaviour of the tree-level and one-loop amplitudes in the form of (4.49) and (4.50) respectively and by converting these expressions into impact parameter space using (3.49), we find for the tree-level amplitude,

$$iA_{h=1}^{(1)e}(b) = \frac{i}{4\pi^{\frac{D-p-2}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{b^{D-p-4}}, \qquad (4.60)$$

$$iA_{h=1}^{(2)e}(b) = 0$$
, (4.61)

and for the one-loop amplitude,

$$iA_{h=2}^{(1)e}(b) = -\frac{1}{32\pi^{D-p-2}} \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{b^{2D-2p-8}}, \qquad (4.62)$$

$$iA_{h=2}^{(2)\,e}(b) = i\frac{1}{16\pi^{D-p-3/2}} \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-3}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-2p-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(D-p-4\right)} \frac{1}{b^{2D-2p-7}},\qquad(4.63)$$

where here we are focusing on the elastic component as reminded by the superscript e. We note that for the one-loop amplitude the contributions to $A_{h=2}^{(2)e}(b)$ arising from (4.54), (4.57), (4.58) and (4.59) sum to zero. This means that the only contribution to the subleading eikonal arises from the subleading contribution to the leading energy contribution, (4.56), where we recall that \mathcal{I}_3 has contributions at different powers of E.

We can now easily confirm that $iA_{h=2}^{(1)\,e}(b) = -\frac{1}{2}(A_{h=1}^{(1)\,e}(b))^2$ as required in order to see the exponentiation of the leading eikonal $\chi^{(1)}(E,b)$ in the elastic channel. We therefore find that the elastic dilaton scattering process we have considered behaves as predicted by the leading eikonal expression (4.47).

4.3.2 Inelastic Contributions to the Eikonal

As we have done in section 4.3.1 for the elastic dilaton scattering process, we can find the leading energy behaviour of the inelastic scattering of a dilaton and an RR field from the stack of D-branes that we studied in section 4.2.2. Looking at the leading energy contribution of (4.45) we find,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dR}\,(2)} = i(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 8a(D)(q\cdot C^{(2)})^{1\dots p} E^3 \mathcal{I}_3^{(1)}$$

$$\approx -(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 2a(D)E^2(q\cdot C^{(2)})^{1\dots p} \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{6-D+p}{2}\right)\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-6}{2}},$$
(4.64)

We can now apply the prescription outlined in (4.51) to (4.64). Writing the tree-level amplitude (4.4) in the form of (4.49) we find that

$$iA_{h=1}^{\mathrm{dR}(1)}(b) = 0$$
 (4.65)

$$iT(E,b) \approx iA_{h=1}^{\mathrm{dR}(2)}(b) = i\frac{a(D)}{4}(q \cdot C)^{1\dots p} \frac{1}{\pi^{\frac{D-p-2}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{b^{D-p-4}}.$$
 (4.66)

The other ingredients we need are $A_{h=2}^{(1)}(b)$ and $A_{h=2}^{(2)}(b)$ that we can read by comparing (4.64) and (4.50),

$$iA_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dR}(1)}(b) = 0 \tag{4.67}$$

$$iA_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dR}(2)}(b) = -\frac{a(D)}{16}(q \cdot C)^{1\dots p} \frac{1}{\pi^{D-p-2}} \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{b^{2D-2p-8}} .$$
(4.68)

We then need to calculate $iA_{h=1}^{(1)e}(b)iA_{h=1}^{dR(2)}(b)$ as this will show us what to subtract in order to obtain the well defined subleading eikonal $\delta^{(2)}(E,b)$, including the inelastic contributions discussed above. We note here that although this inelastic process does not contribute to the total $A_{h=1}^{(1)}(b)$ we have to take into account the contribution from the elastic processes described in section 4.3.1. We can easily verify by using (4.60) and (4.66) that,

$$iA_{h=2}^{\mathrm{dR}(2)}(b) - iA_{h=1}^{(1)\,e}(b)iA_{h=1}^{\mathrm{dR}(2)}(b) = 0 \tag{4.69}$$

and so we see that the inelastic dilaton to RR channel does not contribute to the subleading eikonal (4.52).

4.4 Alternative Computation of the Leading and Subleading Eikonal

In this section we discuss a more conventional way to compute the elastic scattering of a dilaton from a stack of Dp-branes both in Einstein gravity and in a theory of gravity extended to include the dilaton and RR fields. We will take the high energy limit and extract the leading and subleading eikonal, which agrees with the ones computed in the previous section. The leading eikonal is obtained from the tree diagram corresponding to the exchange of a graviton, while the subleading eikonal is derived from a number of one-loop diagrams that depend on which theory of gravity we consider. Since three of the one-loop diagrams are most easily obtained by first computing the one-point graviton amplitude and then attaching the three-point vertex containing two dilatons and one graviton, in the first subsection we compute the one-point amplitudes for the graviton, dilaton and RR field at the tree and one-loop level and we show that they are directly related to the large distance behaviour of the classical solution describing the Dp-branes to which the graviton, dilaton and RR field are coupled. In the second subsection we compute the contribution of the various field theory diagrams to the elastic dilaton scattering and from them we extract the leading and subleading eikonal.

4.4.1 One-point Amplitudes and the Classical Solution

In this subsection we will write the one-point functions for the graviton, dilaton and RR field in the gravity theory described by the bulk action given in (2.37) and the boundary action given by (2.39) as we've done in the previous sections. Using these two actions one can compute the contribution to the one-point amplitude of the diagram with the 3-graviton vertex yielding¹³,



Figure 9: The various contributions to the one-point function at subleading order used to construct the classical solution. Figure 9a is the contribution with the 3-graviton vertex and figures 9b and 9c are the contributions with RR fields and dilaton sources respectively. As before the solid lines correspond to dilatons, the wavy lines correspond to gravitons and the dashed lines correspond to RR fields.

$$\begin{split} \langle h_{\lambda\tau} \rangle_{(9a)} &= N^2 \kappa_D J_h^2 \left[\frac{|q_{\perp}|^{D-p-5}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} \right] \\ &\times \left\{ \frac{(D-3-p)(p+1)}{2(D-2)} \left[\eta_{\perp\lambda\tau} - (3-D+p) \frac{q_{\perp\lambda}q_{\perp\tau}}{q_{\perp}^2} \right] \\ &- 2 \frac{(D-p-2)(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2} \frac{q_{\perp\lambda}q_{\perp\tau}}{q_{\perp}^2} \end{split}$$

¹³In all one-point amplitudes we omit to explicitly write a δ -function that constrains the longitudinal component of the momentum to be vanishing.

$$-\frac{2(D-p-2)(D-p-3)^2}{(D-2)^2}\eta_{\parallel\lambda\tau} - \frac{2(D-p-2)(p+1)^2}{(D-2)^2}\eta_{\perp\lambda\tau}\Big\},\qquad(4.70)$$

The sum of the contributions from the diagrams with the dilaton and the RR field is given by

$$\begin{split} \langle h \rangle_{(9b)+(9c)} &= N^2 \kappa_D \left[\frac{|q_{\perp}|^{D-p-5}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} \right] \\ &\times \left\{ \frac{J_{\phi}^2}{2} \Big[\eta_{\perp\lambda\tau} - (3-D+p) \frac{q_{\perp\lambda}q_{\perp\tau}}{q_{\perp}^2} \Big] \\ &+ \frac{\mu_p^2}{2} \Big[-\frac{2(D-p-2)(D-p-3)}{D-2} \eta_{\parallel\lambda\tau} + \frac{2(D-p-2)(p+1)}{D-2} \eta_{\perp\lambda\tau} \\ &- \Big[\eta_{\perp\lambda\tau} - (3-D+p) \frac{q_{\perp\lambda}q_{\perp\tau}}{q_{\perp}^2} \Big] \Big] \right\} . \end{split}$$
(4.71)

Summing the three contributions we get

$$\begin{split} \langle h \rangle_{(9a)+(9b)+(9c)} &= N^2 \kappa_D \left[\frac{|q_{\perp}|^{D-p-5}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} \right] \\ &\times \left\{ -2 \frac{(D-p-2)(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2} \frac{q_{\perp\lambda}q_{\perp\tau}}{q_{\perp}^2} \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{2(D-p-2)}{D-2} (D-p-3)\eta_{\parallel\lambda\tau} \left[J_h^2 \frac{D-p-3}{D-2} + \frac{\mu_p^2}{2} \right] \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{2(D-p-2)}{D-2} (p+1)\eta_{\perp\lambda\tau} \left[J_h^2 \frac{p+1}{D-2} - \frac{\mu_p^2}{2} \right] \right\}, \end{split}$$
(4.72)

where from the expressions for J_{ϕ} , μ_p and a(D) defined in the relevant subsections of 2.2, we have used the fact that the following quantity vanishes,

$$\frac{(D-p-3)(p+1)}{2(D-2)}J_h^2 + \frac{J_{\phi}^2}{2} - \frac{\mu_p^2}{2} = 0.$$
(4.73)

We neglect for a moment the term in the second line of (4.72) that corresponds to a gauge transformation of the metric as we will discuss it in subsection 4.4.3 where we will see that it must be neglected if we want the metric in the harmonic gauge.

Going from momentum to position space, (4.72) becomes,

$$\begin{split} \langle \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{(9a)+(9b)+(9c)} &= \frac{N^2 \kappa_D}{D-2} \left(\frac{1}{(D-p-3)\Omega_{D-p-2} r^{D-p-3}} \right)^2 \\ \times \left\{ \eta_{\parallel\mu\nu} (D-p-3) \left[J_h^2 \frac{D-p-3}{D-2} + \frac{\mu_p^2}{2} \right] + (p+1)\eta_{\perp\mu\nu} \left[J_h^2 \frac{p+1}{D-2} - \frac{\mu_p^2}{2} \right] \right\}, \end{split}$$

$$(4.74)$$

where we note that the tilde signifies the Fourier transform to position space. The expression in position space can be obtained by using (3.49). Inserting the explicit quantities (4.74) becomes,

$$\langle 2\kappa_D \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{(9a)+(9b)+(9c)} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r} \right)^{2(D-p-3)} \\ \times \left\{ \eta_{\parallel\mu\nu} \frac{D-p-3}{D-2} \left[\frac{D-p-3}{D-2} + 1 \right] + \frac{p+1}{D-2} \eta_{\perp\mu\nu} \left[\frac{p+1}{D-2} - 1 \right] \right\} ,$$

$$(4.75)$$

where we have introduced the following quantity,

$$\frac{2N\kappa_D T_p}{(D-p-3)\Omega_{D-p-2}r^{D-p-3}} \equiv \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} \quad ; \quad \Omega_d \equiv \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d+1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \,. \tag{4.76}$$

We note that (4.75) provides the total one-loop contribution to the one-point graviton amplitude. The tree contribution can also be easily computed from the bulk and boundary actions yielding,

$$\langle 2\kappa_D \tilde{h}_{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle_1 = -\left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} \left(\frac{D-p-3}{D-2}\eta_{\mu\nu}^{\parallel} - \frac{p+1}{D-2}\eta_{\mu\nu}^{\perp}\right) , \qquad (4.77)$$

which is the Fourier transform of the following amplitude in momentum space,

$$\langle h_{\mu\nu} \rangle_1 = -\frac{NT_p}{q_{\perp}^2} \left(\frac{D-p-3}{D-2} \eta_{\parallel\mu\nu} - \frac{p+1}{D-2} \eta_{\perp\mu\nu} \right) \,.$$
 (4.78)

Note that we are using the same notation as in section 4.2 with subscripts 1 and 2 representing tree diagrams and one-loop diagrams respectively. In an extended gravity theory also containing the dilaton and the RR field we have to include the one-point amplitude for the dilaton and the RR field. The one-loop one-point amplitude for the dilaton is given by the sum of two diagrams. One with the vertex containing two dilatons and one graviton and the other with the vertex with one dilaton and two RR fields. It turns out that the first diagram is vanishing while the second one gives,

$$\langle \phi \rangle_2 = \frac{a(D)\sqrt{2}N^2\kappa_D}{2}\mu_p^2(2-D+p) \left[\frac{|q_\perp|^{D-p-5}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}}\Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right)\frac{\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)}\right] (4.79)$$

where the dilaton field has been canonically normalised. From (4.79) we can go to position space,

$$\langle \sqrt{2\kappa_D}\tilde{\phi} \rangle_2 = \frac{a(D)}{4} \left(\frac{2N\kappa_D T_p}{(D-p-3)\Omega_{D-p-2}r^{D-p-3}} \right)^2 = \frac{a(D)}{4} \left(\frac{R_p}{r} \right)^{2(D-p-3)} , \quad (4.80)$$

where we have used that $\mu_p = \sqrt{2}T_p$. We also have the tree diagram that in momentum space gives the following contribution,

$$\langle \phi \rangle_1 = N J_\phi \frac{1}{q_\perp^2} , \qquad (4.81)$$

which in position space becomes,

$$\langle \sqrt{2}\kappa_D \tilde{\phi} \rangle_1 = \frac{J_\phi}{\sqrt{2}T_p} \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} = -\frac{a(D)}{2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} . \tag{4.82}$$

The one-loop one-point amplitude for the RR fields gets a contribution from two diagrams; one with the vertex involving two RR fields and one graviton and the other involving again two RR fields and a dilaton. The sum of the two is equal, in momentum space, to,

$$\langle C_{01\dots p} \rangle_2 = 4N^2 T_p \kappa_D \mu_p (D-p-2) \left[\frac{|q_\perp|^{D-p-5}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{3-D+p}{2}\right) \frac{\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} \right] ,$$
(4.83)

which in position space becomes,

$$\langle \tilde{C}_{01\dots p} \rangle_2 = -4N^2 T_p \kappa_D \mu_p \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{(D-p-3)\Omega_{D-p-2} r^{D-p-3}} \right)^2 , \qquad (4.84)$$

where the field $C_{01...p}$ is canonically normalised. In order to compare this with the classical solution, we need the quantity,

$$\langle \sqrt{2}\kappa_D \tilde{C}_{01\dots p} \rangle_2 = -\left(\frac{2N\kappa_D T_p}{(D-p-3)\Omega_{D-p-2}r^{D-p-3}}\right)^2 = -\left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)}$$
. (4.85)

The tree diagram can also be easily computed, we find

$$\langle \sqrt{2}\kappa_D \tilde{C}_{01\dots p} \rangle_1 = -\frac{2NT_p\kappa_D}{(D-p-3)\Omega_{D-p-2}r^{D-p-3}} = \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} .$$
 (4.86)

The previous diagrammatic results, obtained for the various one-point amplitudes, can be compared with the large distance expansion of the classical solution. It turns out that the tree diagrams reproduce the first correction to the flat limit of the classical solution when $r \to \infty$, while the one-loop diagrams reproduce the subleading correction to the flat limit. The classical solution is given by [120],

$$ds^{2} \equiv g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = [H(r)]^{-\frac{D-p-3}{D-2}}dx_{\parallel}^{2} + [H(r)]^{\frac{p+1}{D-2}}dx_{\perp}^{2}$$

$$e^{-\sqrt{2}\kappa_{D}\phi} = (H(r))^{a(D)/2} \quad ; \quad \sqrt{2}\kappa_{D}C_{01\dots p} = 1 - H^{-1}(r) \quad , \quad (4.87)$$

where,

$$H(r) = 1 + \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} .$$
 (4.88)

Expanding the two terms appearing in the metric, we get,

$$[H(r)]^{-\frac{D-p-3}{D-2}} = 1 - \frac{D-p-3}{D-2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{D-p-3}{D-2} \left(\frac{D-p-3}{D-2} + 1\right) \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)} + \dots, \qquad (4.89)$$

and

$$[H(r)]^{\frac{p+1}{D-2}} = 1 + \frac{p+1}{D-2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{p+1}{D-2} \left(\frac{p+1}{D-2} - 1\right) \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)} + \dots$$
(4.90)

Remembering that in our notation $g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + 2\kappa_D h_{\mu\nu}$, we see that for $r \to \infty$ we get the flat Minkowski metric. Then, comparing (4.87), (4.89) and (4.90) with (4.77) and (4.75), we see that the first correction to the flat space metric is given by the tree diagram of the one-point graviton amplitude, while the next correction is given by the one-loop diagram contribution to the one-point graviton amplitude. Expanding in a similar way the classical solution for the dilaton we get,

$$-\sqrt{2}\kappa_D \phi = \frac{a(D)}{2} \log\left(1 + \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3}\right) \\ = \frac{a(D)}{2} \left(\left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)} + \dots\right) .$$
(4.91)

These two terms are reproduced by the tree diagram in (4.82) and the one-loop term in (4.80) respectively. Similarly expanding the solution for the RR field yields,

$$\sqrt{2}\kappa_D C_{01\dots p} = 1 - H^{-1} = \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{D-p-3} - \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)} + \dots \quad (4.92)$$

Again we find that these two terms are equal to those in (4.86) and (4.85).

In conclusion, we have shown that the various terms of the expansion of the classical solution can be reproduced by computing the one-point amplitude of the corresponding fields.

4.4.2 Elastic Dilaton Scattering in Extended Gravity

In this subsection we compute the elastic dilaton scattering amplitude in an extended theory of gravity with a dilaton and an RR field as in section 4.3.1. It consists of one tree diagram and five one-loop diagrams. The tree diagram and the sum of three one-loop diagrams can be obtained directly from the one-point amplitude computed in the previous subsection by saturating it with the three-point amplitude of two dilatons and one graviton given in (2.34). For the tree diagram we find the following¹⁴,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{1}^{\rm dd} = i\frac{2NT_{p}\kappa_{D}}{(-s)} \left(\frac{D-p-3}{D-2}(k_{1}\cdot k_{2})_{\parallel} - \frac{p+1}{D-2}(k_{1}\cdot k_{2})_{\perp}\right) = i\frac{2NT_{p}\kappa_{D}E^{2}}{(-s)}, \quad (4.93)$$

where we have neglected terms without the pole at $s \sim 0$ as well as terms negligible at high energy (see kinematics in (4.1)). We find that this is in agreement with (4.3).

The first one-loop diagram corresponds to the separate exchange of two gravitons that are then attached to the Dp-branes. One gets,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,t}^{\text{ddgg}} = i(N\kappa_D T_p)^2 4E^4 \int \frac{d^{D-p-1}k}{(2\pi)^{D-p-1}} \frac{1}{(k_1-k)_{\perp}^2 k^2 (k_2+k)_{\perp}^2} , \qquad (4.94)$$

where $k^2 \equiv -E^2 + k_{\perp}^2$. At high energy we obtain a leading term given by,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,t}^{\text{ddgg}} \approx -\frac{2(N\kappa_D T_p)^2 E^3 \sqrt{\pi}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{6-D+p}{2}\right) \Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-6}{2}} , \qquad (4.95)$$

and a subleading term equal to,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,t}^{\text{ddgg}} \approx -i\frac{(N\kappa_D T_p)^2 2E^2}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{5-D+p}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-3}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-4)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} .$$
(4.96)

Comparing (4.95) and (4.96) with the equivalent results (4.55) and (4.56) derived in section 4.3 we again find agreement. The second diagram contains a vertex with two dilatons and two gravitons with the gravitons attached to the D-branes. We find that,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,c}^{\text{ddgg}} = i(N\kappa_D T_p)^2 \int \frac{d^{D-p-1}k}{(2\pi)^{D-p-1}} \frac{1}{k_{\perp}^2 (q-k)_{\perp}^2} \times \frac{D-3-p}{D-2} \left(-(p+1)(k_1 \cdot k_2) + 4(k_1 \cdot k_2)_{\parallel} \right) .$$
(4.97)

In the high energy limit we can neglect the first term in the round bracket in the second

¹⁴In this case we also omit writing the factor $(2\pi)^{p+1}\delta^{(p+1)}(k_1+k_2)$ of momentum conservation along the directions of the D*p*-brane.

line and we find,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,c}^{\text{ddgg}} \approx -i\frac{(N\kappa_D T_p)^2 8E^2}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-1-p}{2}}} \frac{(D-p-3)(D-p-2)}{D-2} \times \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3-D+p}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-3)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}}.$$
(4.98)

We can easily see that this is equivalent to (4.58). Finally, the last three one-loop diagrams are obtained by saturating the one-point amplitudes in (4.70) and (4.71) with the vertex in (2.34). Let us start with the one-loop diagram in (4.70). The term with $(k_1 \cdot k_2)$ in (2.34) and the second term in the second line and the term in the third line of (4.70) do not contribute at high energy. The remaining terms give,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,s}^{\text{ddgg}} \approx i\frac{(N\kappa_D T_p E)^2}{D-2} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3-D+p}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} \times ((D-p-3)(p+1) + 4(D-p-2)(D-2p-4)) .$$
(4.99)

Once again comparing this with our results from section 4.3 we see that the equation above is equivalent to (4.57). Let us do the same analysis with (4.71). Again the term with $(k_1 \cdot k_2)$ in (2.34) does not contribute at high energy. Also the terms with $q_{\perp\lambda}q_{\perp\tau}$ do not contribute at high energy. We are therefore left with the following expression,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,s}^{\rm ddRR} + i\mathcal{A}_{2,s}^{\rm dddd} \approx iN^2 \kappa_D^2 E^2 \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3-D+p}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} \times \left(J_{\phi}^2 + \mu_p^2 \left(2(D-p-2)-1\right)\right) .$$
(4.100)

Inserting the relevant expression for J_{ϕ} and using $\mu_p = \sqrt{2T_p}$,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2,s}^{\text{ddRR}} + i\mathcal{A}_{2,s}^{\text{dddd}} \approx i(N\kappa_D T_p E)^2 \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D-p-1}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{3-D+p}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{\Gamma(D-p-1)} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\frac{D-p-5}{2}} \times \left[\left(2 - \frac{(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2}\right) + (4(D-p-2)-2) \right], \qquad (4.101)$$

where the first round bracket in the second line comes from the dilaton, while the second round bracket comes from the RR contribution. This can be compared to the sum of (4.54) and (4.59), which agrees with what is written above.

The total eikonal, including both leading and subleading contributions, is defined as $\delta(b, E) = \delta^{(1)}(E, b) + \delta^{(2)}(E, b)$, where the $\delta^{(i)}(E, b)$ have been defined in section 4.3. From the various expressions computed in this section we arrive at the following expression,

$$\begin{split} \delta(b,E) &= \frac{N\kappa_D^2 \tau_p}{4} E \frac{\Gamma(\frac{D-p-4}{2})}{\pi^{\frac{D-p-2}{2}} b^{D-p-4}} + \frac{(N\kappa_D^2 \tau_p)^2 E \Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-3}{2})\Gamma(D-p-\frac{7}{2})}{16 \pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}} \Gamma(D-p-4) b^{2D-2p-7}} \\ &+ \frac{(N\kappa_D^2 \tau_p)^2 E \Gamma(D-p-\frac{7}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{16(3+p-D)\Gamma(D-p-1) \pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}} b^{2D-2p-7}} \\ &\times \left\{ -\frac{8(D-p-2)(D-p-3)}{D-2} + \frac{4(D-p-2)(D-2p-4)}{D-2} + \frac{4(D-p-2)(D-2p-4)}{D-2} + \left[4(D-p-2)-2\right] + \left[2 - \frac{(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2}\right] \right\}, \end{split}$$
(4.102)

where τ_p is the physical D*p*-brane tension, $\tau_p = \frac{T_p}{\kappa_D}$. The first line contains the leading contribution given by the tree diagram with a graviton exchange and the subleading term of one-loop diagram with two graviton exchanges, the third line gives the contribution of the one-loop seagull diagram and the fourth line gives the contribution of the one-loop diagram with the 3-graviton vertex. Finally the first square bracket in the last line gives the contribution of the one-loop diagram with the RR fields attached to the D*p*-branes, while the last square bracket gives that of the dilaton attached to the D*p*-branes.

It is easy to show, in this extended theory of gravity, that the subleading contribution contained inside the big curly brackets vanishes. In this case the sum of the leading and subleading eikonal reduces just to the expression in the first line of (4.102). This is in agreement with the same result obtained in [86] for D = 10 and the results found in section 4.3.

4.4.3 Pure Einstein Gravity

In this section we will consider the case of pure Einstein gravity. Let us start by considering the one-point graviton amplitude where only the tree diagram with the graviton exchange and the one-loop diagram with the three-graviton vertex contribute. They are given in momentum space by (4.77) and (4.70), respectively. Going to position space we find,

$$\langle \eta_{\mu\nu} + 2\kappa_D h_{\mu\nu} \rangle$$

$$= \left[1 - \frac{D - p - 3}{D - 2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r} \right)^{D - p - 3} + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{D - p - 3}{D - 2} \right)^2 \left(\frac{R_p}{r} \right)^{2(D - p - 3)} + \dots \right] \eta_{\parallel \mu\nu}$$

$$+ \left[1 + \frac{p + 1}{D - 2} \left(\frac{R_p}{r} \right)^{D - p - 3} \right]$$

$$-\frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{(D-p-3)^2(p+1)}{2(D-2)(D-p-2)} - 2\left(\frac{p+1}{D-2}\right)^2 \right) \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)} + \dots \left] \eta_{\perp\mu\nu} \\ -\frac{1}{4(5+p-D)} \left(\frac{(D-p-3)^2(p+1)}{2(D-2)(D-p-2)} - \frac{2(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2} \right) \\ \times \left(\eta_{\perp\mu\nu} - 2(D-p-3)\frac{r_{\mu}r_{\nu}}{r^2} \right) \left(\frac{R_p}{r}\right)^{2(D-p-3)},$$
(4.103)

where in the right-hand-side we have added the contribution of the flat Minkowski metric for $r \to \infty$. Notice that in the equation above we have now included the term in the third line of (4.70) that was neglected in subsection 4.4.1 and the term in the second line of the same equation that was cancelled by the additional contributions of the dilaton and RR field. It can be checked that the term in the third line of (4.70), that we have neglected, gives the second term in the second to last line of (4.103).

To make contact with existing literature let us consider the case D = 4 and p = 0 where,

$$N\tau_0 = \frac{NT_0}{\kappa_4} \equiv M \quad ; \quad R_p \to 4G_N M \; . \tag{4.104}$$

Then (4.103) becomes,

$$\langle \eta_{\mu\nu} + 2\kappa_4 h_{\mu\nu} \rangle = \left[1 - \frac{4MG_N}{2r} + \frac{1}{8} \left(\frac{4MG_N}{r} \right)^2 + \dots \right] \eta_{00}$$

$$+ \left[1 + \frac{4MG_N}{2r} + \frac{1}{4} (\frac{1}{4} + 1) \left(\frac{4MG_N}{r} \right)^2 \right] \eta_{ij}$$

$$+ (\frac{1}{8} - 1) \frac{r_i r_j}{2r^2} \left(\frac{4MG_N}{r} \right)^2 ,$$
 (4.105)

where the second term in the two round brackets in the last line comes from the term in the third line of (4.70). The subscript 0 corresponds to the time coordinate, while i, j correspond to the three spatial coordinates. It is easy to check that the previous metric satisfies the following condition at each order in G_N ,

$$\partial^{\nu} h_{\nu\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} h = 0 \; ; \; h \equiv h_{\mu\nu} \eta^{\mu\nu} \; .$$
 (4.106)

If we want the one-point amplitude in the harmonic gauge the term of order G_N^2 must satisfy (54) of [150] instead of the equation above. This is obtained by neglecting in (4.105) the second term in the two round brackets. With this gauge choice (4.105) becomes,

$$\langle g_{\mu\nu} \rangle = \left(1 - \frac{2MG_N}{r} + \frac{2M^2 G_N^2}{r^2} \right) \eta_{00} + \left(1 + \frac{2MG_N}{r} + \frac{M^2 G_N^2}{r^2} \right) \eta_{ij}$$

$$+\frac{r_i r_j}{r^2} \frac{M^2 G_N^2}{r^2} . aga{4.107}$$

In the final part of this subsection we consider the leading and subleading eikonal in the case of pure Einstein gravity. It can be easily obtained from the one in (4.102) by neglecting the last line. We find that,

$$\delta(b,E) = \frac{N\kappa_D^2 \tau_p}{4} E \frac{\Gamma(\frac{D-p-4}{2})}{\pi^{\frac{D-p-2}{2}} b^{D-p-4}} + \frac{(N\kappa_D^2 \tau_p)^2 E \Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-3}{2})\Gamma(D-p-\frac{7}{2})}{16 \pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}} \Gamma(D-p-4) b^{2D-2p-7}} + \frac{(N\kappa_D^2 \tau_p)^2 E \Gamma(D-p-\frac{7}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-p-1}{2})}{16(3+p-D)\Gamma(D-p-1) \pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}} b^{2D-2p-7}} \times \left\{ -4(D-p-2) + \frac{(p+1)(D-p-3)}{D-2} \right\}.$$
(4.108)

If we look at the case for D = 4 and p = 0, we see that the last term in the first line does not contribute and regularising the first term,

$$\frac{\Gamma(\frac{D-p-4}{2})}{b^{D-p-4}} \Longrightarrow -2\log b , \qquad (4.109)$$

we find that,

$$\delta^{(D=4;p=0)} = -4G_N M E \log b + \frac{\pi (G_N M)^2 E}{2b} \left(8 - \frac{1}{2}\right)$$
$$= -4G_N M E \log b + \frac{15\pi (G_N M)^2 E}{4b} , \qquad (4.110)$$

where the first term in the round bracket comes from the seagull diagram, while the second comes from the one-loop diagram with the 3-graviton vertex. It agrees with the classical part of the eikonal derived in [88] and with the eikonal derived in [67,69]. From the eikonal we can derive the deflection angle for a massless particle,

$$\theta = -\frac{1}{E} \frac{\partial}{\partial b} \delta^{(D=4;p=0)} = \frac{4G_N M}{b} + \frac{15\pi (G_N M)^2}{4b^2} + \dots , \qquad (4.111)$$

where the dots refer to terms with higher powers of b in the denominator and we have used the expression for the deflection angle given by (2.124). The first term is the old result from Einstein, while the second term agrees with recent calculations in [49, 67, 69, 88]. The results in this subsection are also considered as a probe-limit of the more general pure gravity scenario we will consider in chapter 6.

Using (4.108) we can also calculate the deflection angle for D dimensions and p = 0.

We find,

$$\theta = -\frac{1}{E}\frac{\partial}{\partial b}\delta^{(p=0)} = \sqrt{\pi}\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)}\left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^{D-3} + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2}\frac{\Gamma\left(D-\frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(D-2\right)}\left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^{2D-6} , \quad (4.112)$$

where R_s is the "Schwarzschild radius" defined in appendix A.1. Comparing this result with (A.19), where the deflection angle has been calculated from the metric for the *D*-dimensional generalisation of a Schwarzschild black hole, we find perfect agreement. Note that we cannot compare the result for general p because the D-brane coupling used in [151] is different to the one we are using here.

4.5 Discussion

In this chapter we have discussed how to extract, from scattering amplitudes, classical quantities such as the classical solution related to the backreaction of a heavy source and the eikonal describing a scattering process in the Regge regime. The general ideas are well known and have been exploited in several previous papers to obtain these quantities in the limit of large distance or impact parameter, see for instance [152,153]. Furthermore we have presented a detailed analysis of the first subleading corrections to the limit mentioned above by focusing on type II supergravity in the presence of a stack of parallel Dp-branes as an example. In the case of the eikonal, these corrections are determined by the subleading energy contributions in the Regge regime and so probe the structure of the gravitational theory in more detail. For instance the leading eikonal receives contributions only from ladder diagrams where gravitons are exchanged, while the subleading eikonal involves diagrams with different topologies and lower spin states. This raises the possibility, at the first subleading order, that the eikonal should be described by an operator instead of a simple phase since inelastic processes become possible. Note that in gravitational theories with a higher derivative modification of the 3-graviton vertex this already happens at the level of leading eikonal [103].

Chapter 5

The Eikonal in Kaluza-Klein Gravity

This chapter is based on the paper [2]. Here we discuss the eikonal in the context of Kaluza-Klein gravity with a background manifold, $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$.

This chapter is structured as follows. In section 5.1 we introduce the action for Einstein gravity coupled to a real massless scale in D dimensions and its compactification to D-1 dimensions on a circle, resulting in a Kaluza-Klein tower of charged massive scalars coupled to the massless graviton, dilaton and U(1) gauge field. Although there are also the massive Kaluza-Klein excitations of states of these aforementioned fields, they contribute to inelastic scattering of the massive charged scalars in D-1dimensions. We will focus on the eikonal of elastic scattering processes in this chapter. In section 5.2 we look at $2 \rightarrow 2$ Born scattering (single graviton exchange) of scalars in a compactified background, $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ by quantizing the momentum along the circle as usual. We show how the resulting amplitude can be interpreted in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2}$ as the scattering of 2 charged scalar fields with Kaluza-Klein masses m_1 and m_2 via single graviton, photon and dilaton exchange. We also perform consistency checks on the amplitude to show how we may recover the expected results in the $R \to \infty$ and $R \to 0$ limits where R is the radius of the compactified circle. In appendix C we show that in impact parameter space the corresponding one-loop contribution to the $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ is related to the square of the tree-level expression in precisely the way required for the eikonal phase to exponentiate. There is however a technical limitation in our proof which requires us to restrict to the case D = 5. In section 5.3 we look at various limits of the leading order eikonal expression. We also relate the subleading eikonal in the Kaluza-Klein theory in a particular limit to the subleading eikonal from scattering massless states from a stack of Dp-branes. In section 5.4 we briefly discuss our results.

5.1 Kaluza-Klein Theory

In this section we briefly consider some aspects of Kaluza-Klein theory [154,155] which we will use throughout the chapter. For definiteness we consider the case D = 5 and thus $\mathbb{R}^{1,4}$ compactified to $\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times S^1$. We first need to identify the correct charges of the massive Kaluza-Klein scalars. We start with the D = 5 gravity action coupled to a real massless scalar field,

$$S_5 = \int d^5x \sqrt{-\hat{g}} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa_5^2} \hat{R} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_M \Phi \partial_N \Phi \hat{g}^{MN} \right) , \qquad (5.1)$$

with indices M, N = 0, ..., 4 and $\kappa_5^2 = 8\pi G_5$, $\hat{g} = \det(\hat{g}_{MN})$. Note that the hat denotes D = 5 quantities. Taking the standard form for the Kaluza-Klein D = 5 line element (with coordinate x^5 parametrizing the circle of radius R),

$$d\hat{S}^2 = \phi^{-1/3} g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \phi^{2/3} (dx^5 + \lambda A_{\mu} dx^{\mu})^2 , \qquad (5.2)$$

where $g_{\mu\nu}$, A_{μ} and ϕ denote the D = 4 graviton, U(1) gauge field and dilaton respectively. Substituting the metric given by (5.2) into (5.1), including both the D = 4massless modes arising from the D = 5 metric as well as the infinite tower of massive Kaluza-Klein states arising from Φ , we find that the D = 4 action [156] is given by,

$$S_{4} = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa_{4}^{2}} R - \frac{1}{4} \phi F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{96\pi G_{4}} \frac{1}{\phi^{2}} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left((D_{\mu} \Phi_{n}) (D^{\mu} \Phi_{n}^{*}) + m_{n}^{2} \phi^{2} \Phi_{n}^{*} \Phi_{n} \right) \right),$$
(5.3)

where $\kappa_4^2 = 8\pi G_4$, we note that the D = 5 and D = 4 gravitational constants are related by $G_5 = 2\pi R G_4$ and the parameter λ appearing in the D = 5 metric ansatz, (5.2), is fixed to be $\lambda = \sqrt{16\pi G_4}$ in order to obtain the canonical form of the Maxwell term in the S_4 action. It is conventional to redefine the dilaton $\phi = e^{\sigma\sqrt{48\pi G_4}}$ which leads to a canonical kinetic term for σ . With this substitution we find,

$$S_{4} = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2\kappa_{4}^{2}} R - \frac{1}{4} e^{\sigma\sqrt{48\pi G_{4}}} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu}\sigma \partial^{\mu}\sigma - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left((D_{\mu}\Phi_{n}) (D^{\mu}\Phi_{n}^{*}) + e^{-\sigma\sqrt{48\pi G_{4}}} m_{n}^{2}\Phi_{n}^{*}\Phi_{n} \right) \right).$$
(5.4)

Expanding the terms in the action about $\sigma = 0$ we see that the Φ_n fields are massive, charged complex scalars, with $D_{\mu}\Phi_n = (\partial_{\mu}\Phi_n - iQ_nA_{\mu}\Phi_n)$ and charges given by $Q_n = n\sqrt{16\pi G_4}/R$.

5.2 Scattering on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ in the Born approximation

In this section we want to consider the case of large s fixed t eikonal scattering but where one of the spatial transverse directions has been compactified on a circle of radius R. The calculation is similar to the uncompactified case, discussed in section 6.1.1, except that we have to replace an integration over continuous momentum with a sum over discrete quantized momentum along the S^1 when Fourier transforming the amplitude into impact parameter space.

Let us define $q = (\mathbf{q}', q_s)$ with $q_s = n/R$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ being the integer valued momentum number. Correspondingly, we partition the impact parameter b previously defined over D-2 transverse directions into its components along the D-3 transverse directions and the circle S^1 and so we define $b = (\mathbf{b}', b_s)$. It will also be useful to define the new Mandelstam variable s' pertaining to D-1 dimensional spacetime, so $s' = -(p'_1 + p'_2)^2$ where ' denotes momenta restricted to $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2}$. We thus have the relation $s = s' - \frac{(n_1+n_2)^2}{R^2}$.

We note that in order to get the corresponding impact parameter space amplitude in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ we need to perform the following change,

$$\int d^{D-2}q \to \int d^{D-3}q' \frac{1}{R} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} , \qquad (5.5)$$

in the expression we have discussed earlier for the leading eikonal, which we reproduce here,

$$\delta^{(1)}(D) = \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1 = \frac{1}{4Ep} \int \frac{d^{D-2}q}{(2\pi)^{D-2}} e^{iq \cdot b} \mathcal{A}_1 , \qquad (5.6)$$

where $E = E_1 + E_2$ and \mathcal{A}_1 is the relevant tree-level amplitude. Using the fact that qand q' are related via $q^2 = (q')^2 + (n/R)^2$, the impact parameter space amplitude for scattering on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ can be deduced from (6.6) and be written as,

$$i\delta^{(1)}(D-1,R) \equiv i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1,R) = i\frac{\kappa_D^2(s'-m_1^2-m_2^2-2m_1m_2)}{2} \int \frac{d^{D-3}q'}{(2\pi)^{D-2}} e^{iq'\cdot b'} \times \frac{1}{R} \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{e^{ib_s n/R}}{(q')^2 + (n/R)^2}, \qquad (5.7)$$

where we have defined $m_1^2 = (n_1/R)^2$ and $m_2^2 = (n_2/R)^2$ which we recognise as the Kaluza-Klein masses associated with compactification on S^1 . Note that we have taken the 5-dimensional masses to be 0 as suggested by (5.1). We have also defined, $n = n_1 + n_3$. The integration over the q' momenta can be carried out explicitly giving,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1,R) = i\frac{\kappa_D^2}{2}\frac{s'-m_1^2-m_2^2-2m_1m_2}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-1}{2}}}\frac{1}{(b')^{\frac{D-5}{2}}}\frac{1}{R}$$

$$\times \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ib_s n/R} \left(\frac{|n|}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}} K_{\frac{D-5}{2}} \left(\frac{|n|b'}{R}\right), \qquad (5.8)$$

where $K_n(x)$ is a Bessel K function. In the ultra-relativistic limit $s' \gg m_1^2, m_2^2$ we find,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{1}(D-1,R) = i\frac{\kappa_{D}^{2}}{2}\frac{s'}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-1}{2}}}\frac{1}{(b')^{\frac{D-5}{2}}}\frac{1}{R}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}e^{ib_{s}n/R}\left(\frac{|n|}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}}K_{\frac{D-5}{2}}\left(\frac{|n|b'}{R}\right).$$
 (5.9)

We can check the consistency of (5.9) by considering the two limits $R \to 0$ and $R \to \infty$ in which we expect to recover the expression found in (6.8) for scattering in pure gravity on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-1}$ with D-1 and D spacetime dimensions respectively. Note that we also show the first sign of exponentiation [66, 67, 107] at one-loop explicitly in appendix C.

$R \rightarrow 0$ Limit

First we consider the limit $R \to 0$. In this limit we expect only the zero momentum, n = 0, Kaluza-Klein mode to contribute to the sum over t-channel states. This can be seen using the known expansion of the Bessel K function, $K_{\nu}(z) \sim \sqrt{\pi/2z}e^{-z} + ...$ as $z \to \infty$ which applies when $n \neq 0$. For the n = 0 contribution we have to consider $K_{\nu}(z)$ for $z \to 0$. The behaviour in this limit is,

$$K_{\nu}(z) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\Gamma(\nu) \left(\frac{z}{2} \right)^{-\nu} \left(1 + \frac{z^2}{4(1+\nu)} + \dots \right) + \Gamma(-\nu) \left(\frac{z}{2} \right)^{\nu} \left(1 + \frac{z^2}{4(1+\nu)} + \dots \right) \right] .$$
 (5.10)

Hence we find,

$$\lim_{n \to 0} \left[\left(\frac{|n|}{R} \right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}} K_{\frac{D-5}{2}} \left(\frac{|n|b'}{R} \right) \right] = \left(\frac{1}{2} \right)^{\frac{7-D}{2}} \Gamma \left(\frac{D-5}{2} \right) \frac{1}{(b')^{\frac{D-5}{2}}} .$$
(5.11)

Using this, the final result for the amplitude $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1,R)$ as $R \to 0$ is,

$$\lim_{R \to 0} \left[i \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1,R) \right] = i s' G_{D-1} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-5}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-5}{2}} b'^{D-5}} , \qquad (5.12)$$

where G_{D-1} is the gravitational constant in the D-1 non-compact spacetime dimensions and is related to the one in D dimensions via the familiar Kaluza-Klein relation $G_D = 2\pi R G_{D-1}$. It is clear that the right hand side of the expression (5.12) is the same as $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1)$ and the corresponding eikonal phase $\delta^{(1)}(D-1, R \to 0) = \delta^{(1)}(D-1)$ discussed in section 6.2 in the ultra-relativistic limit. So we recover the expected result, namely the usual expression for high energy tree-level scattering but with D-1non-compact spacetime dimensions.

$R \to \infty$ Limit

We now consider the opposite limit of $\delta^{(1)}(D-1,R)$ with $R \to \infty$ where we should recover the expression $\delta^{(1)}(D)$ given in (6.8). Noting that in this limit the discrete sum over momenta becomes a continuous integral $\frac{1}{2\pi R} \sum_{n} \to \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dq$ the amplitude becomes,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1, R \to \infty) = i \frac{4\pi G_D s}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-1}{2}} (b')^{D-4}} I\left(\frac{b_s}{b'}\right) ,$$
 (5.13)

where we use the fact that $s' \to s$ as $R \to \infty$ and the integral $I(b_s/b')$ is given by,

$$I\left(\frac{b_s}{b'}\right) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tilde{q} \, e^{i\tilde{q}(b_s/b')} \left(|\tilde{q}|\right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}} K_{\frac{D-5}{2}}\left(|\tilde{q}|\right) \,, \tag{5.14}$$

with $\tilde{q} = q b'$. The integral $I(b_s/b')$ can be computed using the cosine integral transform formula for the function $x^{\nu} K_{\nu}(x)$,

$$\int_0^\infty dx \cos(xy) x^{\pm\mu} K_\mu(ax) = \sqrt{\pi/4} \ (2a)^{\pm\mu} \Gamma\left(\pm\mu + \frac{1}{2}\right) (y^2 + a^2)^{\pm\mu - \frac{1}{2}} \ . \tag{5.15}$$

In our case, $\mu = (D - 5)/2$, a = 1 and $y = b_s/b'$ and so we find,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1,R\to\infty) = i\frac{4\pi G_D s}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-1}{2}}(b')^{D-4}} \frac{2^{\frac{D-5}{2}}\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{(b_s^2/b'^2+1)^{\frac{D-4}{2}}}\,.$$
 (5.16)

Using the relation between the impact parameters b, b' and $b_s, b^2 = b'^2 + b_s^2$ we can see that,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1, R \to \infty) = i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D) , \qquad (5.17)$$

which is equivalent to (6.8) in the ultra-relativistic limit as expected.

Kaluza-Klein Decomposition

In the discussion above we have focused on the ultra-relativistic limit $s' \gg m_1^2, m_2^2$ for simplicity. We will now consider the more general case so that later on we can consider the comparison of scattering amplitudes and eikonal phases in the Kaluza-Klein theory with those previously studied in chapter 4 which included massless dilatons elastically scattering off a large stack of Dp-branes.

If we return to (5.7) and consider the momentum space amplitude from which it is calculated, we have,

$$i\mathcal{A}_1(D-1,R) = -i2\pi R\kappa_5^2 \frac{(s'-m_1^2-m_2^2-2m_1m_2)^2}{t'-(n_1+n_3)^2/R^2} .$$
(5.18)

This corresponds to a single D = 5 graviton exchange between the massive states Φ_n in

the Kaluza-Klein tower arising from compactification on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$, where we recall that $m_1^2 = n_1^2/R^2$, $m_2^2 = n_2^2/R^2$. This scattering is inelastic if $n_1 \neq -n_3$ in which case massive D = 4 states are exchanged. We wish to focus here on elastic scattering so we will chose kinematics such that $n_1 = -n_3$ (and hence $n_2 = -n_4$) but with both n_1 and n_2 non-zero in general. Our amplitude $\mathcal{A}_1(D-1, R)$ may be then written as,

$$i\mathcal{A}_1(D-1,R) = -2i\frac{\kappa_4^2}{t'} \left(\frac{1}{2}(s'-m_1^2-m_2^2)^2 - 2m_1m_2(s'-m_1^2-m_2^2) + 2m_1^2m_2^2 \right).$$
(5.19)

The first term in the round brackets is almost of the form of the diagram involving a single massless graviton exchange in D = 4 between two massive scalars, as given in (6.6) in D = 4. It is instructive to rewrite $\mathcal{A}_1(D-1, R)$ in the form,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{1}(D-1,R) = -2i\frac{\kappa_{4}^{2}}{t'} \left(\frac{1}{2}[(s'-m_{1}^{2}-m_{2}^{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}] - [2m_{1}m_{2}(s'-m_{1}^{2}-m_{2}^{2})] + 3m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}\right).$$
(5.20)

Now the first term in the square brackets is precisely the contribution from a single D = 4 graviton. Based on the fact that a massless D = 5 graviton gives rise to a massless graviton, photon and dilaton in D = 4 (along with their massive Kaluza-Klein excitations) we would expect the term in the second square brackets to correspond to massless photon exchange and finally that the last term to correspond to massless dilaton exchange. The several Feynman diagrams are shown in figure 10.



Figure 10: The various constituent diagrams found in tree-level scalar scattering with graviton exchange on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ when decomposed into separate dilaton, gauge field and dimensionally reduced graviton contributions. The solid lines represent scalar states, the dashed line represent gauge fields and the wavy lines represent gravitons. Note that the internal solid line in 10c represents a massless dilaton state.

Let us check that this is the case. The diagram for single photon exchange via the t-channel is easily computed using D = 4 scalar electrodynamics. Given two charged massive scalars of masses m_1, m_2 and electric charges q_1, q_2 , the resulting momentum space amplitude, $\mathcal{A}_{\text{phot}}$, is found to be,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\rm phot} = 2iq_1q_2 \frac{(s'-m_1^2-m_2^2)}{t'}$$
 (5.21)

Now in the Kaluza-Klein case we previously read off the charges from the action and so we can write $q_1 = \sqrt{2}\kappa_4 n_1/R$ and $q_2 = \sqrt{2}\kappa_4 n_2/R$ giving

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\text{phot}} = 4i\kappa_4^2 m_1 m_2 \frac{(s' - m_1^2 - m_2^2)}{t'},$$
 (5.22)

which is precisely the contribution of the second square brackets in (5.20).

Finally we need to show that the final term in (5.20) corresponds to a single dilaton exchange in D = 4. This is straightforward as it only depends on the coupling between the massive Kaluza-Klein scalars Φ_n and the dilaton σ which from the action (5.4) is found to be $-i\sqrt{6}\kappa_4 m_n^2$. The contribution, \mathcal{A}_{dil} is thus,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{\rm dil} = -6i\kappa_4^2 \frac{m_1^2 m_2^2}{t'} , \qquad (5.23)$$

which is exactly the last term in (5.20).

5.3 Various Kinematic Limits of the Eikonal

5.3.1 The Leading Eikonal in the Ultra-Relativistic Limit

In the ultra-relativistic case where $s' \gg m_1^2, m_2^2$ and where we recall that $m_1^2 = n_1^2/R^2, m_2^2 = n_2^2/R^2$ are the Kaluza-Klein masses, we expect the eikonal to be related to the deflection angle or time delay of a relativistic particle moving in the background geometry corresponding to the Aichelburg-Sexl (A-S) shock-wave metric [103]. However since in our case one of the transverse directions is compactified on a circle, we have to reconsider the form of the A-S metric on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$.

First lets review the non-compact case. In $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-1}$ the form of the A-S metric is,

$$ds^{2} = dudv + h(u, x^{i})du^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{D-2} (dx^{i})^{2} , \qquad (5.24)$$

where u, v are the usual light-cone coordinates and x^i , i = 1, ..., D - 2 are the flat transverse coordinates. For the non-compact case we will follow the discussion in [103] to make contact with the eikonal. The stress-energy that sources the A-S metric is due to a relativistic particle moving in the v-direction carrying momentum $-P_u$ ($P_u < 0$ producing a shock-wave at u = 0),

$$T_{uu} = -P_u \delta(u) \delta^{D-2}(x^i) . \qquad (5.25)$$

The Einstein equations reduce to,

$$\nabla_{\perp}^{2} h(u, x^{i}) = -16\pi G_{D} |P_{u}| \delta(u) \delta^{D-2}(x^{i}) .$$
(5.26)

The function $h(u, x^i)$ is clearly related to the Green's function of the Laplace operator on the flat transverse space, so the general solution is (for D > 4),

$$h(u, x^{i}) = \frac{4\Gamma\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-4}{2}}} \frac{G_{D}|P_{u}|\delta(u)}{r^{D-4}}, \qquad (5.27)$$

with $r^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{D-2} (x^i)^2$. In order to have continuity in v as a second particle with momentum p_v moves across the shock-wave in the u direction at transverse distance r = b, one can remove the singular term $\delta(u)$ in the metric by defining the new coordinate v_{new} ,

$$v = v_{new} + \frac{4\Gamma\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-4}{2}}} \frac{G_D|P_u|}{b^{D-4}} \theta(u) , \qquad (5.28)$$

where $\theta(u)$ is the usual Heaviside step function. This leads to a corresponding Shapiro time delay as the particle crosses the shock wave given by,

$$\Delta v = \frac{4\Gamma\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-4}{2}}} \frac{G_D|P_u|}{b^{D-4}} \,. \tag{5.29}$$

This result is consistent with the leading eikonal $\delta^{(1)}(D)$ of (6.8) with

$$\delta^{(1)}(D) = -p_v \Delta v|_{r=b} , \qquad (5.30)$$

where we identify, $s = 4p_v P_u$.

Now lets consider the case when the shock-wave is due to a particle moving in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$. The form of the metric becomes,

$$ds^{2} = dudv + h(u, x^{i}, y)du^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{D-3} (dx^{i})^{2} + dy^{2}, \qquad (5.31)$$

where y is the coordinate on S^1 with $y \sim y + 2\pi R$. Note that (x^i, y) are still transverse to the shock-wave. The stress-energy tensor in this case becomes,

$$T_{uu} = -P_u \delta(u) \delta^{D-3}(x^i) \frac{1}{2\pi R} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{iny/R} , \qquad (5.32)$$

where we have given the representation of the delta function on S^1 in terms of the quantised momentum modes. The Einstein equations reduce to,

$$(\nabla_{\perp}^{2} + \partial_{y}^{2})h(u, x^{i}, y) = -16\pi G_{D}|P_{u}|\delta(u)\delta^{D-3}(x^{i})\frac{1}{2\pi R}\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}e^{iny/R}, \qquad (5.33)$$

where ∇^2_{\perp} is the Laplacian on \mathbb{R}^{D-3} . The solution to $h(u, x^i, y)$ is,

$$h(u, x^{i}, y) = 16\pi |P_{u}| \frac{G_{D}}{2\pi R} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{iny/R} \int \frac{d^{D-3}q}{(2\pi)^{D-3}} \frac{e^{iq \cdot x}}{(q^{2} + n^{2}/R^{2})} \delta(u)$$

$$= 8 \frac{|P_{u}|}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-5}{2}}} \frac{G_{D}}{2\pi R} \frac{1}{r^{\frac{D-5}{2}}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{iyn/R} \left(\frac{|n|}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}} K_{\frac{D-5}{2}} \left(\frac{|n|r}{R}\right) \delta(u) ,$$

(5.34)

where $K_{\nu}(x)$ are Bessel K functions and $r^2 = \sum_{i=1}^{D-3} (x^i)^2$.

Considering a second particle moving through this geometry, now separated from the first by the impact vector $b = (b', b_s)$ i.e. the particle approaches at minimum distance r = b' in \mathbb{R}^{D-3} and $y = b_s$ along the S^1 . The corresponding Shapiro time delay is,

$$\Delta v = 8 \frac{|P_u|}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-5}{2}}} \frac{G_D}{2\pi R} \frac{1}{b'^{\frac{D-5}{2}}} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ib_s n/R} \left(\frac{|n|}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}} K_{\frac{D-5}{2}} \left(\frac{|n|b'}{R}\right).$$
(5.35)

This agrees with the leading eikonal expression (5.9) in the ultra-relativistic limit $s' \gg m_1^2, m_2^2$,

$$\delta^{(1)}(D-1,R) = -p_v \Delta v|_{r=b,y=b_s} , \qquad (5.36)$$

where we have taken $s' = 4p_v P_u$. From the previous analysis of the eikonal $\delta^{(1)}(D-1, R)$ in the limits $R \to 0$ and $R \to \infty$ we can see that the shock-wave metric (5.31) reduces to the usual Aichelburg-Sexl form in D-1 and D non-compact dimensions respectively.

5.3.2 The Leading Eikonal in the Large Kaluza-Klein Mass Limit

In this section we will take the large Kaluza-Klein mass limit for one of the scattering particles and study the eikonal for a massless probe. This will allow us to connect this analysis with the deflection angle of a massless probe in the background of a Schwarzschild black hole in the $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2}$ non-compact sector. In order to do so we will let $n_1 = n_3 = 0$ (such that our probe has zero Kaluza-Klein mass) and $m_2^2 > s' \gg t'$. We will first work in D = 5. In this limit we find that (5.7) becomes,

$$i\delta^{(1)} = i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1 \approx i\kappa_5^2 E_1 m_2 \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 q'_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^3} e^{iq'_{\perp} \cdot b'} \frac{1}{R} \frac{1}{(q'_{\perp})^2} , \qquad (5.37)$$

where we have also used that for $m_2 \gg 0$ we have $s' - m_2^2 \sim 2E_1m_2$ where E_1 is the energy of the massless probe. Using the fact that $\kappa_5^2 = 8\pi G_5 = 8\pi (2\pi RG_4)$ we have,

$$i\delta^{(1)} \approx \frac{i8\pi G_4}{(2\pi)^2} (E_1 m_2) \int d^2 q'_{\perp} e^{iq'_{\perp} \cdot b'} \frac{1}{(q'_{\perp})^2} = -4G_4 m_2 E_1 \log b .$$
(5.38)

We can now relate this to the leading order contribution to the deflection angle. Using the fact that at leading order for a massless probe we can relate the eikonal to the leading contribution to the deflection angle using (2.124) we then find from (5.38) that the deflection angle is given by,

$$\theta^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{E_1} \frac{\partial \delta^{(1)}}{\partial b} = \frac{4G_4 m_2}{b} .$$
 (5.39)

This is the well known expression for the leading contribution to the deflection angle of a massless probe in the background of a Schwarzschild black hole (see equation (A.21)). In fact this leading contribution is found to be universal. We find the same expression for the leading contribution to the deflection angle of a Reissner-Nordstrom black hole [157, 158] as well as for the EMd black hole described in appendix A.2. We will see in the next section that this EMd black hole is in fact the relevant black hole solution for the case we are considering here. This universality is due to the fact that no matter what source you are scattering from, the high energy limit of the Born amplitude is always the same [86, 106].

We can also generalise this to arbitrary spacetime dimensions D. In this case we find that (5.7) becomes,

$$i\delta^{(1)} \approx \frac{i8\pi G_{D-1}}{(2\pi)^{D-3}} (Em_2) \int d^{D-3} q'_{\perp} e^{iq'_{\perp} \cdot b'} \frac{1}{(q'_{\perp})^2} \\ = \frac{i8\pi G_{D-1} Em_2}{4\pi^{\frac{D-3}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{D-5}{2}\right) \frac{1}{b^{D-5}} .$$
(5.40)

We therefore find for the deflection angle,

$$\theta \approx \frac{4G_{D-1}m_2}{\pi^{\frac{D-5}{2}}}\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)\frac{1}{b^{D-4}}$$
$$= \sqrt{\pi}\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)}\left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^{D-4}, \qquad (5.41)$$

where we the *D*-dimensional generalisation of the Schwarzschild radius is given by,

$$8G_{D-1}m_2 = \frac{D-3}{\Gamma(\frac{D-2}{2})}\pi^{\frac{D-4}{2}}R_s^{D-4}.$$
(5.42)

We find that this equation for the deflection angle is equivalent to the leading term of (A.19) found in appendix A.1 (with the above definition of the Schwarzschild radius in this context). Note that here the dimensionality is shifted by 1 since the black hole resides in the D-1 uncompact dimensions.

5.3.3 The Subleading Eikonal in the Large Kaluza-Klein Mass Limit

In this section we find the subleading corrections to the eikonal for high energy scattering of a neutral scalar particle off a heavy Kaluza-Klein state extending the analysis on the leading eikonal in the previous section. There we showed the leading eikonal in the scalar-gravity theory compactified on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ reproduced the expected leading contribution to the deflection angle in the case of a EMd black hole living in D-1 dimensions. Which we noted was equivalent to the leading contribution of the Schwarzschild black hole result. However as is well known, massive Kaluza-Klein states also couple to the dilaton and massless gauge fields that are part of the higher-dimensional metric and as we know from [86, 106] as well as the parallel discussion in chapter 4 these interactions should start contributing at the level of the subleading eikonal.

We know that for general spacetime and world-volume dimensions there is a subleading contribution to the eikonal for a scalar scattering off of a stack of Dp-branes as we saw in chapter 4. However in the case of D = 4, p = 0 this subleading contribution vanishes. Note that in D = 4, p = 0 case the stack of N D0-branes carry a net electric charge $N\mu_0$ and the RR field coupling to the D0-branes is just an abelian gauge field C_{μ} . Since the states exchanged in the D0-brane scattering case are equivalent to the states exchanged between the scalar probe and heavy Kaluza-Klein state we would like to extend the results found in chapter 4 to the case we are considering here.

In order to do this we will argue that both the supergravity action and the Kaluza-Klein action, (5.4), are equivalent in the appropriate normalisation. We will map both actions to the field normalisations used in (A.23) so that we can also use the deflection angle results presented in appendix A.2. From (2.37), with D = 4, p = 0 and ignoring the boundary part, we have the supergravity action,

$$S_{\text{SUGRA}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{1}{2\kappa_4^2} R - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \,\partial^\mu \phi - \frac{1}{4} e^{-\sqrt{6}\kappa_4 \phi} F_2^2 \right] \,. \tag{5.43}$$

We can normalise this action in the same as in (A.23) by changing,

$$\kappa_4 \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \phi \to 2\phi, \quad C^\mu \to 2C^\mu,$$
(5.44)

where C^{μ} is the gauge field associated with the field strength F_2 . We then find that,

$$S_{\text{SUGRA}} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[R - 2\partial_\mu \phi \,\partial^\mu \phi - e^{-2\sqrt{3}\phi} F_2^2 \right] \,. \tag{5.45}$$

This is now in the same normalisation as (A.23) and we can see that the parameter α takes the value $\sqrt{3}$. Note that in this normalisation the mass and charge of the D0-brane become,

$$M = \frac{NT_0}{\kappa_4} \to \sqrt{2}NT_0 \qquad Q = N\mu_0 \to 2N\mu_0 = 2\sqrt{2}NT_0 , \qquad (5.46)$$

where we have used the fact that $\mu_p = \sqrt{2}T_p$. Hence we find a relationship between the mass and charge given by Q = 2M.

We can now consider the Kaluza-Klein action (5.4). In this case we find that the action after the substitutions,

$$\kappa_4 \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}, \quad \sigma \to 2\sigma, \quad C^\mu \to 2C^\mu,$$
(5.47)

becomes,

$$S_{\text{KK}} = \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left[R - 2\partial_\mu \sigma \,\partial^\mu \sigma - e^{-2\sqrt{3}\sigma} F_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left((D_\mu \Phi_n) (D^\mu \Phi_n^*) + e^{-2\sqrt{3}\sigma} m_n^2 \Phi_n^* \Phi_n \right) \right].$$
(5.48)

We find that the massless sector of this action is equivalent to the action (A.23) with $\alpha = \sqrt{3}$. We can also look at what happens to the mass and charge in this case,

$$M = \frac{n}{R} \qquad Q = \sqrt{2}\kappa_4 \frac{n}{R} \to 2\frac{n}{R} , \qquad (5.49)$$

and so again we find that Q = 2M. This analysis suggests that, since the actions can be mapped to each other, we can simply use the results previously derived in the case of a D0-brane for the scattering from a heavy Kaluza-Klein mode which we are considering here. This then implies that we have,

$$\delta_{\rm KK}^{(2)}(R) = 0 , \qquad (5.50)$$

where $\delta_{\text{KK}}^{(2)}(R)$ is the subleading eikonal in the Kaluza-Klein theory with D = 4 uncompact dimensions. We can now compare this to the deflection angle result derived in appendix A.2. There we found that the subleading contribution to the deflection angle is given by,

$$\phi^{(2)} = \frac{3}{8} \frac{1}{b^2} \left(\pi M^2 \left(\sqrt{1 + \frac{2Q^2}{M^2}} + 9 \right) - 3\pi Q^2 \right) \,. \tag{5.51}$$

Using the fact that in the normalisation used we have the relation Q = 2M we find that,

$$\phi^{(2)} = 0 . (5.52)$$

Which is consistent with the fact that the subleading contribution to the eikonal has been found to be zero.

5.4 Discussion

In this chapter we have investigated eikonal scattering in one of the simplest examples of a Kaluza-Klein theory, namely 5D Einstein gravity coupled to a real, massless 5D free scalar field, compactified to 4D on a circle. Despite this there is a richness to the 4D theory since it contains, in the massless sector, a massless scalar originating from the 5D massless scalar and a graviton, U(1) gauge file and a dilaton, which originate from the 5D graviton. The massive sector contains a Kaluza-Klein tower of massive scalars charged with respect to the gauge field whose mass and charge satisfy the relation Q = 2M in appropriate units. Their masses and charges have the usual interpretation of quantized momentum states moving around the circle. In considering $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering of these massive 4D scalars there are both elastic and inelastic processes involved. Thus from the 4D point of view it is quite a complex system. It has already been previously shown that for simple scalar gravity theories in non-compact dimensions, contributions with a higher number of gravitons exchanged exponentiate into a phase [66, 67, 107]. The proof that the eikonal exponentiates to all orders in the Kaluza-Klein model considered here is something that would be interesting to investigate. One may intuitively expect that the exponentiation holds at all orders since in the limit of infinite or zero compactification radius R we recover the 5D or 4D Einstein-scalar theories, for which we know the eikonal phase exponentiates. But explicitly proving this even at the one-loop level in the Kaluza-Klein model, as we have shown in appendix C, is rather non-trivial.

An interesting test of our expression for the eikonal phase in the compactified case were the comparisons with deflection angle calculations in the various corresponding background geometries. We found agreement in the ultra-relativistic limit where the corresponding geometry was the compactified version of the Aichelburg-Sexl shock wave metric. We also considered the heavy Kaluza-Klein mass limit where we found agreement with the deflection angle calculated from a Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton black hole.

Chapter 6

The Eikonal in Einstein Gravity

This chapter is based on the paper [3] where we discuss the eikonal in pure Einstein gravity. In this chapter we study the scattering of two massive scalars in order to be able to describe the dynamics of binary black holes by using the eikonal. We also keep the spacetime dimension general which provides more general results and an easy way to regulate IR singularities.

The chapter is structured as follows. In section 6.1 we introduce the basic objects needed for our analysis, i.e. the tree-level on-shell vertices between two massive scalars and one and two gravitons. The field theory limit of a string expression provides a rather simple *D*-dimensional expression that we use to derive the relevant part of the amplitude with two graviton exchanges, see figure 12. We then extract the box and the triangle contributions that determine the 2PM eikonal phase. In section 6.2 we discuss the exponentiation pattern mentioned above and obtain explicit expressions for the 1PM and 2PM *D*-dimensional eikonal. As a check we derive the deflection angle in various probe-limits where it is possible to compare with a geodesic calculation in the metric of an appropriate black hole finding perfect agreement. Section 6.3 contains a brief discussion on the possible relevance of our result for the study of the 3PM eikonal.

6.1 Massive Scalar Scattering

In this section we focus on the $2 \rightarrow 2$ gravitational scattering process between two massive scalars in D spacetime dimensions with both one and two graviton exchanges. As mentioned in the introduction, we are interested in extracting the classical contributions to this process, so instead of calculating the full amplitude by using the standard Feynman rules, we glue on-shell building blocks that capture just the unitarity cuts needed for reconstructing the classical eikonal. While this approach is by now commonly used in a D = 4 setup, it is possible to implement it in general D [51,111,112] and here we follow the method established in section 4.2, now including mass terms for the scalars.

For the one graviton exchange (1PM order) amplitude we can use, as an effective vertex, the on-shell three-point amplitude between two identical massive scalars and a graviton. In the standard Feynman vertex¹⁵ $-i\kappa_D (k_{1\mu}k_{2\nu} + k_{1\nu}k_{2\mu} - (k_1k_2 - m^2)\eta_{\mu\nu})$, we can then drop the last two terms since they are proportional to q^2 and use the on-shell amplitude,

where $\kappa_D = \sqrt{8\pi G_N}$ and G_N is the *D*-dimensional Newton's gravitational constant.

For two graviton exchange (2PM order) we need the corresponding four-point amplitude as the new ingredient. A particularly compact expression for this amplitude can be obtained by taking the field theory limit of the 2-tachyon 2-graviton amplitude in the Neveu-Schwarz string calculated by using the KLT approach. The result is,

$$\hat{A}_{4}^{\alpha\beta;\rho\sigma}(k_{1},k_{2},q_{1},q_{2}) = \frac{2\kappa_{D}^{2}(k_{2}q_{1})(k_{1}q_{1})}{(q_{1}q_{2})} \left[\frac{k_{2}^{\rho}k_{1}^{\alpha}}{k_{2}q_{1}} + \frac{k_{2}^{\alpha}k_{1}^{\rho}}{k_{1}q_{1}} + \eta^{\rho\alpha}\right] \times \left[\frac{k_{2}^{\sigma}k_{1}^{\beta}}{k_{2}q_{1}} + \frac{k_{2}^{\beta}k_{1}^{\alpha}}{k_{1}q_{1}} + \eta^{\sigma\beta}\right].$$
(6.2)

By using the on-shell conditions it is possible to verify that (6.1) is symmetric under the exchange of the two scalars or the two gravitons and that it reproduces the known results for $D \rightarrow 4$, see for instance equations (2.19) and (2.2) of [90]. For our purposes it will be convenient to use a different form for the amplitude where we have used momentum conservation and on-shell conditions to express k_2 in terms of k_1 , q_1 and q_2 ,



¹⁵We use the mostly plus convention for the metric and, as usual, we consider a two times signature to satisfy all on-shell constraints in the case of three-point functions.

$$\times \left(\frac{(k_1+q_2)^{\sigma}k_1^{\beta}}{(k_1q_1)+(q_1q_2)} - \frac{(k_1+q_1)^{\beta}k_1^{\alpha}}{k_1q_1} + \eta^{\sigma\beta}\right).$$
(6.3)

Of course this expression is equivalent to (6.2) on-shell, but (6.3) is transverse in the following slightly more general sense: it vanishes whenever the polarization of a graviton takes the form $\epsilon_{\mu\nu} = \zeta_{\mu}q_{\nu} + \zeta_{\nu}q_{\mu}$ just by using the on-shell conditions and momentum conservation to rewrite products between momenta such as $k_i k_j$ (without the need of using it to rewrite the products between momenta and the arbitrary vectors ζ_{μ}).

In the next subsection we derive the classical $\mathcal{O}(G_N)$ contribution by gluing two amplitudes (6.1) with the de Donder propagator,

$$[G(q)]^{\mu\nu;\rho\sigma} = \frac{-i}{2q^2} \left(\eta^{\mu\rho} \eta^{\nu\sigma} + \eta^{\mu\sigma} \eta^{\nu\rho} - \frac{2}{D-2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \right) . \tag{6.4}$$

In subsection 6.1.2 we obtain the $\mathcal{O}(G_N^2)$ result by gluing the gravitons of two copies of the amplitude (6.3). In all the four scalar amplitudes obtained in this section we denote the two incoming particles with momenta k_1 and k_2 and outgoing momenta k_3 and k_4 . The particles 1 and 3 have mass m_1 , while the particles 2 and 4 have mass m_2 , see for instance figure 11.

6.1.1 One Graviton Exchange

Using the gluing procedure outlined above we can calculate the tree-level four-point massive scalar scattering by gluing two amplitudes (6.1) with a de Donder propagator (6.4) and obtain,

$$i\mathcal{A}_1 = [G(k_1 + k_3)]_{\mu_1\nu_1;\mu_2\nu_2} A_3^{\mu_1\nu_1}(k_1, k_3, -k_1 - k_3) A_3^{\mu_2\nu_2}(k_2, k_4, k_1 + k_3) .$$
 (6.5)

We then find,



Figure 11: A figure illustrating the procedure outlined at the beginning of section 6.1 and described by equation (6.5) for the tree-level amplitude. The solid lines represent massive scalars and the wavy lines represent gravitons. The shaded blob is described by equation (6.1).

$$i\mathcal{A}_1 = \frac{2i\kappa_D^2}{q^2} \left(\frac{1}{2}(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{2}{D-2}m_1^2m_2^2\right) = \frac{2i\kappa_D^2\gamma(s)}{q^2}, \quad (6.6)$$

where $q \equiv k_1 + k_3$ is the momentum exchanged between the two massive scalars and we have defined the quantity,

$$\gamma(s) = 2(k_1k_2)^2 - \frac{2}{D-2}m_1^2m_2^2 = \frac{1}{2}(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{2}{D-2}m_1^2m_2^2.$$
(6.7)

In the high energy limit and after moving into impact parameter space we can see that this contribution grows as E_i (since $G_N M^*$ is constant) and violates perturbative unitarity at large energies, we will come back to this point when discussing the two graviton exchange amplitude. By construction, this result just captures the pole contribution in t of the amplitude, but this is sufficient to extract the classical interaction between two well separated particles. This is more clearly seen by transforming the amplitude to impact parameter space. We can do this by using the equations developed in chapter 2, specifically equation (2.74). Terms in (6.6) that are regular as we take $t \to 0$ yield only delta-function contributions localised at $\mathbf{b} = 0$ and so can be neglected.

We can now use (2.74) and (3.49) to find the impact parameter space expression of the tree-level contribution,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1 = \frac{i\kappa_D^2\gamma(s)}{2Ep} \frac{1}{4\pi^{\frac{D-2}{2}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2} - 2\right) \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{D-4}} \,. \tag{6.8}$$

This result agrees with known results [66] and as discussed in more detail in section 6.2 is related to the result for the first order contribution to the deflection angle in the post-Minkowskian expansion.

6.1.2 Two Graviton Exchanges

In this subsection we discuss the gluing procedure at one-loop. Schematically we have,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2} = \int \frac{d^{D}k}{(2\pi)^{D}} [G(k)]_{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1};\alpha_{2}\beta_{2}} [G(k+q)]_{\rho_{1}\sigma_{1};\rho_{2}\sigma_{2}} \\ \times A_{4}^{\alpha_{1}\beta_{1};\rho_{1}\sigma_{1}}(k_{1},k_{3},k,-k-q)A_{4}^{\alpha_{2}\beta_{2};\rho_{2}\sigma_{2}}(k_{2},k_{4},-k,k+q), \quad (6.9)$$

where A_4 is the four-point amplitude given by (6.3), we recall that $q \equiv k_1 + k_3$ is the momentum exchanged between the two massive scalars, k is the momentum in the loop and [G] represents the graviton propagator (6.4).

In order to interpret the expression found after attaching the relevant vertices using (6.9) we need to rewrite it in terms of the relevant integral topologies which are schematically shown in figure 13. In order to do this we define an operation denoted as $S_n[\mathcal{A}_2]$ which searches the full expression, \mathcal{A}_2 resulting from (6.9) and yields the integrand with



Figure 12: A figure illustrating the procedure outlined at the beginning of section 6.1 and described by equation (6.9) for the one-loop amplitude. The solid lines represent massive scalars and the wavy lines represent gravitons. The shaded blob is described by equation (6.3).

n number of propagators. Starting from the maximum number of propagators which in this case is n = 4, we have,

$$\mathcal{S}_4[\mathcal{A}_2] = a_{\Box} = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k_1+k)^2 + m_1^2} \frac{1}{(k_2-k)^2 + m_2^2} \mathcal{N}_{\Box} , \qquad (6.10)$$

where we have set all the momenta in the internal propagators on-shell in \mathcal{N}_{\Box} since terms proportional to any propagator would cancel with one of the propagators in the denominator and therefore not contribute to the diagram with the above pole structure. Note that we have identified the pole structure above with the so called scalar box integral topology. An explicit expression for the numerators will be given in the upcoming subsections.

We now want to search further in order to find the integrand with 3 poles. So now we have,

$$\mathcal{S}_3[\mathcal{A}_2 - a_{\Box}] = a_{\bigtriangleup} = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k_1+k)^2 + m_1^2} \mathcal{N}_{\bigtriangleup} , \qquad (6.11)$$

where we are searching the difference between the full expression, \mathcal{A}_2 , and the part already extracted for the box diagram, a_{\Box} . We have also set the momenta in the internal propagators on-shell in, \mathcal{N}_{Δ} , for the same reasons described previously. Note that we have identified the pole structure above with the so called triangle integrals. It should be mentioned that one also extracts the crossed box and "inverted" triangle (i.e. the contribution with the opposite massive scalar propagator) by searching for the relevant pole structures.

Once the procedure described above has been completed the classical contributions to each of the expressions above are determined by implementing the scaling limit mentioned in section 2.4.1.

For two graviton exchanges we have two amplitude topologies that contribute; the

box and triangle integrals, which are shown in figure 13. The masses can be of the same order or much smaller than the centre of mass energy and of course the integrals take different forms in these two cases. In section 3.1 we focus on the case $s \sim m_i^2$ and evaluate the first terms in the high energy expansion (2.81) for the box and triangle integrals. In the ultra-relativistic case one recovers the massless results that can be found for instance in [145].



Figure 13: The two topologies of integrals that contribute to the two graviton exchange amplitude in the classical limit. In 13a we have the box topology and in 13b we have the triangle topology. The integral structure in 13b receives contributions from various Feynman diagrams, including those with a three-point vertex in the bulk. We can ignore other integral structures, such as bubble and tadpoles, since they do not contribute in the classical limit.

Box contribution

From the procedure outlined at the start of this subsection we find the following expression for the numerator, \mathcal{N}_{\Box} , of the box diagram contribution to the two graviton exchange amplitude,

$$\mathcal{N}_{\Box} = 4\kappa_D^4 \gamma^2(s) , \qquad (6.12)$$

where $\gamma(s)$ has been defined in (6.7). Writing this by including the integration over the loop momenta as well as including the contribution from the crossed box diagram we find,

$$i\mathcal{A}_2 = 4\kappa_D^4(\gamma^2(s)\mathcal{I}_4(s,t) + \gamma^2(u)\mathcal{I}_4(u,t)).$$
(6.13)

where the integrals $\mathcal{I}_4(s,t)$ and $\mathcal{I}_4(u,t)$ have been computed in detail in section 3.1.1 and are defined as,

$$\mathcal{I}_4(s,t) = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k_1+k)^2 + m_1^2} \frac{1}{(k_2-k)^2 + m_2^2} , \qquad (6.14)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_4(u,t) = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k_3+k)^2 + m_1^2} \frac{1}{(k_2-k)^2 + m_2^2} \,. \tag{6.15}$$

Substituting the results for the integrals we find the leading contribution in the limit described by (2.81),

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{(1)} = -\frac{\pi^{\frac{D}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{4\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)}{\sqrt{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}} \frac{\Gamma^{2}(\frac{D}{2} - 2)\Gamma(3 - \frac{D}{2})}{\Gamma(D - 4)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D}{2} - 3}.$$
 (6.16)

The details of how to take the limit described by (2.81) when performing the integrals required to yield this result is given in section 3.1.1. Moving to impact parameter space using (2.74) and (3.49) we find that,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{(1)} = -\frac{\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)}{(Ep)^{2}}\frac{1}{128\pi^{D-2}}\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D}{2}-2\right)\frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-8}}.$$
(6.17)

In the limit (2.81), this contribution grows as E_i^2 (since $G_N M^*$ is constant). Comparing with (6.8) we easily see that $i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2^{(1)} = \frac{1}{2}(i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1)^2$, which is the first sign of the eikonal exponentiation as discussed in more detail in section 2.4; the exponential of the treelevel amplitude will account for the first leading energy contributions of all higher loop amplitudes.

We can also look at the subleading contribution, in the limit described by (2.81), to the two graviton exchange box diagram (as we will see in section 6.2 this contributes to the second order of the post-Minkowskian expansion). Using the result for the subleading contribution to the integrals $\mathcal{I}_4(s,t)$ and $\mathcal{I}_4(u,t)$ found in (3.15) we have,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{(2)} = \frac{i2\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)\sqrt{\pi}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}} \frac{m_{1} + m_{2}}{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5-D}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} (q^{2})^{\frac{D-5}{2}} .$$
(6.18)

At large energies this result scales as E_i exactly as \mathcal{A}_1 . This contribution should be exponentiated by the first subleading terms in the energy expansion of the higher loop contributions and so provides a new contribution to the eikonal phase. In impact parameter space (6.18) becomes,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{(2)} = \frac{i\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)}{64\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{m_{1}+m_{2}}{Ep((k_{1}k_{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2})} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-7}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)} \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-7}} .$$
 (6.19)

We have checked that the results in this subsection agree in D = 4 with equivalent results [48,49,66,67,69]. Let us stress that equation (6.19) vanishes in the $D \rightarrow 4$ limit because of the presence of the factor of $\Gamma(D-4)$ in the denominator. Thus, for D > 4there is a contribution to the eikonal from the box integral which becomes trivial in the four dimensional case. In general, this contribution is crucial in order to match, in the probe-limit, with the geodesic calculations as discussed in section 6.2 and in chapter 4 for the massless probe case $m_1 \gg 0, m_2 = 0$.

The subsubleading contributions to the box diagram are naively expected to be
finite in the limit described by (2.81), but there is actually a log-divergent term in the amplitude, as discussed for the massless case in [60, 63], see also [159, 160] for an explicit evaluation of the same $2 \rightarrow 2$ one-loop process with external gravitons. This contribution comes from using (6.13) and the next order in the expansion of the box integral, which in our case yields,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{(3)} = 4\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)\frac{i}{8(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}}\Gamma\left(\frac{4-D}{2}\right)\frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)}(q^{2})^{\frac{D-4}{2}}\frac{1}{D-4}$$

$$\times\left[\frac{4(5-D)}{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}\left(1+\frac{2k_{1}k_{2}\operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}}\right)+i\frac{\pi(D-4)(k_{1}+k_{2})^{2}}{[(k_{1}k_{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}]^{3/2}}\right]$$

$$-4\kappa_{D}^{4}\psi(s)\frac{i}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}}\frac{\operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2}-m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}}\Gamma\left(\frac{6-D}{2}\right)\frac{\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-4}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-4)}(q^{2})^{\frac{D-4}{2}},\qquad(6.20)$$

where we have defined $\sigma = \frac{-k_1k_2}{m_1m_2}$ and,

$$\psi(s) = -(2k_1k_2)\left((2k_1k_2)^2 - \frac{4m_1^2m_2^2}{D-2}\right)$$

= $\left(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2\right)\left(\left(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2\right)^2 - \frac{4m_1^2m_2^2}{D-2}\right).$ (6.21)

Note that the last term in (6.20) comes from expressing the $\gamma^2(u)$ from the second term in (6.13) in terms of $\gamma^2(s)$, i.e. we have $\gamma^2(u) = \gamma^2(s) + t \psi(s) + \mathcal{O}(t^2)$. We can also write the result above in impact parameter space for which we find,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{(3)} = \frac{\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)}{Ep} \frac{i}{128\pi^{D-1}} \Gamma^{2} \left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right) \frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-3}} \\ \times \left[\frac{4(5-D)}{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}} \left(1 + \frac{2k_{1}k_{2}\operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}}\right) + i\frac{\pi(D-4)(k_{1}+k_{2})^{2}}{[(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}]^{3/2}}\right] \\ + \frac{\kappa_{D}^{4}\psi(s)}{Ep} \frac{i}{8\pi^{D-1}} \frac{\operatorname{arcsinh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma-1}{2}}\right)}{\sqrt{(k_{1}k_{2})^{2} - m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}} \Gamma^{2} \left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right) \frac{1}{(\mathbf{b}^{2})^{D-3}} .$$
(6.22)

By using $\operatorname{arcsinh} y = \log(y + \sqrt{y^2 + 1})$ in equation (6.20) we can see that the second term on the second line and the term on the last line are log-divergent at large energies. It is interesting to highlight the following points. First, the same arcsinh-function arising from this subsubleading contribution also appears in the recent 3PM result [50,51]. Then these terms violate perturbative unitarity in the $s/m_i^2 \to \infty$ limit and [60] conjectured that they should resum to provide a quantum correction to the eikonal phase. This contribution is relevant in the discussion of the Reggeization of the graviton, for a

recent discussion see [68] and references therein. Finally the contribution 6.22 provides an additional imaginary part to $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2$ beside that coming from the leading term (6.17). In [60], it was shown that this subleading imaginary part vanishes in the D = 4 massless case. Since the last term in the second line vanishes in D = 4, here we find through a direct calculation that the same result holds also for the scattering of massive scalars. We will briefly come back to these points in section 6.3.

Triangle contribution

Following the procedure outlined at the beginning of this subsection we find that the expression for the numerator, \mathcal{N}_{\triangle} , for the triangle-like contributions, with the m_1 massive scalar propagator, is given by,

$$\mathcal{N}_{\Delta} = \kappa_D^4 \left(\frac{16(D-3)(k\,k_2)^2 m_1^4}{(D-2)q^2} + 4m_1^2 \left[2m_1^2 m_2^2 \frac{D^2 - 4D + 2}{(D-2)^2} - 2m_1^2 s + m_1^4 + (m_2^2 - s)^2 \right] \right) , \quad (6.23)$$

where we have already neglected some terms which are subleading in the limit given by (2.81) (i.e. don't contribute classically at second post-Minkowskian order). As we've done before we can express this in terms of an integral basis in which the expression (6.23) becomes,

$$\kappa_D^4 \left\{ \frac{16(D-3)k_{2\mu}k_{2\nu}m_1^4}{(D-2)q^2} \mathcal{I}_3^{\mu\nu}(m_1) + 4m_1^2 \left[2m_1^2m_2^2\frac{D^2-4D+2}{(D-2)^2} - 2m_1^2s + m_1^4 + (m_2^2-s)^2 \right] \mathcal{I}_3(m_1) \right\} + m_1 \leftrightarrow m_2 , \qquad (6.24)$$

where we recall that k is the loop momentum and we have now included the contribution coming from the equivalent diagram with the m_2 massive scalar propagator. We have also used the definitions for the integrals,

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{\mu\nu}(m_{i}) = \int \frac{d^{D}k}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{1}{k^{2}} \frac{1}{(q+k)^{2}} \frac{1}{(k+k_{i})^{2} + m_{i}^{2}} k^{\mu} k^{\nu} , \qquad (6.25)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_3(m_i) = \int \frac{d^D k}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{k^2} \frac{1}{(q+k)^2} \frac{1}{(k+k_i)^2 + m_i^2} .$$
(6.26)

Substituting the appropriate results for these integrals in the limit described by (2.81), which are calculated in section 3.1.2, yields,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}^{(2)} = i\frac{2\kappa_{D}^{4}\sqrt{\pi}}{(4\pi)^{\frac{D}{2}}}\frac{\Gamma(\frac{5-D}{2})\Gamma^{2}(\frac{D-3}{2})}{\Gamma(D-3)}(q^{2})^{\frac{D-5}{2}}(m_{1}+m_{2})\bigg\{(s-m_{1}^{2}-m_{2}^{2})^{2}\bigg\}$$

$$-\frac{4m_1^2m_2^2}{(D-2)^2} - \frac{(D-3)\left((s-m_1^2-m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2m_2^2\right)}{4(D-2)^2}\right\},\tag{6.27}$$

where we have again neglected subleading terms which do not contribute at second post-Minkowskian order. We can write equation (6.27) in impact parameter space,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{(2)} = i\frac{\kappa_{D}^{4}}{64\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}}Ep} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-7}{2}\right)\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D-3)} \frac{m_{1}+m_{2}}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-7}} \left\{ (s-m_{1}^{2}-m_{2}^{2})^{2} - \frac{4m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}{(D-2)^{2}} - \frac{(D-3)\left((s-m_{1}^{2}-m_{2}^{2})^{2}-4m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}\right)}{4(D-2)^{2}} \right\}.$$
(6.28)

The results in this subsection agree with results for D = 4 found in [48, 49, 69]. We have not considered the subleading triangle-like contribution explicitly in this subsection because we have found that it does not contribute to the log-divergent terms we discuss in sections 6.1.2 and 6.3. This should be clear from the results for the various integrals in section 3.1.2. Note also that these subleading contributions do not produce contributions to the real part of iA_2 .

6.2 The Eikonal and Two-Body Deflection Angles

In this section we discuss explicit expressions for the eikonal and two-body deflection angles using the amplitudes derived in section 6.1. We also discuss various probe-limits for both general D and D = 4 in order to compare with existing results in the literature.

Using the various relations found in section 2.4 and the results from section 6.1 we can write the leading (1PM) and first subleading eikonals (2PM). Using equation (6.6) we find for the leading eikonal,

$$\delta^{(1)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = \frac{16\pi G_N \gamma(s)}{4Ep} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{D-4}{2})}{4\pi^{\frac{D-2}{2}} \mathbf{b}^{D-4}} = \frac{\pi G_N \Gamma(\frac{D-4}{2})}{\pi^{\frac{D-2}{2}} \mathbf{b}^{D-4}} \frac{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{4}{D-2} m_1^2 m_2^2}{\sqrt{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2}} .$$
(6.29)

We can verify the exponentiation of the eikonal at one-loop level by looking at the leading one-loop contribution, (6.17), which we reproduce below,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}^{(1)} = -\frac{\kappa_{D}^{4}\gamma^{2}(s)}{(Ep)^{2}}\frac{1}{128\pi^{D-2}}\Gamma^{2}\left(\frac{D}{2}-2\right)\frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^{2D-8}} = \frac{1}{2}(i\delta^{(1)})^{2}.$$
(6.30)

Notice that this includes the appropriate numerical coefficient as required for the second line in (2.77) to hold.

Summing equations (6.19) and (6.28) we find for the subleading eikonal,

$$\delta^{(2)}(s, m_i, \mathbf{b}) = \frac{(8\pi G_N)^2 (m_1 + m_2)}{Ep \pi^{D - \frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{2D - 7}{2}) \Gamma^2(\frac{D - 3}{2})}{16 \mathbf{b}^{2D - 7}} \\ \times \left\{ \frac{\gamma^2(s)}{\Gamma(D - 4) \left[(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2 \right]} + \frac{1}{4\Gamma(D - 3)} \\ \times \left[(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{4m_1^2 m_2^2}{(D - 2)^2} - \frac{(D - 3) \left((s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2 \right)}{4(D - 2)^2} \right] \right\}.$$
(6.31)

The relation between the eikonal and the scattering angle relevant for discussing the post-Minkowskian expansion as well as comparing with results found using general relativity has been discussed in section 2.4.3 and is given up to 2PM order by,

$$\theta = -\frac{1}{p}\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{b}} \left(\delta^{(1)} + \delta^{(2)}\right) + \dots$$
(6.32)

where as previously stated p is the absolute value of the space-like momentum in the center of mass frame of the two scattering particles.

6.2.1 Various Probe Limits in Arbitrary D

The corresponding deflection angle for the leading eikonal is given by,

$$\theta^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{p} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{b}} \delta^{(1)} = \frac{4\pi G_N \Gamma(\frac{D-2}{2})\sqrt{s}}{\pi^{\frac{D-2}{2}} \mathbf{b}^{D-3}} \frac{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{4}{D-2} m_1^2 m_2^2}{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2} \,. \tag{6.33}$$

In the limit where both masses are zero (the ACV limit [78]) the deflection angle can be written as follows,

$$\theta_{ACV}^{(1)} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\frac{D}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{D-1}{2})} \left(\frac{R_s}{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{D-3} ; \quad R_s^{D-3} = \frac{16\pi G_N M^*}{(D-2)\Omega_{D-2}} ; \quad \Omega_{D-2} = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{D-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{D-1}{2})} , \quad (6.34)$$

where R_s is the effective Schwarzschild radius in D dimensions, $M^* = \sqrt{s}$ or $M^* = m_1, m_2$ depending on which scale is larger, and Ω_{D-2} is the volume of a (D-2)-dimensional sphere.

In the probe-limit with $m_2 = 0$ and $m_1 = M$ where the mass, $M \gg \sqrt{s - M^2}$, we find that the deflection angle becomes,

$$\theta_{\text{null}}^{(1)} = \frac{4\pi G_N \Gamma(\frac{D-2}{2})M}{\pi^{\frac{D-2}{2}} \mathbf{b}^{D-3}} , \qquad (6.35)$$

which is equal to the deflection angle that is obtained from the first term of the eikonal

in (4.102) for p = 0 and with the identification $N\tau_0 = M$. This is also consistent with (A.19) with the Schwarzschild radius defined as in (6.34) with $M^* = M$.

In order to compare with the more general results for timelike geodesics in a *D*dimensional Schwarzschild background obtained in appendix A.1 we can also take the timelike probe-limit. In this limit we have as before $m_1 = M \gg m_2$ where $m_2 = m \neq 0$, so we have $\sqrt{s} \sim M$ and $(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2) \sim 2E_2M$. Using this we find,

$$\theta_{\text{timelike}}^{(1)} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2} - 1\right)\left((D - 2)E_2^2 - m^2\right)}{2(E_2^2 - m^2)\Gamma\left(\frac{D - 1}{2}\right)}\left(\frac{R_s}{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{D - 3} ,\qquad(6.36)$$

where we have used the definition of the Schwarzschild radius given in (6.34). This agrees with equations (A.15) and (A.16) by using the relation, $J \simeq |p| |\mathbf{b}|$.

The subleading contribution to the deflection angle is given by using (6.32) and (6.31),

$$\theta^{(2)} = \frac{(8\pi G_N)^2 (m_1 + m_2)}{Ep^2 \pi^{D - \frac{3}{2}}} \frac{2\Gamma(\frac{2D-5}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-3}{2})}{16 \mathbf{b}^{2D-6}} \\ \times \left\{ \frac{\gamma^2(s)}{\Gamma(D-4) \left[(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2 \right]} + \frac{1}{4\Gamma(D-3)} \\ \times \left[(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{4m_1^2 m_2^2}{(D-2)^2} - \frac{(D-3) \left((s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2 \right)}{4(D-2)^2} \right] \right\}.$$
(6.37)

The subleading eikonal and deflection angle do not contribute in the limit when both masses are zero for any value of D as discussed in [63]. In the probe-limit where $m_2 = 0$ and $m_1 \equiv M \gg E_2$ we find for the subleading eikonal,

$$\delta_{\text{null}}^{(2)} = \frac{(8\pi G_N M)^2 E_2 \Gamma(\frac{2D-7}{2}) \Gamma^2(\frac{D-3}{2})}{16\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}} \Gamma(D-4) \mathbf{b}^{2D-7}} + \frac{(8\pi G_N M)^2 E_2 \Gamma(\frac{2D-7}{2}) \Gamma^2(\frac{D-3}{2})}{16\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}} \Gamma(D-3) \mathbf{b}^{2D-7}} \left(1 - \frac{D-3}{4(D-2)^2}\right). \quad (6.38)$$

The term in the first line is equal to the second term in the first line of (4.102) for p = 0, while the term in the second line is equal to the sum of the terms in the third and fourth line of (4.102) for p = 0. The corresponding deflection angle is given by,

$$\theta_{\text{null}}^{(2)} = \frac{(8\pi G_N M)^2 \Gamma(\frac{2D-5}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-3}{2})}{8\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}}\Gamma(D-4)\mathbf{b}^{2D-6}} + \frac{(8\pi G_N M)^2 \Gamma(\frac{2D-5}{2})\Gamma^2(\frac{D-3}{2})}{8\pi^{D-\frac{3}{2}}\Gamma(D-3)\mathbf{b}^{2D-6}} \left(1 - \frac{D-3}{4(D-2)^2}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(D-\frac{1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma(D-2)} \left(\frac{R_s}{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{2(D-3)}, \qquad (6.39)$$

where we have used the definition of the Schwarzschild radius given in (6.34). This agrees with equation (A.19). We can similarly look at the timelike probe-limit described before (6.36). In this case we find that (6.37) becomes,

$$\theta_{\text{timelike}}^{(2)} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(D - \frac{5}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(D - 2)} \times \frac{\left((2D - 5)(2D - 3)E_2^4 + 6(5 - 2D)E_2^2m^2 + 3m^4\right)}{8(E_2^2 - m^2)^2} \left(\frac{R_s}{\mathbf{b}}\right)^{2(D - 3)}.$$
(6.40)

We can easily check, by using the relation $J \simeq |p||\mathbf{b}|$, that this agrees with equations (A.15) and (A.17) as expected.

6.2.2 Various Probe Limits in D = 4

We will now set D = 4 in the various equations obtained in the previous subsection. We find that the leading eikonal in D = 4 is equal to,

$$\delta^{(1)} = -2G_N \frac{2\gamma(s)}{2Ep} \log \mathbf{b} = -2G_N \frac{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 2m_1^2 m_2^2}{\sqrt{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2}} \log \mathbf{b} , \qquad (6.41)$$

while the deflection angle is given by,

$$\theta^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{p} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{b}} \delta^{(1)} = \frac{4G_N \sqrt{s}}{\mathbf{b}} \frac{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 2m_1^2 m_2^2}{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2}, \qquad (6.42)$$

where we recall $E = \sqrt{s}$, p is the absolute value of the three-dimensional momentum in the center of mass frame of the two scattering particles and we have used equations (6.7) and (2.6). Note that these results are equivalent to the expressions found in section 2.4.2.

In the limit where both masses are zero (ACV limit) one gets,

$$\delta_{ACV}^{(1)} = -2G_N s \, \log \mathbf{b} \; ; \; \theta_{ACV}^{(1)} = \frac{4G_N \sqrt{s}}{\mathbf{b}} = \frac{2R_s}{\mathbf{b}} \; , \tag{6.43}$$

which agrees with results found in [63]. In the probe-limit where $m_2 = 0$ and $m_1 = M$ we find the following eikonal,

$$\delta_{\text{null}}^{(1)} = -2G_N(s - M^2)\log \mathbf{b} \sim -4G_N M E_2 \log \mathbf{b} , \qquad (6.44)$$

where in the rest frame of the massive particle we have again used that $s - M^2 = 2ME_2$.

Notice that equation (6.44) agrees with the first term of (4.110). For the deflection angle we find,

$$\theta_{\text{null}}^{(1)} = \frac{4G_N\sqrt{s}}{\mathbf{b}} = \frac{4G_NM}{\mathbf{b}} , \qquad (6.45)$$

when we assume that $M \gg E_2$. This agrees with the well known expression for the leading contribution to the deflection angle of a Schwarzschild black hole reproduced in (A.21). Taking the timelike probe-limit of (6.42) as described in the previous subsection where, $m_1 = M \gg m_2$ where $m_2 = m \neq 0$, we find,

$$\theta_{\text{timelike}}^{(1)} = \frac{R_s (2E_2^2 - m^2)}{E_2^2 - m^2} \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}} , \qquad (6.46)$$

which we find agrees with the first contribution to (A.20) as well as equivalent results in [48].

The subleading eikonal in D = 4 is found to be,

$$\delta^{(2)} = \frac{(8\pi G_N)^2 (m_1 + m_2)}{64Ep\pi \mathbf{b}} \left[\frac{15}{16} (s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{3}{4} m_1^2 m_2^2 \right]$$

=
$$\frac{\pi G_N^2 (m_1 + m_2)}{2\mathbf{b}\sqrt{(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2}} \left[\frac{15}{4} (s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 3m_1^2 m_2^2 \right] . \quad (6.47)$$

The factor of $m_1 + m_2$ in front implies that the subleading eikonal in the massless limit is vanishing [60],

$$\delta_{ACV}^{(2)} = 0 \quad ; \quad \theta_{ACV}^{(2)} = 0 \; . \tag{6.48}$$

This also implies that there is no contribution of order $1/b^2$ to the deflection angle which is consistent with the result found in the previous subsection that this contribution is zero for any number of spacetime dimensions. From equation (6.47) we can compute the deflection angle,

$$\theta^{(2)} = -\frac{1}{p} \frac{\partial}{\partial \mathbf{b}} \delta^{(2)} = \frac{\pi G_N^2 (m_1 + m_2) \sqrt{s}}{\mathbf{b}^2 \left[(s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2 m_2^2 \right]} \\ \times \left[\frac{15}{4} (s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 3m_1^2 m_2^2 \right].$$
(6.49)

In the probe-limit where $m_2 = 0$ and $m_1 = M$ we find,

$$\delta_{\text{null}}^{(2)} = \frac{15\pi G_N^2 M}{8\mathbf{b}} (s - M^2) \sim \frac{15\pi (G_N M)^2 E_2}{4\mathbf{b}} , \qquad (6.50)$$

which is equal to the second term of (4.110). For the deflection angle we instead get,

$$\theta_{\text{null}}^{(2)} = \frac{15\pi (G_N M)^2}{4\mathbf{b}^2} , \qquad (6.51)$$

which we find agrees with the subleading contribution found in (A.21). We can also take the timelike probe-limit of (6.49) for which we find,

$$\theta_{\text{timelike}}^{(2)} = \frac{3\pi R_s^2 (5E_2^2 - m^2)}{16(E_2^2 - m^2)} \frac{1}{\mathbf{b}^2} \,. \tag{6.52}$$

This agrees with the second contribution to (A.20) as well as equivalent results in [48].

6.3 Discussion

In this chapter we have studied the classical gravitational interaction between two massive scalars in *D*-dimensions up to 2PM order. As usual the spacetime dimension can be used as an infrared regulator and physical observables, such as the deflection angle discussed in section 6.2 have a smooth $D \rightarrow 4$ limit. The structure of the *D*-dimensional result is in some aspects richer than the one found in D = 4. For instance the box integral provides not only the contribution necessary to exponentiate the leading energy behaviour of the tree-level diagram, but also a new genuine contribution to the subleading classical eikonal, see (6.19).

The box integral also provides a subsubleading contribution (6.20) that for $D \neq 4$ has a new imaginary part, while its real part has a structure which also appears in the $\mathcal{O}(G_N^3)$ amplitude presented in [50,51]. In the ultra-relativistic limit $s \gg m_i^2$, this contribution is log-divergent and, if it does exponentiate as suggested in [60], it would provide a new quantum contribution, $\delta_q^{(2)}$, to the eikonal. For instance, from (6.20) in D = 4 one would obtain¹⁶

$$\delta_q^{(2)} \simeq \frac{12G_N^2 s}{\pi b^2} \log \frac{s}{m_1 m_2} = 12 \frac{G_N s}{\hbar} \frac{\lambda_P^2}{\pi b^2} \log \frac{s}{m_1 m_2} , \qquad (6.53)$$

where we have taken the limit $s \gg m_i^2$ in order to compare with equation (5.18) of¹⁷ [60] and λ_P is the Planck length. By restoring the factors of \hbar we can see from (6.41) that $\delta^{(1)}/\hbar$ is dimensionless and is therefore the combination that is exponentiated. On the other hand, $\delta_q^{(2)}$ is dimensionless without the need for any factor of \hbar (see the first expression in (6.53) or equivalently it can be written in terms of λ_P^2 if we extract a factor of $1/\hbar$), which highlights its quantum nature.

 $^{^{16}\}mathrm{The}$ triangle contributions discussed in section 6.1.2 do not yield any log-divergent term.

¹⁷That equation should have an extra factor of λ_P and $\delta_{here}^{(n)} = 2\delta_{there}^{(n-1)}$.

Chapter 7

The Two-Body Hamiltonian in Einstein Gravity

In this chapter we will discuss how to derive the Hamiltonian and associated potential for a binary system in Einstein gravity up to 2PM order using the results we have derived in chapter 6. We will give a brief overview of the derivation of the deflection angle using the Hamiltonian and proceed to derive the *D*-dimensional Hamiltonian. We will also briefly discuss our result in the context of the PN expansion.

7.1 Two-Body Deflection Angle from the Hamiltonian

The generic two-body Hamiltonian can be written as,

$$H(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}) = \sqrt{m_1^2 + \mathbf{p}^2} + \sqrt{m_2^2 + \mathbf{p}^2} + V(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}) , \qquad (7.1)$$

where in general we can write the potential as,

$$V(\boldsymbol{r}, \boldsymbol{p}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n(\boldsymbol{p}^2) G_N^n \left(\frac{1}{|\boldsymbol{r}|}\right)^{n(D-3)} , \qquad (7.2)$$

with undetermined coefficients $c_n(\mathbf{p}^2)$ that do not depend on \mathbf{r} . We also know that the momentum can be decomposed in terms of its radial and angular components as,

$$\mathbf{p}^2 = p_r^2 + \frac{J^2}{r^2}.\tag{7.3}$$

Note that we will use the symbols $|\mathbf{r}|$ and $r = |\mathbf{r}|$ interchangeably in this chapter. Hamilton's equations are given by,

$$\dot{p} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial q} \quad ; \quad \dot{q} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p} , \qquad (7.4)$$

where here we have $q = \{r, \theta\}$ and $p = \{p_r, J\}$. Using (7.1) with (7.4) we find the four equations of motion,

$$\dot{r} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_r} = p_r \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{m_1^2 + p^2}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{m_2^2 + p^2}} + 2\frac{\partial V}{\partial (p^2)} \right) ,$$
 (7.5)

$$\dot{\theta} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial J} = \frac{J}{r^2} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{m_1^2 + \mathbf{p}^2}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{m_2^2 + \mathbf{p}^2}} + 2\frac{\partial V}{\partial(p^2)} \right) , \qquad (7.6)$$

$$\dot{p}_r = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial r} = \frac{J^2}{r^3} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{m_1^2 + p^2}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{m_2^2 + p^2}} \right) - \frac{\partial V}{\partial r} ,$$
 (7.7)

$$\dot{J} = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial \theta} = 0.$$
(7.8)

Using the first two of these equations we can write down the equation of motion for the angle as a function of $r = |\mathbf{r}|$,

$$\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial r} = \frac{J}{r^2 p_r} \,. \tag{7.9}$$

Integrating this equation we can then write the full deflection angle as,

$$\theta + \pi = 2 \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \frac{J}{r^2 \sqrt{\mathbf{p}^2(r, E) - \frac{J^2}{r^2}}} , \qquad (7.10)$$

where r_0 is the minimum separation distance given by,

$$\frac{\partial r}{\partial \theta}\Big|_{r=r_0} = 0 \implies p_r(r_0) = 0 \implies \mathbf{p}^2(r_0, E) - \frac{J^2}{r_0^2} = 0.$$
 (7.11)

To find a perturbative solution to (7.10) we observe that the momentum variable p can be expanded in a post-Minkowskian expansion [51, 52, 54] and so we can write,

$$\boldsymbol{p}^{2}(r,E) = p_{0}^{2}(E) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{f_{n}(E)G_{N}^{n}}{r^{n(D-3)}}, \qquad (7.12)$$

where we have introduced a new set of undetermined coefficients p_0 and $\{f_n\}$ and we are using $r = |\mathbf{r}|$. We will see later that these coefficients are related to the deflection angle (and therefore also the eikonal). Using (7.12) and (7.3) in (7.10) we can write the deflection angle as,

$$\theta + \pi = 2 \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \frac{J}{r^2} \left(p_0^2(E) + \sum_n \frac{f_n(E)G_N^n}{r^{n(D-3)}} - \frac{J^2}{r^2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} .$$
(7.13)

We can now remove the J dependence of the expression above by using the fact that r_0 is defined by (7.11). Doing so we find,

$$\theta + \pi = 2 \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \frac{r_0}{r^2} \left(\frac{p_0^2(E) + \sum_n \frac{f_n(E)G_N^n}{r^{n(D-3)}}}{p_0^2(E) + \sum_n \frac{f_n(E)G_N^n}{r_0^{n(D-3)}}} - \frac{r_0^2}{r^2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} .$$
(7.14)

Performing the substitution, $u = r_0/r$, as we have done many times in appendix A for similar integrals, we find,

$$\theta + \pi = 2 \int_0^1 du \left(\frac{p_0^2(E) + \sum_n f_n(E) G_N^n \left(\frac{u}{r_0}\right)^{n(D-3)}}{p_0^2(E) + \sum_n f_n(E) G_N^n \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right)^{n(D-3)}} - u^2 \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} .$$
(7.15)

Although this integral can be expressed in a closed form as found in [54] it is instructive here to instead perform a perturbative expansion in G_N . Expanding the integrand above as a power series in G_N we find that,

$$\begin{aligned} \theta + \pi &\approx 2 \int_{0}^{1} du \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - u^{2}}} - G_{N} \frac{f_{1}(u^{D-3} - 1)}{2p_{0}^{2}(1 - u^{2})^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left(\frac{1}{r_{0}} \right)^{D-3} \right. \\ \left. + G_{N}^{2} \left(\frac{3f_{1}^{2} \left(u^{D-3} - 1 \right)^{2}}{8p_{0}^{4} \left(1 - u^{2} \right)^{\frac{5}{2}}} - \frac{\left(u^{D-3} - 1 \right) \left(-f_{1}^{2} + f_{2}p_{0}^{2}u^{D-3} + f_{2}p_{0}^{2} \right)}{2p_{0}^{4} \left(1 - u^{2} \right)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \right) \left(\frac{1}{r_{0}} \right)^{2(D-3)} \right], \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.16)$$

where we have only kept terms up to 2PM order. The integrals over u can be readily computed and one finds,

$$\theta \approx G_N \left(\frac{\sqrt{\pi} f_1 \Gamma\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)}{p_0^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)} \right) \left(\frac{1}{r_0} \right)^{D-3} + G_N^2 \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2p_0^4} \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(D-\frac{5}{2}\right) \left((D-4) f_1^2 + 2f_2 p_0^2 \right)}{\Gamma(D-3)} - \frac{(D-3) f_1^2 \Gamma\left(\frac{D-2}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)} \right) \left(\frac{1}{r_0} \right)^{2(D-3)} .$$
(7.17)

The expression above is expressed in terms of r_0 , however we are interested in an expression for the angle in terms of the angular momentum, J. This will allow us to make direct comparisons with our previous results in chapter 6 calculated using the eikonal. To find the relation between r_0 and J we can perturbatively solve the equation $p_r(r_0) = 0$ as indicated by (7.11). Up to 2PM we have,

$$p_0^2(E) + \sum_{n=1}^2 f_n(E) G_N^n \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right)^{n(D-3)} - \frac{J^2}{r_0^2} = 0 , \qquad (7.18)$$

and we find that,

$$r_0 \approx J\left(\frac{1}{p_0} - G_N \frac{f_1 p_0^{D-6}}{2J^{D-3}}\right)$$
 (7.19)

Finally we can substitute (7.19) into (7.17) to express the deflection angle in terms of J,

$$\theta_J \approx \frac{\sqrt{\pi} f_1 \Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2} - 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{G_N p_0^{D-5}}{J^{D-3}}\right) + \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(D - \frac{5}{2}\right) \left((D-4) f_1^2 + 2f_2 p_0^2\right)}{2\Gamma(D-3)} \left(\frac{G_N p_0^{D-5}}{J^{D-3}}\right)^2.$$
(7.20)

We have found that this expression agrees with known results [33, 51, 52, 54] in D = 4.

7.2 The Two-Body Potential

In this section we will explicitly derive the 2PM two-body Hamiltonian for a system of binary black holes in *D*-dimensions. In order to do so we first need to establish the relationship between the various sets of undetermined coefficients defined in the previous section. From (7.2) we have a set $\{c_n\}$ of undetermined coefficients which we would like to relate to the coefficients, $\{f_n\}$ in (7.12).

To relate these two sets of coefficients we find an expression for p^2 by perturbatively solving,

$$\sqrt{m_1^2 + \mathbf{p}^2} + \sqrt{m_2^2 + \mathbf{p}^2} + \sum_{n=1}^2 c_n(\mathbf{p}^2) \left(\frac{G_N}{|\mathbf{r}|}\right)^{n(D-3)} = E , \qquad (7.21)$$

where we have truncated the potential at 2PM order.

At order $\mathcal{O}(G_N^0)$ we have,

$$\sqrt{m_1^2 + p_0^2} + \sqrt{m_2^2 + p_0^2} = E$$

$$\implies p_0^2 = \frac{E^4 - 2E^2 \left(m_1^2 + m_2^2\right) + \left(m_1^2 - m_2^2\right)^2}{4E^2} = \frac{(k_1 k_2)^2 - m_1^2 m_2^2}{E^2} , \quad (7.22)$$

where k_1k_2 is the usual product of incoming momenta of the two massive scalars as described in section 2.1. Notice that this expression for p_0 is equivalent to the expression we use for the absolute value of the space-like momentum in the center of mass frame of the two scattering particles which we have usually denoted as p and can be found in equation (2.6).

We can now move on to the first order in G_N . Since the $\mathcal{O}(G_N)$ contributions to the first two terms in (7.21) will reproduce the value, E, due to the result in (7.22) we can collect all the terms at order G_N and find a solution for f_1 by asserting that the collection of terms at order G_N yields 0. Substituting (7.12) into (7.21) up to $\mathcal{O}(G_N)$ and doing so we find,

$$\frac{G_N}{r^{D-3}} \left(c_1 + \frac{f_1 E}{\left(E^2 + m_1^2 - m_2^2\right)} + \frac{f_1 E}{\left(E^2 - m_1^2 + m_2^2\right)} \right) = 0$$

$$\implies c_1 = -\frac{E}{2E_1 E_2} f_1 , \qquad (7.23)$$

where we have used the expressions for E_1 and E_2 which are given by,

$$E_1 = \frac{E^2 + m_1^2 - m_2^2}{2E} \quad ; \quad E_2 = \frac{E^2 - m_1^2 + m_2^2}{2E} \quad . \tag{7.24}$$

We now perform an equivalent step to order, $\mathcal{O}(G_N^2)$, by keeping all the terms up to $\mathcal{O}(G_N^2)$ in (7.21). In this case we find an expression for c_2 in terms of f_1 and f_2 ,

$$c_{2} = \frac{E}{8E_{1}^{2}E_{2}^{2}\left(E^{4} - \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2}\right)^{2}}\left(-16E_{1}^{2}E_{2}^{2}E^{2}f_{2}\left(E^{4} - \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2}\right)\right)$$

+16E_{1}E_{2}Ef_{1}\left(E^{8} + E^{4}\left(-4m_{1}^{4} + 6m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - 4m_{2}^{4}\right) + 4E^{2}\left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2}\left(m_{1}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}\right)
$$-\left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2}\left(m_{1}^{4} + m_{2}^{4}\right)\right) + f_{1}^{2}\left(E^{8} + 2E^{4}\left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2} - 3\left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{4}\right)\right).$$

(7.25)

Using these results we can now fully relate, up to 2PM order, the undetermined coefficients of the potential, $\{c_i\}$, to the coefficients for the expansion of the momentum, $\{f_i\}$ which enter into the expression for the deflection angle in (7.20). Note that the results in this section are independent of the spacetime dimension D.

7.2.1 Deriving the Potential from the Deflection Angle

In this section we will use the results we have developed in the previous sections with the results from chapter 6 to write down the 2PM *D*-dimensional Hamiltonian for a binary system in Einstein gravity.

From (7.20) we know that the 1PM contribution to the deflection angle can be written in terms of f_1 and p_0 as,

$$\theta_J^{1\text{PM}} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} f_1 \Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2} - 1\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{G_N p_0^{D-5}}{J^{D-3}}\right) . \tag{7.26}$$

We can then use the expression for the angle derived at 1PM using the eikonal, (6.33),

as well as the expression for p_0 , (7.22), to find the equation for f_1 ,

$$f_1 = \frac{2\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-3}{2}}E}\gamma(s) , \qquad (7.27)$$

where we have used the fact that $J = p_0 b$ as well as the definition of $\gamma(s)$ given in (6.7). Using the corresponding expression for c_1 found in (7.23) we also find,

$$c_1 = -\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-3}{2}}E_1E_2}\gamma(s) .$$
 (7.28)

Similarly the expression for the 2PM contribution to the deflection angle in terms of the $\{f_i\}$ and p_0 is given by,

$$\theta_J^{2\text{PM}} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(D - \frac{5}{2}\right)\left((D - 4)f_1^2 + 2f_2p_0^2\right)}{2\Gamma(D - 3)}\left(\frac{G_N \, p_0^{D-5}}{J^{D-3}}\right)^2 \,. \tag{7.29}$$

Comparing the expression above with the result for the 2PM contribution to the angle derived in chapter 6, given by (6.37), we find for f_2 ,

$$f_2 = \frac{2}{\pi^{D-3}E} \Gamma^2 \left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right) \left((m_1 + m_2)\Lambda(s) - (D-4)\frac{(E-m_1-m_2)}{E^2 p^2} \gamma^2(s) \right),$$
(7.30)

where to simplify the result we have defined $\Lambda(s)$ as,

$$\Lambda(s) = (s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - \frac{4m_1^2m_2^2}{(D-2)^2} - \frac{(D-3)\left((s - m_1^2 - m_2^2)^2 - 4m_1^2m_2^2\right)}{4(D-2)^2} .$$
 (7.31)

Using the expression for c_2 derived in (7.25) with the expression above we find that we can write c_2 as,

$$c_{2} = \frac{\pi^{-D} E \Gamma \left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{2E_{1}^{2} E_{2}^{2} \left(E^{4} - \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2}\right)^{2}} \left(-\frac{8\pi^{3} E_{1}^{2} E_{2}^{2} \Gamma \left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{Ep^{2}} \left(E^{4} - \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2}\right)\right)$$

$$\times \left(E^{2} \Lambda(s) p^{2} (m_{1} + m_{2}) - \gamma^{2}(s) (D - 4) (E - m_{1} - m_{2})\right)$$

$$+ 8\gamma(s) \pi^{\frac{D+3}{2}} E_{1} E_{2} \left(E^{8} + E^{4} \left(-4m_{1}^{4} + 6m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - 4m_{2}^{4}\right)\right)$$

$$+ 4E^{2} \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2} \left(m_{1}^{2} + m_{2}^{2}\right) - \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2} \left(m_{1}^{4} + m_{2}^{4}\right)\right)$$

$$+ \frac{\pi^{3} \gamma^{2}(s) \Gamma \left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right) \left(E^{8} + 2E^{4} \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{2} - 3 \left(m_{1}^{2} - m_{2}^{2}\right)^{4}\right)}{E^{2}}\right). \quad (7.32)$$

We now have all the necessary results to write down the full 2PM two-body Hamiltonian in Einstein gravity in arbitrary D-dimensions. Taking (7.1), (7.2), (7.28) and (7.32) we

find,

$$\begin{split} H(\boldsymbol{r},\boldsymbol{p}) &= \sqrt{m_1^2 + \boldsymbol{p}^2} + \sqrt{m_2^2 + \boldsymbol{p}^2} - \frac{G_N}{|\boldsymbol{r}|^{D-3}} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\pi^{\frac{D-3}{2}}} \frac{\gamma(s)}{E^2 \zeta} \right] \\ &+ \frac{G_N^2}{|\boldsymbol{r}|^{2D-6}} \left[\frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{4\pi^D \gamma^5 \zeta^3 m^5} \left\{ \gamma(s) \pi^{\frac{D+3}{2}} m^2 \left(4(2\zeta - 1) \mu^2 \right) \right. \\ &+ m^2 \left(\gamma^4 + \gamma^2 (4 - 16\zeta) + 4\zeta - 5 \right) + 4\mu m \left(\gamma^2 (8\zeta - 2) - 4\zeta + 5 \right) \right) \\ &- \frac{2\pi^3 \Gamma\left(\frac{D-3}{2}\right)}{\mu^2 (\sigma^2 - 1)} \left\{ \gamma^2 (s) [(3\zeta - 1) \mu^2 \left(\sigma^2 - 1\right) + 2\gamma^3 (D - 4) \zeta^2 m^2 (\gamma - 1)] \right. \\ &+ 2\Lambda(s) \gamma^3 \zeta^2 \mu^2 m^4 \left(\sigma^2 - 1 \right) \right\} \right\} \bigg], \end{split}$$
(7.33)

where we have defined the symbols,

$$\sigma = \frac{-k_1 k_2}{m_1 m_2} ; \ \zeta = \frac{E_1 E_2}{E^2} ; \ m = m_1 + m_2$$
$$\gamma = \frac{E}{m} ; \ \mu = \frac{m_1 m_2}{m} ; \ \nu = \frac{\mu}{m} .$$
(7.34)

To compare our results here with known results in the literature we can set the spacetime dimension to the usual D = 4. Also using the explicit expressions for $\gamma(s)$, (6.7), and $\Lambda(s)$, (7.31), we find,

$$H(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p}) = \sqrt{m_1^2 + \mathbf{p}^2} + \sqrt{m_2^2 + \mathbf{p}^2} + \frac{G_N}{|\mathbf{r}|} \left[\frac{\mu^2}{\zeta \gamma^2} \left(1 - 2\sigma^2 \right) \right] + \frac{G_N^2}{|\mathbf{r}|^2} \left[\frac{\nu^2 m^3}{\gamma^2 \zeta} \left(\frac{3}{4} \left(1 - 5\sigma^2 \right) - \frac{4\nu\sigma \left(1 - 2\sigma^2 \right)}{\gamma \zeta} - \frac{\nu^2 (1 - \zeta) \left(1 - 2\sigma^2 \right)^2}{2\gamma^3 \zeta^2} \right) \right],$$
(7.35)

where we have rearranged the 2PM contribution to make comparison with the literature easier. We can quickly see this agrees with equivalent results in [33, 50, 51, 53].

7.2.2 PN Expansion

In this subsection we will set D = 4 and perform the PN expansion of the 2PM potential that we have calculated in the previous subsection. We will also explicitly compare the static (for simplicity) component with results in the literature and collect all the terms from our 2PM result that are relevant at 5PN.

From the 2PM potential found in (7.35), we can perform an expansion in v_{∞}^2 by using the relation we found in (2.64), which we rewrite here,

$$E^2 = 2m_1 m_2 \sqrt{1 + v_\infty^2} + m_1^2 + m_2^2 .$$
(7.36)

Performing the expansion using the relation above we find,

$$V(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{G_N m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|} \left[-1 - \frac{\left(3m_1^2 + 8m_1m_2 + 3m_2^2\right)v_\infty^2}{2\left(m_1 + m_2\right)^2} + \frac{\left(5m_1^2 + 2m_1m_2 + 5m_2^2\right)v_\infty^4}{8\left(m_1 + m_2\right)^2} + \dots \right] + \frac{G_N^2 m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|^2} \left[\frac{\left(m_1^2 + 3m_1m_2 + m_2^2\right)}{2\left(m_1 + m_2\right)^2} + \frac{\left(10m_1^4 + 67m_1m_2^3 + 117m_1^2m_2^2 + 67m_1^3m_2 + 10m_2^4\right)v_\infty^2}{4\left(m_1 + m_2\right)^3} + \frac{\left(27m_1^6 + 55m_1m_2^5 - 137m_1^2m_2^4 - 333m_1^3m_2^3 - 137m_1^4m_2^2 + 55m_1^5m_2 + 27m_2^6\right)v_\infty^4}{16\left(m_1 + m_2\right)^5} + \dots \right],$$

$$(7.37)$$

where the ellipses denote contributions at higher orders in the velocity.

Static Potential

We can easily observe that the first term in (7.37) is the Newton potential, as expected at 0PN. If we collect the static terms (i.e. the terms that are non-zero when we set $v_{\infty} = 0$) we find that the static potential up to 2PM accuracy is given by,

$$V_{\text{static}} = -\frac{G_N m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|} + \frac{G_N^2 m_1 m_2 \left(m_1^2 + 3m_1 m_2 + m_2^2\right)}{2 \left(m_1 + m_2\right) |\mathbf{r}|^2} \,. \tag{7.38}$$

Although the first term trivially reproduces the Newtonian result the second term does not reproduce the results in [38]. However as explained in [50] the PM potential is equivalent, in the PN expansion, to results in the literature only after a canonical transformation. We can therefore try to identify the explicit canonical transformation required in order to make the above result match with the literature.

We can use an ansatz for the transformation of the form,

$$(r,p) \to (R,P) = \left(\left(1 + A \frac{G_N}{r} \right) r + B \frac{G_N}{r} p, p \right) ,$$
 (7.39)

where A, B are undetermined constants and we have not transformed the momenta since it does not appear in (7.38). For this transformation the Poisson bracket yields,

$$\{R, P\}_{r,p} = 1 - \frac{G_N p}{r^2} B = 1$$
, (7.40)

where we have set this equal to 1 as required for a canonical transformation. Using this we find that we require B = 0. Substituting the remaining part of the transformation

into our static potential and expanding in G_N we find,

$$V_{\text{static}} = -\frac{G_N m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|} + \frac{G_N^2}{|\mathbf{r}|^2} \left(\frac{m_1 m_2 \left(m_1^2 + 3m_1 m_2 + m_2^2\right)}{2 \left(m_1 + m_2\right)} + m_1 m_2 A \right) .$$
(7.41)

From this we find the value for A required to connect to the results found in [38] is,

$$A = -\frac{m_1 m_2}{2(m_1 + m_2)} \,. \tag{7.42}$$

We then have,

$$V_{\text{static}} = -\frac{G_N m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|} + \frac{G_N^2 m_1 m_2 (m_1 + m_2)}{2|\mathbf{r}|^2} .$$
(7.43)

This reproduces the relevant results in [38]. We have therefore produced an explicit check that the static components of our 2PM potential match known results in the PN expansion.

Collecting Terms Relevant for the 5PN Potential

In this subsection we will collect terms coming from the 2PM potential that are relevant at 5PN order. In principle one could use this result in combination with the static component of the 5PN potential [38] and the relevant results coming from the 3PM component of the potential [50,51] to reconstruct most of the potential at 5PN accuracy.

From the discussion in section 2.3 we can quickly identify which orders in velocity we need to collect from the 1PM and 2PM contributions to the potential in order to find the contributions relevant to the 5PN potential. For 1PM we clearly need the $\mathcal{O}(v_{\infty}^{10})$ terms in the velocity expansion and equivalently for 2PM we need the $\mathcal{O}(v_{\infty}^{8})$ terms. So we find,

$$\tilde{V}_{5PN} = -\frac{G_N m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|} \frac{v_\infty^{10}}{256 (m_1 + m_2)^6} \left(77m_1^6 + 206m_1m_2^5 + 199m_1^2m_2^4 + 156m_1^3m_2^3 + 199m_1^4m_2^2 + 206m_1^5m_2 + 77m_2^6 \right) - \frac{G_N^2 m_1 m_2}{|\mathbf{r}|^2} \frac{v_\infty^8}{256 (m_1 + m_2)^9} \left(425m_1^{10} + 1879m_1m_2^9 + 1617m_1^2m_2^8 - 5685m_1^3m_2^7 - 17737m_1^4m_2^6 - 23781m_1^5m_2^5 - 17737m_1^6m_2^4 - 5685m_1^7m_2^3 + 1617m_1^8m_2^2 + 1879m_1^9m_2 + 425m_2^{10} \right),$$
(7.44)

where the result is given in the PM gauge.

Chapter 8

Conclusions and Outlook

In this thesis we have considered binary systems in various theories of gravity with the ultimate goal of computing quantities relevant for describing the conservative dynamics of binary black holes. Computing these quantities directly using general relativity has proven to be a difficult task [39–44]. For this reason, in this thesis we have developed techniques using quantum field theory to simplify this problem. Using the eikonal approximation the calculation translates into calculating only a subset of Feynman diagrams from all the Feynman diagrams present at each order in G_N . In addition to this we also need to be able to identify the classical contributions for which the eikonal approximation technique provides a relatively simple algorithm as described towards the end of chapter 2. Chapters 4 and 5 were developed to understand the eikonal approximation techniques in more detail whilst in chapters 6 and 7 we applied those techniques in the context of binary black holes in Einstein gravity. In this final chapter we will discuss and summarise the various results in each chapter and give some outlook on future avenues and extensions that could be researched using the material developed in this thesis.

In chapter 4 we studied the possibility that the eikonal could be described by an operator instead of a simple phase in the context of type II supergravity focusing on the scattering of massless perturbative states from a stack of Dp-branes. The two main points of our analysis for the subleading eikonal in chapter 4 are that the relevant information is encoded in the onshell three and four-point vertices (see section 4.2) and that its derivation requires us to disentangle cross terms between leading and subleading energy contributions (see section 4.3). In the scenario under study, the inelastic contributions which grow with energy in the one-loop amplitudes, are completely accounted for by the cross terms mentioned above and thus the final expression for the first subleading eikonal in supergravity is described fully by the elastic processes and

is given by,

$$\delta^{(2)}(E,b) = \frac{(NT_p\kappa_D)^2 E}{16\pi^{D-p-\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{\Gamma^2\left(\frac{D-p-3}{2}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{2D-2p-7}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(D-p-4\right)} \frac{1}{b^{2D-2p-7}},$$
(8.1)

which agrees with previous results in [86]. We do not know a general argument proving that this is always the case and so we think that it would be interesting to check this pattern both in more complicated theories and at further subleading orders (higher orders in the PM expansion). For instance, an analysis of the eikonal operator in string theory beyond the leading order [78,101,102] is missing. Of course we could use the full four-point string amplitudes in our derivation of section 4.2 simply by reinstating the α' dependence that in maximally supersymmetric theories appears just in the overall combination of gamma functions,

$$\frac{\Gamma(1-\frac{\alpha's}{4})\Gamma(1-\frac{\alpha't}{4})\Gamma(1-\frac{\alpha'u}{4})}{\Gamma(1+\frac{\alpha's}{4})\Gamma(1+\frac{\alpha't}{4})\Gamma(1+\frac{\alpha'u}{4})}.$$
(8.2)

For instance in the first contribution to the dilaton to dilaton scattering we analysed, this amounts to including the factor defined above in the vertex (4.9). However this is not sufficient to reconstruct the full string eikonal as, of course, we need to include also the contributions due to the exchanges of the leading and subleading Regge trajectories between the D*p*-branes and the perturbative states. It seems possible to generalise, along these lines, the analysis of chapter 4 to the full string setup by using the formalism of the Reggeon vertex [59, 106, 161, 162].

On the more conceptual side, it would be interesting to check if in more general cases, such as those with two arbitrary masses m_1, m_2 at higher orders in the PM expansion or in cases with non-zero angular momentum, the subleading contributions to the eikonal are still universal or if there are inelastic effects that induce differences between the various states as we know happens when the 3-graviton vertex is modified [103].

In chapter 5 we studied the scattering of massless states in Kaluza-Klein gravity with non-zero Kaluza-Klein mass. Recent work [163] has investigated the particular case of binary Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton black holes in the post-Newtonian approximation. We believe that our result for the leading eikonal in Kaluza-Klein theories,

$$\delta^{(1)}(D-1,R) = \frac{\kappa_D^2}{2} \frac{s'-m_1^2-m_2^2-2m_1m_2}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-1}{2}}} \frac{1}{(b')^{\frac{D-5}{2}}} \frac{1}{R} \times \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{ib_s n/R} \left(\frac{|n|}{R}\right)^{\frac{D-5}{2}} K_{\frac{D-5}{2}} \left(\frac{|n|b'}{R}\right), \quad (8.3)$$

could be relevant in the study of such binary systems in the first post-Minkowskian approximation. The massless sector of the Kaluza-Klein action given by (5.4) supported

the well known Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton black hole solutions whose extremal Q = 2Mlimit gave deflection angles consistent with the eikonal calculation in the limit where one of the 2 massive Kaluza-Klein scalars is taken to be very heavy and the other is taken to be massless.

The techniques developed in the chapters mentioned above were then systematically applied in the more general case of two massive scalars with arbitrary masses m_1, m_2 in chapter 6. Doing so allowed us to compute the *D*-dimensional two-body deflection angles up to 2PM, $\mathcal{O}(G_N^2)$, via the eikonal approximation method.

An interesting feature of the 2PM eikonal phase for massive scalars that we obtained in chapter 6 is that its double-massless limit smoothly reproduces the massless result up to 2PM order. This is also valid for the quantum contribution mentioned in section 6.3. Using our results we can see that in the ultra-relativistic limit we have,

$$\theta_{\rm ACV}^{(2)} = 0 \quad ; \quad \delta_{q,\rm ACV}^{(2)} = \frac{12G_N^2 s}{\pi b^2} \log(s) ,$$
(8.4)

which reproduces the known 2PM results in the ultra-relativistic limit found in [60].

The same property does not seem to hold in the 3PM case for the result by Bern et al [50,51] and it would be very interesting to understand the origin of this mismatch. Specifically there are certain $\log(m_i)$ divergences in their result. In [50,51] the authors argue that these $\log(m_i)$ divergences present when taking the $m_i \rightarrow 0$ limit are due to the hierarchy of scales when performing the integrals necessary to compute their result. This however does not seem to resolve the divergence present in the ultra-relativistic limit where we find a $\log(s)$ divergence,

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} (\dots) \sinh^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{s - (m_1 + m_2)^2}{m_1 m_2}} \right) \sim -\frac{16G_N^3 s^{3/2}}{b^3} \log \left(\frac{s}{m_1 m_2} \right) .$$
(8.5)

The prefactor here is of the right order in M^* to contribute¹⁸. This suggests that this quantity really does contribute to the angle in the ultra-relativistic limit when we take the impact parameter to be large.

There has recently been a new 3PM result by Damour [56] which differs from the 3PM result by Bern et al. Performing the same check on the $\operatorname{arcsinh}(\ldots)$ component of the result by Damour we find,

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} (\dots) \sinh^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{s - (m_1 + m_2)^2}{m_1 m_2}} \right) \sim -\frac{768 G_N^3 m_1^2 m_2^2}{s^{1/2} b^3} \log \left(\frac{s}{m_1 m_2} \right) \to 0 , \quad (8.6)$$

where in the last step we have taken $s \to \infty$ explicitly. We quickly see that in this case

¹⁸Specifically it is of the order M^{*3} as required at 3PM. Recall from the discussion in section 6.2.1 that in the ultra-relativistic (or double-massless) limit $M^* = \sqrt{s}$.

the problematic $\log(s)$ divergence in the ultra-relativistic limit is not present due to the factor of $s^{-1/2}$. Although scaling arguments similar to the above suggest that the massless probe limit is smoothly reproduced in both cases, we can also observe that the double massless limit of both of these results does not reproduce the equivalent 3PM contribution calculated in [60, 108] as is also recently noted in a paper by Bern et al [58].



Figure 14: A figure illustrating the two-body scattering process with the variables required to go beyond 2PM level when discussing the deflection angle.

We believe that the results discussed in this thesis can be applied to higher orders in the PM expansion beyond the 2PM level considered explicitly here. This could provide an alternative method with which to check various known results at the 3PM level and beyond. Including the relevant higher order eikonal corrections beyond 2PM, one could use the techniques discussed in section 2.4.3 by considering a modification to (2.121) where we do not linearise in ϕ . This is schematically given by,

$$\frac{a_J(s,m_i)}{4Ep} \approx \frac{J}{2p^2} \left(\frac{J}{p}\right)^{-i\delta_1} \frac{2\pi}{\sqrt{-\det(iJS''(x_0,\phi_0))}} \\ \times \exp\left[iJ\left(-\tilde{\delta}_1\log\left(x_0\right) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\frac{\tilde{\delta}_{k+1}}{x_0^k} + 2x_0\sin\phi_0 - 2\phi_0\right)\right], \quad (8.7)$$

where (x_0, ϕ_0) is the appropriate saddle point calculated perturbatively up to the desired PM order. The schematic above along with the expression relating the partial waves to the deflection angle given by (2.99) has been has been checked perturbatively up to $\mathcal{O}(G^5)$ and found to agree with the more common expression [49, 58] for the deflection angle derived using kinematic arguments and given by,

$$\sin \frac{\theta}{2} = -\frac{1}{2p} \frac{\partial}{\partial b_e} \delta(s, b_e)$$
$$\implies \tan \frac{\theta}{2} = \frac{1}{2p} \left(\frac{\delta_1}{b} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{k \delta_{k+1}}{b^k} \cos^{k-1} \frac{\theta}{2} \right)$$
(8.8)

where we have used $b = b_e \cos \frac{\theta}{2}$ as recently discussed in [58] and illustrated in figure 14 in order to be able to consistently use these equations beyond the 2PM level.

Another interesting development would be to generalise the analytic bootstrap approach of [60, 63, 108] beyond the massless D = 4 case. In that approach the quantum part of the eikonal $\delta_q^{(2)}$ plays an important role in the derivation of the subsequent classical PM order and we expect that a similar pattern is valid also beyond the setup of [60, 63, 108]. This approach has the potential to provide an independent derivation of the 3PM eikonal phase both in the massless higher dimensional case and in the physically interesting case of the massive scattering in D = 4.

Chapter 7 discusses how to derive the potential from the dynamical information calculated using our eikonal approach. Starting from the two-body deflection angle we were able to reverse-engineer and find the two-body Hamiltonian required to reproduce the two-body deflection angle result. This is an important step in our approach because although all the dynamical information is neatly contained in the two-body deflection angle, the Hamiltonian form is useful for experimentalists and others which use these results to aid the creation of more accurate gravitational wave templates.

There are many more interesting and exciting avenues of research aside from the ones mentioned in more detail above. These include studying cases with non-zero angular momentum in order to study the case of binary spinning black holes [91–94,97–99], computing higher order results in both the PM and PN expansion [38,50,51,56,164], studying these processes in modified theories of gravity [103, 104, 165, 166], as well as including fine structure to better understand the dynamics of binary neutron stars [57]. Finally there have been recent developments in connecting the amplitude results directly to the two-body deflection angle both bypassing the Hamiltonian approach as well as the eikonal approach [52, 54, 55] and these methods could be studied in more detail.

Appendix A

Geodesics in Black Hole Backgrounds

In this appendix we will be describing geodesics in a variety of black hole backgrounds which are relevant to the main text.

We can write the action for a massive relativistic particle of mass m in a background $g_{\mu\nu}$ as,

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \left(e(\tau)^{-1} \dot{x}^2 - m^2 e(\tau) \right) , \qquad (A.1)$$

where $\dot{x}^2 = g_{\mu\nu} \frac{dx^{\mu}}{d\tau} \frac{dx^{\nu}}{d\tau}$ and $e(\tau)$ is an auxiliary field. The equation of motion for $e(\tau)$ is then easily obtained,

$$e^2 = -\frac{\dot{x}^2}{m^2}$$
 (A.2)

Using this equation we will be able to calculate the deflection angle for null-like or time-like probes for the different black hole backgrounds we will consider.

A.1 Geodesics in a *D*-dimensional Schwarzschild Background

The metric for a D-dimensional Schwarzschild black hole is given by,

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = -\left(1 - \left(\frac{R_s}{r}\right)^n\right)dt^2 + \left(1 - \left(\frac{R_s}{r}\right)^n\right)^{-1}dr^2 + r^2d\Omega_{n+1}^2, \qquad (A.3)$$

where n = D - 3 and R_s is the Schwarzschild radius given by,

$$R_s^{D-3} = \frac{16\pi G_N M}{(D-2)\Omega_{D-2}} \quad ; \quad \Omega_{D-2} = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{D-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{D-1}{2})} \; . \tag{A.4}$$

For simplicity we will use the spherical symmetry of the Schwarzschild solution and work in the equatorial plane and so we set all the angles, $\theta_i = \pi/2$, such that we are left with only one angle, ϕ , in the impact plane. Inserting (A.3) into (A.2) and using the reparameterization invariance to set e = 1 we find,

$$-m^{2} = -\left(1 - \left(\frac{R_{s}}{r}\right)^{n}\right)\left(\frac{dt}{d\tau}\right)^{2} + \left(1 - \left(\frac{R_{s}}{r}\right)^{n}\right)^{-1}\left(\frac{dr}{d\tau}\right)^{2} + r^{2}\left(\frac{d\phi}{d\tau}\right)^{2} .$$
 (A.5)

Since the metric is independent of both t and ϕ we have two constants of the motion which are given by,

$$-E = -\left(1 - \left(\frac{R_s}{r}\right)^n\right) \frac{dt}{d\tau} , \qquad (A.6)$$

$$J = r^2 \frac{d\phi}{d\tau} , \qquad (A.7)$$

where E and J parametrize the energy and total angular momentum of the system respectively. Notice that the symbol E in this appendix corresponds to E_2 in sections 6.2.1 and 6.2.2 where we consider various probe-limits to the 1PM and 2PM two-body deflection angles. Substituting these quantities into (A.5) we can find an expression for $dr/d\tau$ and using the chain rule we can find the corresponding expression for $d\phi/dr$. The deflection angle is then given by,

$$\Phi = 2 \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \left(\frac{d\phi}{dr}\right) - \pi , \qquad (A.8)$$

where r_0 is the point of closest approach. Inserting the relevant quantities into the expression above and expanding in powers of $(R_s/r_0)^n$ we notice that we can express the result as a series,

$$\Phi = 2\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \int_0^1 du A_j(u) \left(\frac{R_s}{r_0}\right)^{jn} , \qquad (A.9)$$

where we have used the substitution $u = r_0/r$ and explicitly evaluated the integrals up to third order and found the following results,

$$\int_0^1 du A_1(u) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right) \left(E^2(n+1) - m^2\right)}{4 \left(E^2 - m^2\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2} + 1\right)} , \qquad (A.10)$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} du A_{2}(u) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{16 \left(E^{2} - m^{2}\right)^{2}} \left(\frac{\Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma(n+1)} \left(E^{4}(4(n+2)n+3)\right) - 6E^{2}m^{2}(2n+1) + 3m^{4}\right) - \frac{4E^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)\left(E^{2}(n+1) - m^{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}\right)}\right),$$
(A.11)

$$\int_{0}^{1} du A_{3}(u) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{32 (m^{2} - E^{2})^{3}} \left(-\frac{2E^{2}\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right) \left(E^{2}(n-2) + 4m^{2}\right) \left(E^{2}(n+1) - m^{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}\right)} + \frac{2E^{2}\Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(E^{4}(4(n+2)n+3) - 6E^{2}m^{2}(2n+1) + 3m^{4}\right)}{\Gamma(n)} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3n}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{3n}{2} + 1\right)} \left[E^{6}(-(n+1))(3n+1)(3n+5) + 15E^{4}m^{2}(n+1)(3n+1) - 15E^{2}m^{4}(3n+1) + 5m^{6}\right] \right).$$
(A.12)

These results in addition to the relation up to third order between the point of closest approach and the angular momentum can be used to express the result for the deflection angle up to third order in $(R_s/J)^n$. The relation between r_0 and J is found by evaluating,

$$\frac{dr}{d\tau}\Big|_{r=r_0} = E^2 - m^2 \left(1 - \frac{R_s}{r_0}\right)^n - \frac{J^2}{r_0^2} \left(1 - \frac{R_s}{r_0}\right)^n = 0$$
(A.13)

and up to third order in $J(R_s/J)^n$ is found to be,

$$r_0 \approx J \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{E^2 - m^2}} - \frac{1}{2} E^2 \left(E^2 - m^2 \right)^{\frac{n-3}{2}} \left(\frac{R_s}{J} \right)^n - \frac{1}{8} E^2 \left(E^2 (2n+1) - 4m^2 \right) \left(E^2 - m^2 \right)^{n-\frac{5}{2}} \left(\frac{R_s}{J} \right)^{2n} \right).$$
(A.14)

Putting together the relevant quantities and expanding the resulting expression as a power series in $(R_s/J)^n$ we find that the deflection angle is given by,

$$\Phi = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \Phi_j \left(\frac{R_s}{J}\right)^{j(D-3)} , \qquad (A.15)$$

where we have substituted for n = D - 3 and we have for the first 3 terms,

$$\Phi_1 = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2} - 1\right)(E^2 - m^2)^{\frac{D-5}{2}}\left[(D-2)E^2 - m^2\right]}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)},$$
(A.16)

$$\Phi_2 = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(D - \frac{5}{2}\right)(E^2 - m^2)^{D-5}}{8\Gamma(D-2)} \times \left[(2D - 5)(2D - 3)E^4 + 6(5 - 2D)E^2m^2 + 3m^4\right] , \qquad (A.17)$$

$$\Phi_3 = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{3D}{2} - 4\right)\left(E^2 - m^2\right)^{\frac{3(D-5)}{2}}}{16\Gamma\left(\frac{3D}{2} - \frac{7}{2}\right)} \times \left[(3D-8)(3D-4)(D-2)E^6 - 15(D-2)(3D-8)E^4m^2\right]$$

$$+15(3D-8)E^2m^4 - 5m^6]. (A.18)$$

There are a few limiting cases of the results above that we can use to compare with known results. The result for a null geodesic in general D is given by the m = 0 case of the equations above. We find,

$$\Phi = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{D}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{D-1}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^{D-3} + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(D-\frac{1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma(D-2)} \left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^{2(D-3)} + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{3D}{2}-1\right)}{6\Gamma\left(\frac{3D}{2}-\frac{7}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^{3(D-3)} + \dots, \qquad (A.19)$$

where we have also used that when m = 0 we have J = Eb. Comparing this expression with the results found in appendix D of [1] we find agreement for the first two terms (note the third term was not calculated in the aforementioned reference). We can also look at the D = 4 timelike geodesic ($m \neq 0$) case where we find,

$$\Phi = \frac{\left(2E^2 - m^2\right)}{\sqrt{E^2 - m^2}} \left(\frac{R_s}{J}\right) + \frac{3\pi}{16} \left(5E^2 - m^2\right) \left(\frac{R_s}{J}\right)^2 + \frac{\left(64E^6 - 120E^4m^2 + 60E^2m^4 - 5m^6\right)}{12(E^2 - m^2)^{3/2}} \left(\frac{R_s}{J}\right)^3 + \dots, \quad (A.20)$$

which has been checked and agrees with equivalent results in [33, 48, 50]. Finally by taking the m = 0 case of the expression above we can also look at the case of a null geodesic in D = 4. This yields,

$$\Phi = \frac{2R_s}{b} + \frac{15\pi}{16} \left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^2 + \frac{16}{3} \left(\frac{R_s}{b}\right)^3 + \dots$$
 (A.21)

We find that this agrees with well known results.

Note that to relate these results to those found when studying the supergravity eikonal in chapter 4 we need to use the relation between the Schwarzschild radius and the various constants of the stack of (p = 0) D-branes given by,

$$R_s^{D-3} = \frac{N\kappa_D T_{p=0}}{\Omega_{D-2}(D-2)} .$$
 (A.22)

A.2 Null-Like Geodesics in a Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton Black Hole Background

We can consider black hole solutions in a theory with a graviton, dilaton and photon with an action given by [110],

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R - 2(\nabla \Phi)^2 - e^{-2\alpha \Phi} F^2 \right) , \qquad (A.23)$$

where units have been taken such that $\kappa = 1/\sqrt{2}$ and the spacetime dimension has been taken to be D = 4. The solution describing static, spherically-symmetric black holes in this theory is given by,

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{\gamma} dt^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right)^{-1} \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{-\gamma} dr^{2} + r^{2} \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{1 - \gamma} d\Omega^{2}$$
(A.24)

$$e^{2\phi} = \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{\sqrt{1 - \gamma^2}}$$
 (A.25)

$$F_{tr} = \frac{Q}{r^2} , \qquad (A.26)$$

where $\gamma = \frac{1-\alpha^2}{1+\alpha^2}$ and we define the various symbols introduced, which are related to the mass and charge of the black hole, via,

$$2M = r_{+} + \gamma r_{-} \qquad 2Q^{2} = (1+\gamma)r_{+}r_{-} . \qquad (A.27)$$

Inverting the equations above we find that we can write,

$$r_{+} = M + M\sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma}{1 + \gamma} \left(\frac{Q}{M}\right)^{2}} \qquad r_{-} = \frac{M}{\gamma} - \frac{M}{\gamma} \sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma}{1 + \gamma} \left(\frac{Q}{M}\right)^{2}} .$$
 (A.28)

We will consider the deflection angle for general parameter γ below, however it is worth noting at this stage that the above solution takes an interesting form in the specific case when $\alpha = \sqrt{3}$ and we take the extremal limit $r_{-} = r_{+}$, or correspondingly Q = 2M. The metric then becomes,

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 + \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} dt^{2} + \left(1 + \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dr^{2} + r^{2} \left(1 + \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} d\Omega^{2} .$$
(A.29)

As we have done in the case of the Schwarzschild black hole in the previous subsection we can use the spherical symmetry and take θ to be in the equatorial plane, $\theta = \pi/2$. We can then use (A.2) to write the equation for a massless probe in the metric, (A.24), that we are considering here as,

$$0 = -\left(1 - \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{\gamma} \left(\frac{dt}{d\tau}\right)^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{r_{+}}{r}\right)^{-1} \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{-\gamma} \left(\frac{dr}{d\tau}\right)^{2} + r^{2} \left(1 - \frac{r_{-}}{r}\right)^{1-\gamma} \left(\frac{d\phi}{d\tau}\right)^{2}.$$
(A.30)

As in this previous subsection, the metric we are considering here is independent of both t and ϕ and so we have two constants of the motion which are given by,

$$-E = -\left(1 - \frac{r_+}{r}\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r}\right)^{\gamma} \frac{dt}{d\tau} , \qquad (A.31)$$

$$J = r^2 \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r}\right)^{1-\gamma} \frac{d\phi}{d\tau} .$$
 (A.32)

Substituting for all the relevant quantities in (A.30) and solving for $d\phi/dr$ we find that the deflection angle is given by,

$$\Phi + \pi = 2 \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \frac{1}{r^2 \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r}\right)^{1-\gamma}} \left[\frac{\left(1 - \frac{r_+}{r_0}\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r_0}\right)^{\gamma}}{r_0^2 \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r_0}\right)^{1-\gamma}} - \frac{\left(1 - \frac{r_+}{r}\right) \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r}\right)^{\gamma}}{r^2 \left(1 - \frac{r_-}{r}\right)^{1-\gamma}} \right]_{(A.33)}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

Using the substitution $u = r_0/r$ we find,

$$\Phi + \pi = 2 \int_0^1 du \left[\left(1 - \frac{r_+}{r_0} \right) \left(1 - \frac{r_- u}{r_0} \right) \left(\frac{r_0 - r_-}{r_0 - r_- u} \right)^{2\gamma - 1} - u^2 \left(1 - \frac{r_+ u}{r_0} \right) \left(1 - \frac{r_- u}{r_0} \right) \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(A.34)

We want to solve this integral as an expansion in $1/r_0$ as we have done in the previous subsection, so expanding the integrand in powers of $1/r_0$ up to third order we have,

$$\Phi + \pi = 2\left(\int_0^1 du \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - u^2}} + \int_0^1 du A_1(u) \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right) + \int_0^1 du A_2(u) \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right)^2 + \int_0^1 du A_3(u) \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right)^3 + \dots\right),$$
(A.35)

where we have explicitly solved for the relevant integrals and found,

$$\int_{0}^{1} du A_{1}(u) = 2M , \qquad (A.36)$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} du A_{2}(u) = \sqrt{\frac{(\gamma+1)M^{2}-2\gamma Q^{2}}{(\gamma+1)M^{2}}} M^{2} \left(\frac{\pi}{16\gamma^{2}}-\frac{1}{\gamma}-\frac{\pi}{16}+1\right)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{16\gamma^2} [(\pi (31\gamma^2 - 1) + 16(1 - 3\gamma)\gamma)M^2 + \pi (1 - 7\gamma)\gamma Q^2], \quad (A.37)$$

$$\int_0^1 du A_3(u) = \frac{M}{48\gamma^3} (\gamma - 1) \sqrt{\frac{(\gamma + 1)M^2 - 2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma + 1)M^2}} \left(2M^2 \left(3\pi \left(17\gamma^2 + \gamma - 1 \right) \right. \right.$$

$$+ 4\gamma (1 - 23\gamma)) + \gamma Q^2 (32\gamma + \pi (3 - 21\gamma)))$$

$$+ \frac{M}{48\gamma^3 (\gamma + 1)} \left(3\gamma (\pi Q^2 (\gamma + 1)((23\gamma - 14)\gamma + 3) \right.$$

$$- 8\gamma (\gamma (19\gamma + 10) - 1)) - 2M^2 (\gamma + 1)(3\pi ((\gamma (47\gamma - 16) - 2)\gamma + 1))$$

$$- 4\gamma ((145\gamma - 24)\gamma + 1))) . \qquad (A.38)$$

Note that we have rewritten the results for the integrals in terms of the black hole mass and charge. We would like to further write this result in terms of the impact parameter b and so we must identify the relation between r_0 and b as we have also done in the previous subsection. We find that up to third order,

$$r_{0} \approx b + \frac{2\gamma^{2}M\sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^{2}}{(\gamma+1)M^{2}}} - 2\gamma M\sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^{2}}{(\gamma+1)M^{2}}} - 6\gamma^{2}M + 2\gamma M}{4\gamma^{2}} + \frac{-7\gamma^{2}M^{2} + \gamma^{2}M^{2}\sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^{2}}{(\gamma+1)M^{2}}} - M^{2}\sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^{2}}{(\gamma+1)M^{2}}} + M^{2} + 3\gamma^{2}Q^{2} - \gamma Q^{2}}{4b\gamma^{2}}}{4b\gamma^{2}}.$$
(A.39)

Substituting this and expanding as appropriate we find,

$$\begin{split} \Phi &= \frac{4M}{b} + \frac{1}{b^2} \frac{\pi}{8\gamma^2} \left(M^2 \left(\gamma^2 \left(-\left(\sqrt{\frac{(\gamma+1)M^2 - 2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma+1)M^2}} - 31 \right) \right) \right) \right. \\ &+ \sqrt{\frac{(\gamma+1)M^2 - 2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma+1)M^2}} - 1 \right) + \gamma (1 - 7\gamma) Q^2 \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{b^3} \frac{4}{3\gamma^2} \left(M \left(-34\gamma^2 M^2 + 2\gamma^2 M^2 \sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma+1)M^2}} - \gamma^2 Q^2 \sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma+1)M^2}} \right) \\ &- 2M^2 \sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma+1)M^2}} + \gamma Q^2 \sqrt{1 - \frac{2\gamma Q^2}{(\gamma+1)M^2}} + 2M^2 + 15\gamma^2 Q^2 - 3\gamma Q^2 \right) \\ &+ \dots \end{split}$$
(A.40)

We can check this result by computing the $\gamma = 1$ case which corresponds to a Reissner–Nordstrom black hole. Choosing $\gamma = 1$ above we find,

$$\Phi \approx \frac{4M}{b} + \frac{15\pi}{4} \frac{M^2}{b^2} - \frac{3\pi}{4} \frac{Q^2}{b^2} + \frac{128M^3}{3b^3} - \frac{16MQ^2}{b^3} , \qquad (A.41)$$

as expected for a Reissner–Nordstrom black hole [157, 158].

We can also compute the relevant deflection angle in the Kaluza-Klein case by setting $\gamma = -1/2$ (equivalently $\alpha = \sqrt{3}$). In this case we find that the deflection angle is given by,

$$\Phi \approx \frac{4M}{b} + \frac{3}{8} \frac{1}{b^2} \left(\pi M^2 \left(\sqrt{1 + \frac{2Q^2}{M^2}} + 9 \right) - 3\pi Q^2 \right) \\ + \frac{1}{b^3} \left(4MQ^2 \left(\sqrt{\frac{2Q^2}{M^2} + 1} - 7 \right) + M^3 \left(8\sqrt{\frac{2Q^2}{M^2} + 1} + \frac{104}{3} \right) \right) . \quad (A.42)$$

A.3 Null-Like Geodesics in a Kerr Background

The metric for a Kerr black hole is given by,

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{R_{s}r}{\Sigma}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{\Sigma}{\Delta}dr^{2} + \Sigma d\theta^{2} + \left(r^{2} + a^{2} + \frac{R_{s}ra^{2}}{\Sigma}\right)\sin^{2}\theta d\phi^{2} - \frac{2R_{s}ra\sin^{2}\theta}{\Sigma}dtd\phi, \qquad (A.43)$$

where we have defined,

$$R_s = 2G_N M \tag{A.44}$$

$$a = \frac{J}{M} \tag{A.45}$$

$$\Sigma = r^2 + a^2 \cos^2 \theta \tag{A.46}$$

$$\Delta = r^2 - R_s r + a^2 . \tag{A.47}$$

We will be calculating null-like geodesics in the equatorial plane for computational simplicity. Note however that unlike the previous two subsections there is no spherical symmetry and we can therefore not generalise these results for general θ . Taking (A.43) with $\theta = \pi/2$ yields,

$$ds^{2} = -\left(1 - \frac{R_{s}}{r}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{r^{2}}{\Delta}dr^{2} + \left(r^{2} + a^{2} + \frac{R_{s}a^{2}}{r}\right)d\phi^{2} - \frac{2R_{s}a}{r}dtd\phi.$$
 (A.48)

Since the metric is independent of t and ϕ we have at least two constants of the motion. These are,

$$-E = -\left(1 - \frac{R_s}{r}\right)\frac{dt}{d\tau} - \frac{R_s a}{r}\frac{d\phi}{d\tau}, \qquad (A.49)$$

$$J = \left(r^2 + a^2 + \frac{R_s a^2}{r}\right) \frac{d\phi}{d\tau} - -\frac{R_s a}{r} \frac{dt}{d\tau} .$$
 (A.50)

As before we use (A.2) to calculate the null-like geodesics in the metric given by (A.43)and in this case we find,

$$0 = -\left(1 - \frac{R_s}{r}\right)\left(\frac{dt}{d\tau}\right)^2 + \frac{r^2}{\Delta}\left(\frac{dr}{d\tau}\right)^2 + \left(r^2 + a^2 + \frac{R_s a^2}{r}\right)\left(\frac{d\phi}{d\tau}\right)^2 - \frac{2R_s a}{r}\frac{dt}{d\tau}\frac{d\phi}{d\tau}.$$
(A.51)

Substituting for the constants of the motion and solving for $d\phi/dr$ we get,

$$\frac{d\phi}{dr} = \frac{b(r-R_s) + aR_s}{a^2 + r(r-R_s)} \left((a^2 - b^2 + r^2) + \frac{R_s}{r}(a-b)^2) \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} , \qquad (A.52)$$

where we have used that J = Eb for null-like geodesics. Note that this equation has been checked for a = 0 in which case it reduces to the Schwarzschild version of this equation as expected. The point of closest approach, r_0 , is related to the impact parameter by,

$$\frac{dr}{d\tau}\Big|_{r=r_0} \Rightarrow \quad b = \frac{\sqrt{r_0^2(a^2 + r_0^2 - R_s r_0)} - aR_s}{r - R_s} \ . \tag{A.53}$$

Substituting this into (A.52) we find,

$$\frac{d\phi}{dr} = \frac{a(r-r_0)R_s + r_0(R_s - r)\sqrt{a^2 + r_0(r_0 - R_s)}}{(R_s - r_0)(a^2 + r(r - R_s))} \left[\frac{r - r_0}{r(r_0 - R_s)^2} \times (r^2(r_0 - R_s)^2 + rr_0(r_0 - R_s)^2 + R_s(-2a^2r_0 + r_0^2(-r_0 + R_s)) + 2aR_sr_0\sqrt{a^2 + r_0^2 - r_0R_s} \right]^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(A.54)

As before we can use the substitution $u = r_0/r$ and expand in powers of $1/r_0$. We can then write the deflection angle up to third order as,

$$\Phi + \pi = 2\left(\int_0^1 du \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - u^2}} + \int_0^1 du A_1(u) \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right) + \int_0^1 du A_2(u) \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right)^2 + \int_0^1 du A_3(u) \left(\frac{1}{r_0}\right)^3 + \dots\right),$$
(A.55)

where we have found,

$$\int_{0}^{1} du A_{1}(u) = R_{s} , \qquad (A.56)$$

$$\int_0^1 du A_2(u) = \frac{1}{32} R_s \left((15\pi - 16) R_s - 32a \right) , \qquad (A.57)$$

$$\int_0^1 du A_3(u) = \frac{1}{96} R_s \left(48a^2 + 24(8 - 5\pi)aR_s + (244 - 45\pi)R_s^2 \right) , \quad (A.58)$$

We can then write the angle as,

$$\Phi = \frac{2R_s}{r_0} + \frac{1}{r_0^2} \left(-aR_s + \frac{(15\pi - 16)}{32} R_s^2 \right) \\ + \frac{1}{r_0^3} \left(\frac{a^2 R_s}{2} + \frac{(8 - 5\pi)aR_s^2}{4} + \frac{(244 - 45\pi)R_s^3}{96} \right) + \dots$$
(A.59)

We now need to find the relation between r_0 and the impact parameter b in order to be able to express the equation above in terms of b. We find that up to third order,

$$r_0 \approx b - \frac{R_s}{2} + \frac{1}{b} \left(-\frac{a^2}{2} + aR_s - \frac{3R_s^2}{8} \right)$$
 (A.60)

Now substituting this into (A.59) we can express the deflection angle in terms of impact parameter b after an appropriate expansion. Doing so we find,

$$\Phi = \frac{2R_s}{b} + \frac{1}{b^2} \left(-2aR_s + \frac{15\pi}{16}R_s^2 \right) + \frac{1}{b^3} \left(2a^2R_s - \frac{5\pi}{2}aR_s^2 + \frac{16}{3}R_s^3 \right) + \dots \quad (A.61)$$

We see that the expression above agrees with known results [167].

Appendix B

Auxiliary Integrals

In this appendix we will give results for various sub-integrals which appear in chapter 3. In section 3.1.1 we find integrals such as,

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_{2}}^{(a)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} |t_{2}|^{2m} t_{2}^{2n} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= \frac{\sqrt{\pi T_{0}}}{m_{2}} \left(\frac{m_{2}^{2} T_{0}}{m_{1}^{2} m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}}\right)^{m+n+\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma\left(m+n+\frac{1}{2}\right),$$
(B.1)

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_{2}}^{(b)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} |t_{2}|^{2m} t_{4}^{2n} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= \frac{T_{0}^{m+n+1}}{m_{1}^{2m+1} m_{2}^{2n+1}} \Gamma\left(m + \frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right) \\
\times {}_{2}F_{1}\left(m + \frac{1}{2}, n + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{\tilde{k}^{4}}{m_{1}^{2} m_{2}^{2}}\right),$$
(B.2)

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_{2}}^{(c)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} |t_{2}|^{2m} t_{2} t_{4} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= -\frac{\tilde{k}^{2} \sqrt{\pi T_{0}}}{m_{2}^{3}} \left(\frac{m_{2}^{2} T_{0}}{m_{1}^{2} m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}}\right)^{m + \frac{3}{2}} \Gamma\left(m + \frac{3}{2}\right),$$
(B.3)

and similarly we find,

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_4}^{(a)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_2 \, dt_4 |t_4|^{2m} t_4^{2n} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_2 \, t_4)}{T_0} \begin{pmatrix} m_1^2 & \tilde{k}^2 \\ \tilde{k}^2 & m_2^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_2 \\ t_4 \end{pmatrix}\right]$$

APPENDIX B. AUXILIARY INTEGRALS

$$= \frac{\sqrt{\pi T_0}}{m_1} \left(\frac{m_1^2 T_0}{m_1^2 m_2^2 - \tilde{k}^4} \right)^{m+n+\frac{1}{2}} \Gamma\left(m+n+\frac{1}{2}\right) , \qquad (B.4)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_4}^{(b)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_2 \, dt_4 |t_4|^{2m} t_2^{2n} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_2 \, t_4)}{T_0} \begin{pmatrix} m_1^2 & \tilde{k}^2 \\ \tilde{k}^2 & m_2^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_2 \\ t_4 \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= \frac{T_0^{m+n+1}}{m_1^{2n+1} m_2^{2m+1}} \Gamma\left(m + \frac{1}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right) \\
\times {}_2F_1\left(m + \frac{1}{2}, n + \frac{1}{2}; \frac{1}{2}; \frac{\tilde{k}^4}{m_1^2 m_2^2}\right),$$
(B.5)

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_4}^{(c)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_2 \, dt_4 |t_2|^{2m} t_2 t_4 \exp\left[-\frac{(t_2 \, t_4)}{T_0} \begin{pmatrix} m_1^2 & \tilde{k}^2 \\ \tilde{k}^2 & m_2^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_2 \\ t_4 \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= -\frac{\tilde{k}^2 \sqrt{\pi T_0}}{m_1^3} \left(\frac{m_1^2 T_0}{m_1^2 m_2^2 - \tilde{k}^4}\right)^{m + \frac{3}{2}} \Gamma\left(m + \frac{3}{2}\right).$$
(B.6)

Note that we have assumed that n, m are even for all the expressions above, the integrals yield zero otherwise. For two absolute values we can have the integral,

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_2,t_4} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_2 \, dt_4 | t_2 t_4 | \exp\left[-\frac{(t_2 \, t_4)}{T_0} \begin{pmatrix} m_1^2 & \tilde{k}^2 \\ \tilde{k}^2 & m_2^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_2 \\ t_4 \end{pmatrix}\right] \,, \tag{B.7}$$

which appears at subsubleading order in (3.17). We can perform an integral of the form above by expanding,

$$e^{-2\frac{t_2 t_4}{T_0}\tilde{k}^2} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(2n)!} \left[\left(2\frac{t_2 t_4}{T_0} \tilde{k}^2 \right)^2 \right]^n + \text{odd terms} , \qquad (B.8)$$

where we have focused only on even terms as they are the only ones that can contribute to the integral. We therefore have,

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_2,t_4} = \int_0^\infty dt_2^2 dt_4^2 \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{1}{(2n)!} \left(4 \frac{t_2^2 t_4^2}{T_0^2} \tilde{k}^4 \right)^n e^{-m_1^2 \frac{t_2^2}{T_0}} e^{-m_2^2 \frac{t_4^2}{T_0}}$$

$$= \int_0^\infty dx_2 \, dx_4 e^{-x_2} e^{-x_4} \frac{T_0^2}{m_1^2 m_2^2} \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{x_2^n x_4^n}{(2n)!} \left(4 \frac{\tilde{k}^4}{m_1^2 m_2^2} \right)^n$$

$$= \frac{T_0^2}{m_1^2 m_2^2} \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{(n!)^2}{(2n)!} \left(4 \frac{\tilde{k}^4}{m_1^2 m_2^2} \right)^n$$

$$= \frac{T_0^2}{m_1^2 m_2^2 - \tilde{k}^4} + \frac{T_0^2 \tilde{k}^2}{(m_1^2 m_2^2 - \tilde{k}^4)^{3/2}} \arctan\left[\frac{\tilde{k}^2}{\sqrt{m_1^2 m_2^2 - \tilde{k}^4}}\right] .$$
(B.9)

We also need the following integrals which can be solved in a similar way,

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_{2},t_{4}}^{(a)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} |t_{2}t_{4}| t_{2}^{2} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= \frac{T_{0}^{3}(\tilde{k}^{4} + 4m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2})}{2m_{1}^{2} \left(m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}\right)^{2}} - \frac{3T_{0}^{3}\tilde{k}^{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}{2m_{1}^{2} \left(m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}\right)^{3/2}} \arctan\left[\frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{\sqrt{m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}}}\right],$$
(B.10)

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_{2},t_{4}}^{(b)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} |t_{2}t_{4}| t_{4}^{2} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= \frac{T_{0}^{3}(\tilde{k}^{4} + 4m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2})}{2m_{2}^{2} \left(m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}\right)^{2}} - \frac{3T_{0}^{3}\tilde{k}^{2}m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2}}{2m_{2}^{2} \left(m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}\right)^{3/2}} \arctan\left[\frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{\sqrt{m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}}}\right],$$
(B.11)

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_{2},t_{4}}^{(c)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt_{2} dt_{4} |t_{2}t_{4}| t_{2}t_{4} \exp\left[-\frac{(t_{2} t_{4})}{T_{0}} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1}^{2} & \tilde{k}^{2} \\ \tilde{k}^{2} & m_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{2} \\ t_{4} \end{pmatrix}\right] \\
= -\frac{3T_{0}^{3}\tilde{k}^{2}}{2\left(m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}\right)^{2}} - \frac{T_{0}^{3}(2\tilde{k}^{2} + m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2})}{2\left(m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}\right)^{5/2}} \arctan\left[\frac{\tilde{k}^{2}}{\sqrt{m_{1}^{2}m_{2}^{2} - \tilde{k}^{4}}}\right].$$
(B.12)

The only non-trivial sub-integral needed for the triangle integrals in section 3.1.2 is given by,

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{t_3} = \int_0^\infty dt_3 \exp\left[-\frac{m_i^2 t_3^2}{T_0}\right] |t_3| t_3^n$$

= $\frac{1}{2} m_i^{-n-2} T_0^{\frac{n}{2}+1} \Gamma\left(\frac{n}{2}+1\right)$. (B.13)

Appendix C

Exponentiation of Tree Level Amplitude on $\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times S^1$

In this appendix we will show that by calculating the leading contribution to the oneloop amplitude on $\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times S^1$ we can show the first signs of exponentiation of the tree-level amplitude in Kaluza-Klein theory as discussed in chapter 5. We will keep the spacetime dimensions general but will have to restrict to D = 5 later in the calculation. We will compute the one-loop amplitude in the ultra-relativistic limit but the results should easily extend to the case where both Kaluza-Klein masses are kept large.

The method we use is the standard one of introducing Schwinger parameters t_i corresponding to the 4 internal propagators of the box diagram as we have done in chapter 3. Starting from the expression for the one-loop amplitude in normal flat space calculated in section 6.1.2, using (5.5) and making a change of variables from t_i to T, t_2, t_3, t_4 where $T = \sum_i t_i$ we can express the one-loop amplitude in the ultra-relativistic limit as,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}(D-1,R) = 4i\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dT \prod_{i=2}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{i} \\ \times \int \frac{d^{D-1}q'}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{1}{2\pi R} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-T(q+A/2T)^{2}}, \quad (C.1)$$

where we use the notation $(q + A/2T)^2 = (q' + A'/2T)^2 + (n/R + A_s/2T)^2$ with q = (q', n/R) being the loop momentum on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$ and $A = (A', A_s)$ with

$$A' = (-2p'_{3}t_{2} - 2p'_{1}t_{2} - 2p'_{1}t_{3} + 2p'_{2}t_{4})$$

$$A_{s} = \frac{1}{R}(-2n_{3}t_{2} - 2n_{1}t_{2} - 2n_{1}t_{3} + 2n_{2}t_{4}).$$
(C.2)

The integral over the q' momenta is just a Gaussian integral and can be easily per-
formed,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}(D-1,R) = \frac{4i\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2}}{2\pi R} \frac{\pi^{\frac{D-1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dT \, T^{-\frac{D-1}{2}} \prod_{i=2}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt_{i} \\ \times \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-T(n/R + A_{s}/2T)^{2}} e^{\frac{f}{T} + t_{2}t} , \qquad (C.3)$$

where we have defined, $f = t(-t_2^2 - t_2t_3 - t_2t_4) + t_3t_4s$. Changing to new variables $\alpha_i \equiv t_i/T$,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}(D-1,R) = \frac{4i\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2}}{2\pi R} \frac{\pi^{\frac{D-1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dT \, T^{3-\frac{D-1}{2}} \prod_{i=2}^{4} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\alpha_{i} \\ \times \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-T(n/R+\tilde{A}_{s})^{2}} e^{T\tilde{f}} , \qquad (C.4)$$

with $\tilde{A}_s = (-n_3\alpha_2 - n_1\alpha_2 - n_1\alpha_3 + n_2\alpha_4)/R$ and $\tilde{f} = t(-\alpha_2^2 - \alpha_2\alpha_3 - \alpha_2\alpha_4) + \alpha_3\alpha_4s + \alpha_2t$. If we combine the *n* independent terms that multiply *T* in the exponential term in (C.4), we find after some algebra that this can be expressed as,

$$- \alpha_{2}^{2}t' - \alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}\left(t' - (n_{3} + n_{1})^{2}/R^{2} + n_{1}(n_{1} + n_{3})/R^{2}\right) - \alpha_{2}\alpha_{4}\left(t' - (n_{3} + n_{1})^{2}/R^{2} - n_{2}(n_{3} + n_{1})/R^{2}\right) - \alpha_{3}^{2}n_{1}^{2}/R^{2} - \alpha_{4}^{2}n_{2}^{2}/R^{2} - \alpha_{3}\alpha_{4}\left(n_{1}^{2}/R^{2} + n_{2}^{2}/R^{2}\right) + \alpha_{3}\alpha_{4}s' + \alpha_{4}t' - \alpha_{2}(n_{3} + n_{1})^{2}/R^{2}.$$
(C.5)

The original high energy limit $s \to \infty$ with t kept fixed, can be understood in the compactified case as the limit $s' \to \infty$ with t' fixed and the Kaluza-Klein momenta n_i/R , $i = 1 \dots 4$ fixed. Now in the $s' \to \infty$ limit, the only non-vanishing contributions in the α_3, α_4 integrals come from the regions $\alpha_3, \alpha_4 \to 0$ so as to keep the term in the exponential from diverging. These integrals may then be solved after a wick rotation in $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2}$ which yield Gaussian integrals resulting in a factor $\frac{\pi}{2T\sqrt{-E'_e}^4}$ where E'_e is the corresponding energy in Euclidean space. Combining these results we find that the amplitude then reduces to,

$$i\mathcal{A}_{2}(D-1,R) = \frac{4i\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2}}{2\pi R} \frac{\pi^{\frac{D+1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{1}{2T\sqrt{-E'_{e}}^{4}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dT T^{2-\frac{D-1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\alpha_{2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \kappa^{2} e^{-T\left(|t'|\alpha_{2}(1-\alpha_{2})+\alpha_{2}(n_{3}+n_{1})^{2}/R^{2}+n^{2}/R^{2}+2\alpha_{2}n(n_{3}+n_{1})/R^{2}\right)} \cdot (C.6)$$

We now wish to transform the amplitude to impact parameter space to check that the result is equivalent to the square of the tree-level diagram in impact parameter space, as we anticipate from the exponentiation of the eikonal phase [66,67,107]. Given that on $\mathbb{R}^{1,D-2} \times S^1$, the transverse momentum is given by $q = (q', (n_1+n_3)/R)$, with $|t'| = {q'}^2$, we find that the impact space expression for the one-loop amplitude $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2(D-1,R)$ is given by,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2(D-1,R) = \frac{1}{2s'} \int \frac{d^{D-3}q'}{(2\pi)^{D-3}} e^{iq'\cdot b'} \frac{1}{2\pi R} \sum_{n_1+n_3\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{ib_s(n_1+n_3)/R} i\mathcal{A}_2(D-1,R) , \quad (C.7)$$

which we can see by combining (5.6) with (5.5). The integration over the angular variables in the momentum integral $\int d^{D-3}q'$ can be carried out yielding a Bessel function of the first kind,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}(D-1,R) = -\frac{4\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2}}{(2s')^{2}} \frac{\pi^{\frac{D+1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{D-1}} \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{\frac{D-3}{2}}} (b')^{\frac{5-D}{2}} \\ \times \frac{1}{(2\pi R)^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dT \, T^{\frac{5-D}{2}} \int_{0}^{1} d\alpha_{2} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{imb_{s}/R} e^{-inb_{s}/R} \\ \times \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} dq' e^{-Tq'^{2}\alpha_{2}(1-\alpha_{2})} (q')^{\frac{D-3}{2}} J_{\frac{D-5}{2}}(q'b')\right) e^{-T\left(\alpha_{2}\frac{m^{2}}{R^{2}} + (1-\alpha_{2})\frac{n^{2}}{R^{2}}\right)} .$$
(C.8)

The integration over the remaining momentum magnitude, q', can be performed using the result for the integral [142],

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-\alpha x^2} x^{\nu+1} J_\nu(\beta x) dx = \frac{\beta^\nu}{(2\alpha)^{\nu+1}} e^{-\beta^2/4\alpha} , \qquad (C.9)$$

where in our case we have $\alpha = T\alpha_2(1 - \alpha_2), \nu = \frac{D-5}{2}, \beta = b'$. We then find,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}(D-1,R) = -\frac{\pi^{\frac{D+1}{2}}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3D-5}{2}}} \frac{1}{(2s')^{2}} \frac{4\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2}}{(2\pi R)^{2}} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{imb_{s}/R} e^{-inb_{s}/R} \int_{0}^{1} d\alpha_{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\hat{T} \\ \times (\hat{T})^{\frac{5-D}{2}} \frac{1}{(2\hat{T})^{\frac{D-3}{2}}} \frac{1}{(\alpha_{2}(1-\alpha_{2}))^{\frac{7-D}{2}}} e^{-b'^{2}/4\hat{T}} e^{-\frac{\hat{T}}{R^{2}} \left(\frac{m^{2}}{1-\alpha_{2}} + \frac{n^{2}}{\alpha_{2}}\right)}.$$

To perform the integration over α_2 it is convenient to make the change of variables, $u = \frac{\alpha_2}{1-\alpha_2}$, leading to,

$$I_1 = \int_0^1 d\alpha_2 \frac{e^{-\frac{\hat{T}}{R^2} \left(\frac{m^2}{1-\alpha_2} + \frac{n^2}{\alpha_2}\right)}}{(\alpha_2(1-\alpha_2))^{\frac{7-D}{2}}} = e^{-\frac{\hat{T}}{R^2}(m^2+n^2)} \int_0^\infty du \frac{(1+u)^{5-D}}{u^{\frac{7-D}{2}}} e^{-\frac{\hat{T}}{R^2} \left(m^2u + \frac{n^2}{u}\right)} .$$
(C.10)

From [142] we find the following integral identity,

$$\int_0^\infty x^{\nu-1} e^{-\beta/4x - \gamma x} \, dx = \left(\frac{\beta}{\gamma}\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2}} K_\nu(\sqrt{\beta\gamma}) \,. \tag{C.11}$$

Although the remaining integration over u that we need to perform is not quite in this form for arbitrary D it is for D = 5. So taking D = 5 we find,

$$I_1 = K_0 \left(\sqrt{\frac{2nm\hat{T}}{R^2}} \right) . \tag{C.12}$$

Putting all of the above together we find that the one-loop amplitude for D = 5 becomes,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}(D-1,R)|_{D=5} = -\frac{\pi^{3}}{(2\pi)^{5}} \frac{1}{(2s')^{2}} \frac{4\kappa^{4}(s'^{2})^{2}}{(2\pi R)^{2}} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{imb_{s}/R-inb_{s}/R} \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{d\hat{T}}{2\hat{T}} e^{-b'^{2}/4\hat{T}-\frac{\hat{T}}{R^{2}}(m^{2}+n^{2})} K_{0}\left(\sqrt{\frac{2nm\hat{T}}{R^{2}}}\right) .$$
(C.13)

An interesting integral identity involving Bessel K-functions is the so called 'duplicating' relation [142],

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{x}{2} - \frac{1}{2x}(z^{2} + \omega^{2})} K_{\nu}\left(\frac{z\omega}{x}\right) \frac{dx}{x} = 2K_{\nu}(z)K_{\nu}(\omega) .$$
(C.14)

To make use of this identity we need to perform the change of variables $\tilde{T} = 1/\hat{T}$ and then $T' = \frac{b'^2}{2}\tilde{T}$. Performing these substitutions we then have,

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}(D-1,R)|_{D=5} = -\frac{\pi^{3}}{(2\pi)^{5}} \frac{\kappa^{4} s'^{2}}{(2\pi R)^{2}} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{imb_{s}/R - inb_{s}/R} \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{dT'}{T'} e^{-\frac{T'}{2} - \frac{b'^{2}}{2T'R^{2}}(m^{2}+n^{2})} K_{0}\left(\frac{nmb'^{2}}{T'R^{2}}\right) . \quad (C.15)$$

Now using the identity given in (C.14) with $z^2 = \frac{m^2 b'^2}{R^2}$ and $\omega^2 = \frac{n^2 b'^2}{R^2}$ (and $z = +\sqrt{z^2} = \frac{|m|b'}{R}$, $\omega = +\sqrt{\omega^2} = \frac{|n|b'}{R}$), we arrive at the final form of $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_2(D-1,R)|_{D=5}$,

$$\begin{split} i\tilde{\mathcal{A}}_{2}(D-1,R)|_{D=5} &= -\frac{\pi^{3}}{(2\pi)^{5}} \frac{\kappa^{4} s'^{2}}{(2\pi R)^{2}} \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{imb_{s}/R} K_{0}\left(\frac{|m|b'}{R}\right) K_{0}\left(\frac{|n|b'}{R}\right) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{s'\kappa^{2}}{4\pi} \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{e^{imb_{s}/R}}{2\pi R} K_{0}\left(\frac{|m|b'}{R}\right)\right)^{2} \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(i \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_1(D-1,R) |_{D=5} \right)^2 , \qquad (C.16)$$

where we have used the ultra relativistic form of the tree-level scattering amplitude (5.9), for which s' is much greater than the Kaluza-Klein masses of the scattering particles. This result corroborates our intuition that the eikonal exponentiates into a phase as suggested earlier. Note that although we have taken the ultra-relativistic limit for simplicity this result should extend beyond the ultra-relativistic case.

Bibliography

- A. K. Collado, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo, and S. Thomas, *The subleading eikonal in supergravity theories*, *JHEP* 10 (2018) 038, [arXiv:1807.0458].
- [2] A. Koemans Collado and S. Thomas, Eikonal Scattering in Kaluza-Klein Gravity, JHEP 04 (2019) 171, [arXiv:1901.0586].
- [3] A. Koemans Collado, P. Di Vecchia, and R. Russo, Revisiting the second post-Minkowskian eikonal and the dynamics of binary black holes, Phys. Rev. D100 (2019), no. 6 066028, [arXiv:1904.0266].
- [4] W. Gordon, Der comptoneffekt nach der schrödingerschen theorie, Zeitschrift für Physik 40 (Jan, 1926) 117–133.
- [5] O. Klein, Quantum Theory and Five-Dimensional Theory of Relativity. (In German and English), Z. Phys. 37 (1926) 895–906. [,76(1926)].
- [6] P. A. M. Dirac, The quantum theory of the electron, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A117 (1928) 610–624.
- [7] P. A. M. Dirac, A Theory of Electrons and Protons, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond.
 A126 (1930), no. 801 360–365.
- [8] R. P. Feynman, Space-time approach to quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. 76 (1949) 769–789. [,99(1949)].
- [9] C.-N. Yang and R. L. Mills, Conservation of Isotopic Spin and Isotopic Gauge Invariance, Phys. Rev. 96 (1954) 191–195. [,150(1954)].
- [10] A. Einstein, The Foundation of the General Theory of Relativity, Annalen Phys. 49 (1916), no. 7 769–822.
- S. L. Glashow, Partial Symmetries of Weak Interactions, Nucl. Phys. 22 (1961) 579–588.
- [12] P. W. Higgs, Broken Symmetries and the Masses of Gauge Bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 13 (1964) 508–509. [,160(1964)].

- [13] G. S. Guralnik, C. R. Hagen, and T. W. B. Kibble, Global Conservation Laws and Massless Particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 13 (1964) 585–587. [,162(1964)].
- [14] S. Weinberg, A Model of Leptons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 19 (1967) 1264–1266.
- [15] A. Salam, Weak and Electromagnetic Interactions, Conf. Proc. C680519 (1968) 367–377.
- [16] J. Schechter and J. W. F. Valle, Neutrino Masses in SU(2) x U(1) Theories, Phys. Rev. D22 (1980) 2227.
- [17] Super-Kamiokande Collaboration, Y. Fukuda et al., Evidence for oscillation of atmospheric neutrinos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1562–1567, [hep-ex/9807003].
- [18] SNO Collaboration, Q. R. Ahmad et al., Measurement of the rate of ν_e + d → p + p + e⁻ interactions produced by ⁸B solar neutrinos at the Sudbury Neutrino Observatory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 (2001) 071301, [nucl-ex/0106015].
- [19] LIGO Scientific, Virgo Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016), no. 6 061102, [arXiv:1602.0383].
- [20] D. Castelvecchi and A. Witze, Einstein's gravitational waves found at last, Nature news (2016).
- [21] LIGO Scientific, Virgo Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., GW151226: Observation of Gravitational Waves from a 22-Solar-Mass Binary Black Hole Coalescence, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016), no. 24 241103, [arXiv:1606.0485].
- [22] LIGO Scientific, VIRGO Collaboration, B. P. Abbott et al., GW170104: Observation of a 50-Solar-Mass Binary Black Hole Coalescence at Redshift 0.2, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017), no. 22 221101, [arXiv:1706.0181]. [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett.121,no.12,129901(2018)].
- [23] A. Einstein, Approximative Integration of the Field Equations of Gravitation, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) 1916 (1916) 688–696.
- [24] A. Einstein, Über Gravitationswellen, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) 1918 (1918) 154–167.
- [25] M. Campanelli, C. O. Lousto, P. Marronetti, and Y. Zlochower, Accurate evolutions of orbiting black-hole binaries without excision, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 111101, [gr-qc/0511048].

- [26] F. Pretorius, Evolution of binary black hole spacetimes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 121101, [gr-qc/0507014].
- [27] J. G. Baker, J. Centrella, D.-I. Choi, M. Koppitz, and J. van Meter, Gravitational wave extraction from an inspiraling configuration of merging black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 111102, [gr-qc/0511103].
- [28] J. Lange et al., Parameter estimation method that directly compares gravitational wave observations to numerical relativity, Phys. Rev. D96 (2017), no. 10 104041, [arXiv:1705.0983].
- [29] J. Blackman, S. E. Field, M. A. Scheel, C. R. Galley, C. D. Ott, M. Boyle, L. E. Kidder, H. P. Pfeiffer, and B. Szilágyi, Numerical relativity waveform surrogate model for generically precessing binary black hole mergers, Phys. Rev. D96 (2017), no. 2 024058, [arXiv:1705.0708].
- [30] A. Buonanno and T. Damour, Effective one-body approach to general relativistic two-body dynamics, Phys. Rev. D59 (1999) 084006, [gr-qc/9811091].
- [31] A. Buonanno and T. Damour, Transition from inspiral to plunge in binary black hole coalescences, Phys. Rev. D62 (2000) 064015, [gr-qc/0001013].
- [32] T. Damour, Coalescence of two spinning black holes: an effective one-body approach, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001) 124013, [gr-qc/0103018].
- [33] A. Antonelli, A. Buonanno, J. Steinhoff, M. van de Meent, and J. Vines, Energetics of two-body Hamiltonians in post-Minkowskian gravity, arXiv:1901.0710.
- [34] SXS Collaboration, M. Favata and K. Thorne, "Coalescing binaries."
- [35] J. Droste, The field of n moving centres in einstein's theory of gravitation, Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen Proceedings Series B Physical Sciences 19 (1917) 447–455.
- [36] A. Einstein, L. Infeld, and B. Hoffmann, The Gravitational equations and the problem of motion, Annals Math. 39 (1938) 65–100.
- [37] D. Bini and T. Damour, Gravitational scattering of two black holes at the fourth post-Newtonian approximation, Phys. Rev. D96 (2017), no. 6 064021, [arXiv:1706.0687].
- [38] S. Foffa, P. Mastrolia, R. Sturani, C. Sturm, and W. J. Torres Bobadilla, Static two-body potential at fifth post-Newtonian order, arXiv:1902.1057.

- [39] B. Bertotti, On gravitational motion, Il Nuovo Cimento (1955-1965) 4 (1956), no. 4 898–906.
- [40] R. P. Kerr, The lorentz-covariant approximation method in general relativity. i, Il Nuovo Cimento (1955-1965) 13 (Aug, 1959) 469–491.
- [41] B. Bertotti and J. Plebanski, Theory of gravitational perturbations in the fast motion approximation, Annals of Physics 11 (1960), no. 2 169 – 200.
- [42] M. Portilla, Momentum and Angular Momentum of Two Gravitating Particles, J. Phys. A12 (1979) 1075–1090.
- [43] K. Westpfahl and M. Goller, Gravitational Scattering of Two Relativistic Particles in Postlinear Approximation, Lett. Nuovo Cim. 26 (1979) 573–576.
- [44] M. Portilla, Scattering of Two Gravitating Particles: Classical Approach, J. Phys. A13 (1980) 3677–3683.
- [45] L. Bel, T. Damour, N. Deruelle, J. Ibanez, and J. Martin, Poincaré-invariant gravitational field and equations of motion of two pointlike objects: The postlinear approximation of general relativity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 13 (1981) 963–1004.
- [46] T. Ledvinka, G. Schaefer, and J. Bicak, Relativistic Closed-Form Hamiltonian for Many-Body Gravitating Systems in the Post-Minkowskian Approximation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 251101, [arXiv:0807.0214].
- [47] T. Damour, Gravitational scattering, post-Minkowskian approximation and Effective One-Body theory, Phys. Rev. D94 (2016), no. 10 104015, [arXiv:1609.0035].
- [48] T. Damour, High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem, Phys. Rev. D97 (2018), no. 4 044038, [arXiv:1710.1059].
- [49] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P. H. Damgaard, G. Festuccia, L. Planté, and
 P. Vanhove, *General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 121 (2018), no. 17 171601, [arXiv:1806.0492].
- [50] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order, arXiv:1901.0442.
- [51] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M. P. Solon, and M. Zeng, Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory, arXiv:1908.0149.

- [52] G. Kälin and R. A. Porto, From Boundary Data to Bound States, arXiv:1910.0300.
- [53] A. Cristofoli, N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P. H. Damgaard, and P. Vanhove, On Post-Minkowskian Hamiltonians in General Relativity, arXiv:1906.0157.
- [54] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, A. Cristofoli, and P. H. Damgaard, Post-Minkowskian Scattering Angle in Einstein Gravity, arXiv:1910.0936.
- [55] G. Kälin and R. A. Porto, From Boundary Data to Bound States II: Scattering Angle to Dynamical Invariants (with Twist), arXiv:1911.0913.
- [56] T. Damour, Classical and quantum scattering in post-Minkowskian gravity, arXiv:1912.0213.
- [57] D. Bini, T. Damour, and A. Geralico, Scattering of tidally interacting bodies in post-Minkowskian gravity, arXiv:2001.0035.
- [58] Z. Bern, H. Ita, J. Parra-Martinez, and M. S. Ruf, Universality in the classical limit of massless gravitational scattering, arXiv:2002.0245.
- [59] M. Ademollo, A. Bellini, and M. Ciafaloni, Superstring Regge amplitudes and graviton radiation at planckian energies, Nucl. Phys. B338 (1990) 114–142.
- [60] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, Higher order gravitational deflection and soft bremsstrahlung in Planckian energy superstring collisions, Nucl. Phys. B347 (1990) 550–580.
- [61] A. Gruzinov and G. Veneziano, Gravitational Radiation from Massless Particle Collisions, Class. Quant. Grav. 33 (2016), no. 12 125012, [arXiv:1409.4555].
- [62] M. Ciafaloni, D. Colferai, F. Coradeschi, and G. Veneziano, Unified limiting form of graviton radiation at extreme energies, Phys. Rev. D93 (2016), no. 4 044052, [arXiv:1512.0028].
- [63] M. Ciafaloni, D. Colferai, and G. Veneziano, Infrared features of gravitational scattering and radiation in the eikonal approach, arXiv:1812.0813.
- [64] A. Addazi, M. Bianchi, and G. Veneziano, Soft gravitational radiation from ultra-relativistic collisions at sub- and sub-sub-leading order, JHEP 05 (2019) 050, [arXiv:1901.1098].
- [65] C. Cheung, I. Z. Rothstein, and M. P. Solon, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018), no. 25 251101, [arXiv:1808.0248].

- [66] D. N. Kabat and M. Ortiz, Eikonal quantum gravity and Planckian scattering, Nucl. Phys. B388 (1992) 570–592, [hep-th/9203082].
- [67] R. Akhoury, R. Saotome, and G. Sterman, High Energy Scattering in Perturbative Quantum Gravity at Next to Leading Power, arXiv:1308.5204.
- [68] S. Melville, S. G. Naculich, H. J. Schnitzer, and C. D. White, Wilson line approach to gravity in the high energy limit, Phys. Rev. D89 (2014), no. 2 025009, [arXiv:1306.6019].
- [69] A. Luna, S. Melville, S. G. Naculich, and C. D. White, Next-to-soft corrections to high energy scattering in QCD and gravity, JHEP 01 (2017) 052, [arXiv:1611.0217].
- [70] D. A. Kosower, B. Maybee, and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering, JHEP 02 (2019) 137, [arXiv:1811.1095].
- [71] P. Di Vecchia, A. Luna, S. G. Naculich, R. Russo, G. Veneziano, and C. D. White, A tale of two exponentiations in N = 8 supergravity, Phys. Lett. B798 (2019) 134927, [arXiv:1908.0560].
- [72] P. Di Vecchia, S. G. Naculich, R. Russo, G. Veneziano, and C. D. White, A tale of two exponentiations in N = 8 supergravity at subleading level, arXiv:1911.1171.
- [73] R. Blankenbecler and M. L. Goldberger, Behavior of scattering amplitudes at high energies, bound states, and resonances, Phys. Rev. 126 (1962) 766–786.
- [74] M. Levy and J. Sucher, Eikonal approximation in quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. 186 (1969) 1656–1670.
- [75] H. D. I. Abarbanel and C. Itzykson, *Relativistic eikonal expansion*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 23 (1969) 53.
- [76] S. J. Wallace and J. A. McNeil, *Relativistic Eikonal Expansion*, Phys. Rev. D16 (1977) 3565.
- [77] G. 't Hooft, Graviton Dominance in Ultrahigh-Energy Scattering, Phys. Lett. B198 (1987) 61–63.
- [78] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, Superstring Collisions at Planckian Energies, Phys. Lett. B197 (1987) 81.
- [79] I. J. Muzinich and M. Soldate, *High-Energy Unitarity of Gravitation and Strings*, *Phys. Rev.* D37 (1988) 359.

- [80] L. I. Schiff, Approximation Method for High-Energy Potential Scattering, Phys. Rev. 103 (1956) 443–453.
- [81] R. L. Sugar and R. Blankenbecler, Eikonal expansion, Phys. Rev. 183 (1969) 1387–1396.
- [82] S. J. Wallace, Eikonal expansion, Annals Phys. 78 (1973) 190–257.
- [83] B. Sundborg, High-energy asymptotics: the one loop string amplitude and resummation, Nucl. Phys. B306 (1988) 545–566.
- [84] H. L. Verlinde and E. P. Verlinde, Scattering at Planckian energies, Nucl. Phys. B371 (1992) 246-268, [hep-th/9110017].
- [85] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, Effective action and all order gravitational eikonal at Planckian energies, Nucl. Phys. B403 (1993) 707–724.
- [86] G. D'Appollonio, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo, and G. Veneziano, *High-energy string-brane scattering: Leading eikonal and beyond*, *JHEP* **1011** (2010) 100, [arXiv:1008.4773].
- [87] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J. F. Donoghue, B. R. Holstein, L. Planté, and P. Vanhove, *Bending of Light in Quantum Gravity*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** (2015), no. 6 061301, [arXiv:1410.7590].
- [88] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J. F. Donoghue, B. R. Holstein, L. Plante, and P. Vanhove, *Light-like Scattering in Quantum Gravity*, *JHEP* 11 (2016) 117, [arXiv:1609.0747].
- [89] D. Neill and I. Z. Rothstein, Classical Space-Times from the S Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B877 (2013) 177–189, [arXiv:1304.7263].
- [90] F. Cachazo and A. Guevara, Leading Singularities and Classical Gravitational Scattering, arXiv:1705.1026.
- [91] D. Bini and T. Damour, Gravitational spin-orbit coupling in binary systems, post-Minkowskian approximation and effective one-body theory, Phys. Rev. D96 (2017), no. 10 104038, [arXiv:1709.0059].
- [92] J. Vines, Scattering of two spinning black holes in post-Minkowskian gravity, to all orders in spin, and effective-one-body mappings, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018), no. 8 084002, [arXiv:1709.0601].
- [93] J. Vines, J. Steinhoff, and A. Buonanno, Spinning-black-hole scattering and the test-black-hole limit at second post-Minkowskian order, Phys. Rev. D99 (2019), no. 6 064054, [arXiv:1812.0095].

- [94] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov, and J. Vines, Scattering of Spinning Black Holes from Exponentiated Soft Factors, arXiv:1812.0689.
- [95] M.-Z. Chung, Y.-T. Huang, J.-W. Kim, and S. Lee, The simplest massive S-matrix: from minimal coupling to Black Holes, arXiv:1812.0875.
- [96] Y. F. Bautista and A. Guevara, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Physics: Universality, Double Copy and Soft Theorems, arXiv:1903.1241.
- [97] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov, and J. Vines, Black-hole scattering with general spin directions from minimal-coupling amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D100 (2019), no. 10 104024, [arXiv:1906.1007].
- [98] B. Maybee, D. O'Connell, and J. Vines, Observables and amplitudes for spinning particles and black holes, arXiv:1906.0926.
- [99] P. H. Damgaard, K. Haddad, and A. Helset, *Heavy Black Hole Effective Theory*, JHEP 11 (2019) 070, [arXiv:1908.1030].
- [100] N. Siemonsen and J. Vines, Test black holes, scattering amplitudes and perturbations of Kerr spacetime, arXiv:1909.0736.
- [101] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, Classical and Quantum Gravity Effects from Planckian Energy Superstring Collisions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A3 (1988) 1615–1661.
- [102] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, Can Space-Time Be Probed Below the String Size?, Phys. Lett. B216 (1989) 41.
- [103] X. O. Camanho, J. D. Edelstein, J. Maldacena, and A. Zhiboedov, Causality Constraints on Corrections to the Graviton Three-Point Coupling, JHEP 02 (2016) 020, [arXiv:1407.5597].
- [104] G. D'Appollonio, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo, and G. Veneziano, Regge behavior saves String Theory from causality violations, JHEP 05 (2015) 144, [arXiv:1502.0125].
- [105] S. B. Giddings, Locality in quantum gravity and string theory, Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 106006, [hep-th/0604072].
- [106] G. D'Appollonio, P. Vecchia, R. Russo, and G. Veneziano, Microscopic unitary description of tidal excitations in high-energy string-brane collisions, JHEP 1311 (2013) 126, [arXiv:1310.1254].

- [107] S. B. Giddings, M. Schmidt-Sommerfeld, and J. R. Andersen, *High energy scattering in gravity and supergravity*, *Phys. Rev.* D82 (2010) 104022, [arXiv:1005.5408].
- [108] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni, and G. Veneziano, Planckian scattering beyond the semiclassical approximation, Phys. Lett. B289 (1992) 87–91.
- [109] R. Emparan, Exact gravitational shock waves and Planckian scattering on branes, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001) 024025, [hep-th/0104009].
- [110] J. H. Horne and G. T. Horowitz, *Rotating dilaton black holes*, *Phys. Rev.* D46 (1992) 1340–1346, [hep-th/9203083].
- [111] Z. Bern and Y.-t. Huang, Basics of Generalized Unitarity, J. Phys. A 44 (2011) 454003, [arXiv:1103.1869].
- [112] M. Accettulli Huber, A. Brandhuber, S. De Angelis, and G. Travaglini, Complete Form Factors in Yang-Mills from Unitarity and Spinor Helicity in Six Dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020), no. 2 026004, [arXiv:1910.0477].
- [113] C. W. Misner, K. S. Thorne, and J. A. Wheeler, *Gravitation*. Princeton University Press, 2017.
- [114] H. W. Hamber, Quantum gravitation: The Feynman path integral approach. Springer Science & Business Media, 2008.
- [115] J. F. Donoghue, M. M. Ivanov, and A. Shkerin, EPFL Lectures on General Relativity as a Quantum Field Theory, arXiv:1702.0031.
- [116] J. F. Donoghue, General relativity as an effective field theory: The leading quantum corrections, Phys. Rev. D50 (1994) 3874–3888, [gr-qc/9405057].
- [117] B. S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 1. The Canonical Theory, Phys. Rev. 160 (1967) 1113–1148.
- [118] B. S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 2. The Manifestly Covariant Theory, Phys. Rev. 162 (1967) 1195–1239.
- [119] B. S. DeWitt, Quantum Theory of Gravity. 3. Applications of the Covariant Theory, Phys. Rev. 162 (1967) 1239–1256.
- [120] M. Duff, R. R. Khuri, and J. Lu, String solitons, Phys. Rept. 259 (1995) 213-326, [hep-th/9412184].
- [121] M. R. Garousi and R. C. Myers, World-volume interactions on D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B542 (1999) 73–88, [hep-th/9809100].

- [122] M. R. Garousi, T-duality of the Riemann curvature corrections to supergravity, Phys. Lett. B718 (2013) 1481–1488, [arXiv:1208.4459].
- [123] H. R. Bakhtiarizadeh and M. R. Garousi, Sphere-level Ramond-Ramond couplings in Ramond-Neveu-Schwarz formalism, Nucl. Phys. B884 (2014) 408-437, [arXiv:1312.4703].
- [124] J. M. Aguirregabiria, L. Bel, J. Martin, A. Molina, and E. Ruiz, Comparing metrics at large: Harmonic versus quoharmonic coordinates, Gen. Rel. Grav. 33 (2001) 1809–1838, [gr-qc/0104019].
- [125] G. 't Hooft and M. J. G. Veltman, One loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation, Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Phys. Theor. A20 (1974) 69–94.
- [126] S. Deser and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, One Loop Divergences of Quantized Einstein-Maxwell Fields, Phys. Rev. D10 (1974) 401.
- [127] S. Deser, H.-S. Tsao, and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, One Loop Divergences of the Einstein Yang-Mills System, Phys. Rev. D10 (1974) 3337.
- [128] S. Deser and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, Nonrenormalizability of the Quantized Dirac-Einstein System, Phys. Rev. D10 (1974) 411.
- [129] M. H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti, The Ultraviolet Behavior of Einstein Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B266 (1986) 709–736.
- [130] A. E. M. van de Ven, Two loop quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B378 (1992) 309–366.
- [131] J. F. Donoghue, Introduction to the effective field theory description of gravity, in Advanced School on Effective Theories Almunecar, Spain, June 25-July 1, 1995, 1995. gr-qc/9512024.
- [132] M. Green, M. Green, J. Schwarz, and E. Witten, Superstring Theory: Volume 1, Introduction. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, 1988.
- [133] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string, . Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (1998) 402 p.
- [134] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 2: Superstring theory and beyond, . Cambridge, UK: Univ. Pr. (1998) 531 p.
- [135] D. Tong, String Theory, arXiv:0908.0333.

- [136] T. Damour, P. Jaranowski, and G. Schaefer, Dynamical invariants for general relativistic two-body systems at the third post-Newtonian approximation, Phys. Rev. D62 (2000) 044024, [gr-qc/9912092].
- [137] M. Levi, Effective Field Theories of Post-Newtonian Gravity: A comprehensive review, arXiv:1807.0169.
- [138] H. Cheng and T. T. Wu, High-energy elastic scattering in quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 22 (1969) 666.
- [139] S. B. Giddings and R. A. Porto, The Gravitational S-matrix, Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 025002, [arXiv:0908.0004].
- [140] S. B. Giddings, The gravitational S-matrix: Erice lectures, Subnucl. Ser. 48 (2013) 93-147, [arXiv:1105.2036].
- [141] M. Ciafaloni and D. Colferai, Rescattering corrections and self-consistent metric in Planckian scattering, JHEP 1410 (2014) 85, [arXiv:1406.6540].
- [142] I. Gradshteyn, A. Jeffrey, and I. Ryzhik, Table of Integrals, Series, and Products. Academic Press, 1996.
- [143] L. Landau and E. Lifshitz, Quantum Mechanics: Non-Relativistic Theory. Teoreticheskaiafizika. Elsevier Science, 2013.
- [144] N. M. Temme, Special functions: An introduction to the classical functions of mathematical physics. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [145] R. K. Ellis and G. Zanderighi, Scalar one-loop integrals for QCD, JHEP 02 (2008) 002, [arXiv:0712.1851].
- [146] K. Wolf, Integral Transforms in Science and Engineering. Mathematical Concepts and Methods in Science and Engineering. Springer US, 2013.
- [147] I. R. Klebanov and L. Thorlacius, The Size of p-branes, Phys.Lett. B371 (1996) 51-56, [hep-th/9510200].
- [148] M. R. Garousi and R. C. Myers, Superstring Scattering from D-Branes, Nucl. Phys. B475 (1996) 193-224, [hep-th/9603194].
- [149] A. Hashimoto and I. R. Klebanov, Scattering of strings from D-branes, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 55B (1997) 118-133, [hep-th/9611214].
- [150] N. E. J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J. F. Donoghue, and B. R. Holstein, Quantum corrections to the Schwarzschild and Kerr metrics, Phys. Rev. D68 (2003) 084005, [hep-th/0211071]. [Erratum: Phys. Rev.D71,069904(2005)].

- [151] R. Emparan, T. Harmark, V. Niarchos, and N. A. Obers, Essentials of Blackfold Dynamics, JHEP 03 (2010) 063, [arXiv:0910.1601].
- [152] M. J. Duff, Quantum tree graphs and the Schwarzschild solution, Phys. Rev. D7 (1973) 2317–2326.
- [153] M. Bertolini et al., Is a classical description of stable non-BPS D-branes possible?, Nucl. Phys. B590 (2000) 471–503, [hep-th/0007097].
- [154] T. Kaluza, Zum Unitätsproblem der Physik, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) 1921 (1921) 966–972, [arXiv:1803.0861].
- [155] J. M. Overduin and P. S. Wesson, Kaluza-Klein gravity, Phys. Rept. 283 (1997) 303–380, [gr-qc/9805018].
- [156] M. Blau, Lecture Notes on General Relativity, .
- [157] E. F. Eiroa, G. E. Romero, and D. F. Torres, *Reissner-Nordstrom black hole lensing*, *Phys. Rev.* D66 (2002) 024010, [gr-qc/0203049].
- [158] M. Sereno, Weak field limit of Reissner-Nordstrom black hole lensing, Phys. Rev. D69 (2004) 023002, [gr-qc/0310063].
- [159] A. Bellini, M. Ademollo, and M. Ciafaloni, Superstring one loop and gravitino contributions to Planckian scattering, Nucl. Phys. B393 (1993) 79-94, [hep-th/9207113].
- [160] D. C. Dunbar and P. S. Norridge, Calculation of graviton scattering amplitudes using string based methods, Nucl. Phys. B433 (1995) 181-208, [hep-th/9408014].
- [161] M. Ademollo, A. Bellini, and M. Ciafaloni, Superstring Regge amplitudes and emission vertices, Phys.Lett. B223 (1989) 318–324.
- [162] R. C. Brower, J. Polchinski, M. J. Strassler, and C.-I. Tan, The Pomeron and gauge/string duality, JHEP 0712 (2007) 005, [hep-th/0603115].
- [163] M. Khalil, N. Sennett, J. Steinhoff, J. Vines, and A. Buonanno, Hairy binary black holes in Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton theory and their effective-one-body description, Phys. Rev. D98 (2018), no. 10 104010, [arXiv:1809.0310].
- [164] D. Bini, T. Damour, and A. Geralico, Novel approach to binary dynamics: application to the fifth post-Newtonian level, arXiv:1909.0237.

- [165] A. Brandhuber and G. Travaglini, On higher-derivative effects on the gravitational potential and particle bending, JHEP 01 (2020) 010,
 [arXiv:1905.0565].
- [166] M. Accettulli Huber, A. Brandhuber, S. De Angelis, and G. Travaglini, A note on the absence of R^2 corrections to Newton's potential, arXiv:1911.1010.
- [167] S. V. Iyer and E. C. Hansen, Strong and Weak Deflection of Light in the Equatorial Plane of a Kerr Black Hole, arXiv:0908.0085.